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PART I.    FINANCIAL INFORMATION

ITEM 1.     FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

DYNEX CAPITAL, INC.
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

($s in thousands except per share data)
  June 30, 2021 December 31, 2020
ASSETS (unaudited)
Cash $ 349,381  $ 295,602 
Cash collateral posted to counterparties 85,342  14,758 
Mortgage-backed securities (including pledged of $2,473,257 and $2,467,859, respectively), at fair value 2,995,502  2,596,255 
Mortgage loans held for investment, at fair value 5,146  6,264 
Receivable for sales pending settlement 1,057  150,432 
Derivative assets 16,854  11,342 
Accrued interest receivable 14,056  14,388 
Other assets, net 6,957  6,394 

Total assets $ 3,474,295  $ 3,095,435 

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY  
Liabilities:    
Repurchase agreements $ 2,321,043  $ 2,437,163 
Payable for purchases pending settlement 350,854  5 
Derivative liabilities 27,325  1,634 
Cash collateral posted by counterparties 9,326  7,681 
Accrued interest payable 405  1,410 
Accrued dividends payable 6,086  5,814 
Other liabilities 3,627  8,275 

 Total liabilities 2,718,666  2,461,982 

Shareholders’ equity:    
Preferred stock, par value $0.01 per share; 50,000,000 shares authorized; 4,460,000 and 7,248,330 shares issued and
outstanding, respectively ($111,500 and $181,208 aggregate liquidation preference, respectively) 107,843  174,564 
Common stock, par value $0.01 per share, 90,000,000 shares authorized;
34,344,566 and 23,697,970 shares issued and outstanding, respectively 343  237 
Additional paid-in capital 1,065,670  869,495 
Accumulated other comprehensive income 29,375  80,261 
Accumulated deficit (447,602) (491,104)

 Total shareholders’ equity 755,629  633,453 
 Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity $ 3,474,295  $ 3,095,435 

See notes to the consolidated financial statements.
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DYNEX CAPITAL, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS)

(unaudited)
 ($s in thousands except per share data)

Three Months Ended Six Months Ended
June 30, June 30,

  2021 2020 2021 2020
Interest income $ 13,393  $ 19,853  $ 27,285  $ 59,676 
Interest expense (1,275) (4,850) (2,908) (26,952)

  Net interest income 12,118  15,003  24,377  32,724 

Realized gain on sale of investments, net 2,008  193,099  6,705  277,882 
Unrealized gain (loss) on investments, net 1,084  332  104  (40)
(Loss) gain on derivative instruments, net (52,940) (8,563) 54,861  (204,130)
Other operating expense, net (323) (222) (703) (645)
General and administrative expenses:

Compensation and benefits (3,233) (2,736) (6,329) (4,898)
Other general and administrative (2,473) (2,075) (4,845) (4,534)

Net (loss) income (43,759) 194,838  74,170  96,359 
Preferred stock dividends (1,923) (3,253) (4,482) (7,094)
Preferred stock redemption charge —  —  (2,987) (3,914)
Net (loss) income to common shareholders $ (45,682) $ 191,585  $ 66,701  $ 85,351 

Other comprehensive income:
Unrealized gain (loss) on available-for-sale investments, net $ 16,278  $ 28,052  $ (44,181) $ 185,807 
Reclassification adjustment for realized gain on available-for-sale
investments, net (2,008) (193,099) (6,705) (277,882)

Total other comprehensive income (loss) 14,270  (165,047) (50,886) (92,075)
Comprehensive (loss) income to common shareholders $ (31,412) $ 26,538  $ 15,815  $ (6,724)

Weighted average common shares-basic 31,973,587  23,056,812  29,395,463  23,009,948 
Weighted average common shares-diluted 31,973,587  23,056,812  29,560,522  23,009,948 
Net (loss) income per common share-basic $ (1.43) $ 8.31  $ 2.27  $ 3.71 
Net (loss) income per common share-diluted $ (1.43) $ 8.31  $ 2.26  $ 3.71 
Dividends declared per common share $ 0.39  $ 0.43  $ 0.78  $ 0.88 

See notes to the consolidated financial statements.
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DYNEX CAPITAL, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY

(unaudited)
($s in thousands)

Preferred Stock Common Stock Additional
Paid-in
Capital AOCI

Accumulated
Deficit

Total Shareholders’
EquityShares Amount Shares Amount

Balance as of
December 31, 2019 6,788,330  $ 162,807  22,945,993  $ 229  $ 858,347  $ 173,806  $ (612,201) $ 582,988 
Cumulative effect of adopting
accounting standard ASU 2019-
05 —  —  —  —  —  —  (548) (548)
Adjusted Balance, January 1,
2020 6,788,330  $ 162,807  22,945,993  $ 229  $ 858,347  $ 173,806  $ (612,749) $ 582,440 
Stock issuance 4,460,000  107,988  —  —  —  —  —  107,988 
Redemption of preferred stock (4,000,000) (96,086) —  —  —  —  (3,914) (100,000)
Restricted stock granted, net of
amortization —  —  67,511  1  306  —  —  307 
Stock repurchase —  —  (18,782) —  (206) —  —  (206)
Adjustments for tax withholding
on share-based compensation —  —  (12,744) —  (235) —  —  (235)
Stock issuance costs —  —  —  —  (9) —  —  (9)
Net loss —  —  —  —  —  —  (98,479) (98,479)
Dividends on preferred stock —  —  —  —  —  —  (3,841) (3,841)
Dividends on common stock —  —  —  —  —  —  (10,330) (10,330)
Other comprehensive income —  —  —  —  —  72,972  —  72,972 
Balance as of
March 31, 2020 7,248,330  $ 174,709  22,981,978  $ 230  $ 858,203  $ 246,778  $ (729,313) $ 550,607 
Restricted stock granted, net of
amortization —  —  172,782  1  422  —  —  423 
Stock repurchase —  —  (14,143) —  (166) —  —  (166)
Stock issuance costs —  —  —  —  (8) —  —  (8)
Net income —  —  —  —  —  —  194,838  194,838 
Dividends on preferred stock —  —  —  —  —  —  (3,253) (3,253)
Dividends on common stock —  —  —  —  —  —  (9,925) (9,925)
Other comprehensive loss —  —  —  —  —  (165,047) —  (165,047)
Balance as of
June 30, 2020 7,248,330  $ 174,709  23,140,617  $ 231  $ 858,451  $ 81,731  $ (547,653) $ 567,469 
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Preferred Stock Common Stock Additional
Paid-in
Capital AOCI

Accumulated
Deficit

Total Shareholders’
EquityShares Amount Shares Amount

Balance as of
December 31, 2020 7,248,330  $ 174,564  23,697,970  $ 237  $ 869,495  $ 80,261  $ (491,104) $ 633,453 
Stock issuance —  —  7,187,500  72  128,078  —  —  128,150 
Redemption of preferred stock (2,788,330) (66,721) —  —  —  —  (2,987) (69,708)
Restricted stock granted, net of
amortization —  —  16,722  —  451  —  —  451 
Adjustments for tax withholding
on share-based compensation —  —  (22,623) —  (428) —  —  (428)
Stock issuance costs —  —  —  —  (270) —  —  (270)
Net income —  —  —  —  —  —  117,929  117,929 
Dividends on preferred stock —  —  —  —  —  —  (2,559) (2,559)
Dividends on common stock —  —  —  —  —  —  (10,586) (10,586)
Other comprehensive loss —  —  —  —  —  (65,156) —  (65,156)
Balance as of
March 31, 2021 4,460,000  $ 107,843  30,879,569  $ 309  $ 997,326  $ 15,105  $ (389,307) $ 731,276 
Stock issuance —  —  3,463,708  34  68,268  —  —  68,302 
Restricted stock granted, net of
amortization —  —  23,305  —  444  —  —  444 
Other share-based compensation —  —  —  —  100  —  —  100 
Adjustments for tax withholding
on share-based compensation —  —  (22,016) —  (425) —  —  (425)
Stock issuance costs —  —  —  —  (43) —  —  (43)
Net loss —  —  —  —  —  —  (43,759) (43,759)
Dividends on preferred stock —  —  —  —  —  —  (1,923) (1,923)
Dividends on common stock —  —  —  —  —  —  (12,613) (12,613)
Other comprehensive income —  —  —  —  —  14,270  —  14,270 
Balance as of
June 30, 2021 4,460,000  $ 107,843  34,344,566  $ 343  $ 1,065,670  $ 29,375  $ (447,602) $ 755,629 

See notes to the consolidated financial statements.
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DYNEX CAPITAL, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(unaudited)
($s in thousands)

Six Months Ended
  June 30,
  2021 2020
Operating activities:    
Net income $ 74,170  $ 96,359 
Adjustments to reconcile net income to cash provided by operating activities:  

Realized gain on sale of investments, net (6,705) (277,882)
Unrealized (gain) loss on investments, net (104) 40 
(Gain) loss on derivative instruments, net (54,861) 204,130 
Amortization of investment premiums, net 60,123  63,789 
Other amortization and depreciation, net 1,106  959 
Share-based compensation expense 995  731 
Decrease in accrued interest receivable 332  9,589 
Decrease in accrued interest payable (1,005) (14,678)
Change in other assets and liabilities, net (6,197) 432 

Net cash provided by operating activities 67,854  83,469 
Investing activities:    

Purchase of investments (1,052,490) (2,818,863)
Principal payments received on investments 223,706  249,766 
Proceeds from sales of investments 474,657  4,226,321 
Principal payments received on mortgage loans held for investment 1,171  1,519 
Net receipts (payments) on derivatives, including terminations 425,889  (210,712)
Increase in cash collateral posted by counterparties 1,645  394 

Net cash provided by investing activities 74,578  1,448,425 
Financing activities:    

Borrowings under repurchase agreements 7,955,673  23,686,649 
Repayments of repurchase agreement borrowings (8,071,793) (25,124,006)
Principal payments on non-recourse collateralized financing (118) (1,467)
Proceeds from issuance of preferred stock —  107,988 
Proceeds from issuance of common stock 196,452  — 
Cash paid for redemption of preferred stock (69,708) (100,000)
Cash paid for stock issuance costs (313) — 
Cash paid for common stock repurchases —  (372)
Payments related to tax withholding for share-based compensation (853) (235)
Dividends paid (27,409) (27,894)

Net cash used in financing activities (18,069) (1,459,337)

Net increase in cash including cash posted to counterparties 124,363  72,557 
Cash including cash posted to counterparties at beginning of period 310,360  134,230 
Cash including cash posted to counterparties at end of period $ 434,723  $ 206,787 
Supplemental Disclosure of Cash Activity:    

Cash paid for interest $ 3,906  $ 41,613 

See notes to the consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DYNEX CAPITAL, INC.

(amounts in thousands except share data)

NOTE 1 – ORGANIZATION AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Organization

Dynex Capital, Inc. (“Company”) was incorporated in the Commonwealth of Virginia on December 18, 1987 and commenced operations in February 1988. The Company is
an internally managed mortgage real estate investment trust, or mortgage REIT, which primarily earns income from investing on a leveraged basis in debt securities, the majority of
which are specified pools of Agency mortgage-backed securities (“MBS”) consisting of commercial MBS (“CMBS”), residential MBS (“RMBS”), and CMBS interest-only (“IO”)
securities and non-Agency MBS, which consist mainly of CMBS IO. Agency MBS have a guaranty of principal payment by a U.S. government-sponsored entity (“GSE”) such as
Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac, which are in conservatorship and are currently supported by a senior preferred stock purchase agreement from the U.S. Treasury. Non-Agency MBS are
issued by non-governmental enterprises and do not have a guaranty of principal payment. The Company also invests in other types of mortgage-related securities, such as to-be-
announced securities (“TBAs” or “TBA securities”).

Basis of Presentation

The accompanying unaudited consolidated financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries (together, “Dynex” or, as appropriate, the “Company”) have been
prepared in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles (“GAAP”) for interim financial information and with the instructions to the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q
and Article 10, Rule 10-01 of Regulation S-X promulgated by the Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”). Accordingly, they do not include all of the information and notes
required by GAAP for complete financial statements. In the opinion of management, all significant adjustments, consisting of normal recurring accruals, considered necessary for a fair
presentation of the consolidated financial statements have been included. Operating results for the three and six months ended June 30, 2021 are not necessarily indicative of the results
that may be expected for any other interim periods or for the entire year ending December 31, 2021. The unaudited consolidated financial statements included herein should be read in
conjunction with the audited financial statements and notes thereto included in the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2020 (the “2020 Form
10-K”) filed with the SEC.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and
liabilities and the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements as well as the reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the reported
period. Actual results could differ from those estimates. The most significant estimates used by management include, but are not limited to, amortization of premiums and discounts
and fair value measurements of its investments. These items are discussed further below within this note to the consolidated financial statements.

The Company believes the estimates and assumptions underlying the consolidated financial statements included herein are reasonable and supportable based on the
information available as of June 30, 2021; however, the uncertainty over the impact that the COVID-19 pandemic may continue to have on the global economy and on the Company’s
business makes any estimates and assumptions inherently less certain than they would be absent the current and potential impacts of COVID-19. The COVID-19 pandemic and
resulting emergency measures have led (and may continue to lead) to significant disruptions in the global capital markets and supply chains as well as the economy of the U.S. and
other countries impacted by COVID-19. In particular, as part of the Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic Security (“CARES”) Act passed by the U.S. Congress, which includes
assistance to homeowners and renters, both Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac implemented mortgage forbearance policies that allowed borrowers to delay their mortgage payments for up
to 18 months and placed a moratorium on foreclosures on single-family homes until June 30, 2021. In addition, to provide assistance to families still struggling to pay their rent and to
help multifamily property owners maintain their properties, Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac are extending the multifamily COVID-19 forbearance protection to qualifying borrowers and
extending the moratorium on tenant evictions through the end of September 2021. The impact of high levels of forbearance on the loans underlying the Company’s MBS could range
from immaterial to significant depending upon not only actual losses incurred on underlying loans but also future public policy choices and actions by the GSEs, their regulator the
Federal Housing Finance Agency (“FHFA”), the U.S. Federal Reserve (“Federal Reserve”), and federal and state governments. The nature and timing of any

6



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DYNEX CAPITAL, INC.

(amounts in thousands except share data)

such future public policy choices and actions are unpredictable, including the potential impact on MBS prices and prepayment speeds. Though these supportive actions have helped
cushion the economic damage from the disruption of the pandemic to date, the Company can give no assurance as to how, in the long term, these and other actions by the U.S.
government and GSEs will affect the efficiency, liquidity and stability of the financial and mortgage markets.

Reclassifications

    Certain items on the Company’s consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2020 have been reclassified to conform to the current period’s presentation. In the Company’s 2020
Form 10-K, restricted cash on the consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2020 consisted of the cash collateral posted by the Company to its counterparties to cover initial and
variation margin related to its financing and derivative instruments, net of any cash collateral received by the Company from its counterparties. Restricted cash has been renamed “cash
collateral posted to counterparties” within total assets, and cash collateral of $7,681 posted by counterparties as of December 31, 2020 has been reclassified to “cash collateral posted
by counterparties” within total liabilities.

Consolidation and Variable Interest Entities
 

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and the accounts of its majority owned subsidiaries and variable interest entities (“VIE”) for which
it is the primary beneficiary. All intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation.

The Company consolidates a VIE if the Company is determined to be the VIE’s primary beneficiary, which is defined as the party that has both: (i) the power to control the
activities that most significantly impact the VIE’s financial performance and (ii) the right to receive benefits or absorb losses that could potentially be significant to the VIE. The
Company reconsiders its evaluation of whether to consolidate a VIE on an ongoing basis, based on changes in the facts and circumstances pertaining to the VIE. Though the Company
invests in Agency and non-Agency MBS which are generally considered to be interests in VIEs, the Company does not consolidate these entities because it does not meet the criteria to
be deemed a primary beneficiary.

The Company consolidates a securitization trust, which has residential mortgage loans included in “mortgage loans held for investment” on its consolidated balance sheet. The
Company owns the subordinate class in the trust and has been deemed the primary beneficiary.

Income Taxes

The Company has elected to be taxed as a real estate investment trust (“REIT”) under the Internal Revenue Code of 1986 and the corresponding provisions of state law. To
qualify as a REIT, the Company must meet certain tests including investing in primarily real estate-related assets and the required distribution of at least 90% of its annual REIT
taxable income to shareholders after consideration of its net operating loss (“NOL”) carryforward and not including taxable income retained in its taxable subsidiaries. As a REIT, the
Company generally will not be subject to federal income tax on the amount of its income or capital gains that is distributed as dividends to shareholders.

The Company assesses its tax positions for all open tax years and determines whether the Company has any material unrecognized liabilities and records these liabilities, if
any, to the extent they are deemed more likely than not to have been incurred.

Net Income (Loss) Per Common Share

The Company calculates basic net income per common share by dividing net income to common shareholders for the period by weighted-average shares of common stock
outstanding for that period. Please see Note 2 for the calculation of the Company’s basic and diluted net income (loss) per common share for the periods indicated.

The Company currently has unvested restricted stock, service-based restricted stock units (“RSUs”) and performance-based stock units (“PSUs”) issued and outstanding.
Upon vesting (or settlement, in the case of units),
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DYNEX CAPITAL, INC.

(amounts in thousands except share data)

restrictions on transfer expire on each share of restricted stock, RSU, and PSU, and each such share represents one unrestricted share of common stock. Restricted stock awards are
considered participating securities and therefore are included in the computation of basic net income per common share using the two-class method because holders of unvested shares
of restricted stock are eligible to receive non-forfeitable dividends. Holders of unvested RSUs and PSUs accrue forfeitable dividend equivalent rights over the vesting period, receiving
dividend payments only upon the settlement date if the requisite service-based and performance-based conditions have been achieved. As such, unvested RSUs and PSUs are excluded
from the computation of basic net income per common share, but are included in the computation of diluted net income per common share unless the effect is to reduce a net loss or
increase the net income per common share (also known as “anti-dilutive”).

Because the Company’s 6.900% Series C Fixed-to-Floating Rate Cumulative Redeemable Preferred Stock (the “Series C Preferred Stock”) is redeemable at the Company’s
option for cash only and convertible into shares of common stock only upon a change of control of the Company (and subject to other circumstances) as described in Article IIIC of the
Company’s Restated Articles of Incorporation, the effect of those shares and their related dividends were excluded from the calculation of diluted net income per common share for the
periods presented.

Cash

Cash includes unrestricted demand deposits at highly rated financial institutions. The Company’s cash balances fluctuate throughout the year and may exceed Federal Deposit
Insurance Corporation (“FDIC”) insured limits from time to time. Although the Company bears risk to amounts in excess of those insured by the FDIC, it does not anticipate any losses
as a result due to the financial position and creditworthiness of the depository institutions in which those deposits are held.

Cash Collateral Posted To/By Counterparties

Cash collateral posted to/by counterparties represents amounts pledged/received to cover initial and variation margin related to the Company’s financing and derivative
instruments.

The following table provides a reconciliation of “cash” and “cash posted to counterparties” reported on the Company's consolidated balance sheet as of the period indicated
that sum to the total of the same such amounts shown on the Company’s consolidated statement of cash flows for the six months ended June 30, 2021:

June 30, 2021
Cash $ 349,381 
Cash collateral posted to counterparties 85,342 
Total cash including cash posted to counterparties shown on consolidated statement of cash flows $ 434,723 

Mortgage-Backed Securities
 

The Company’s MBS are recorded at fair value on the Company’s consolidated balance sheet. MBS purchased prior to January 1, 2021 are designated as available-for-sale
(“AFS”) with changes in fair value reported in other comprehensive income (“OCI”) as an unrealized gain (loss) until the security is sold or matures. Effective January 1, 2021, the
Company elected the fair value option for all MBS purchased on or after that date with changes in fair value reported in net income as “unrealized gain (loss) on investments, net” until
the security is sold or matures. Upon the sale of an MBS, any unrealized gain or loss is reclassified to “realized gain (loss) on sale of investments, net” using the specific identification
method. Management elected the fair value option so that GAAP net income will reflect the changes in fair value for its future purchases of MBS in a manner consistent with the
presentation and timing of the changes in fair value of its derivative instruments. Electing the fair value option is increasing as an industry trend for mortgage REITs who have not
elected cash flow hedge accounting. “Unrealized gain (loss) on investments, net”, which was titled “fair value adjustments, net” in prior reporting periods, also includes changes in fair
value for mortgage loans held for investment for which the Company elected the fair value option effective January 1, 2020.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DYNEX CAPITAL, INC.

(amounts in thousands except share data)

Interest Income, Premium Amortization, and Discount Accretion. Interest income on MBS is accrued based on the outstanding principal balance (or notional balance in the
case of interest-only, or “IO” securities) and their contractual terms.  Premiums or discounts associated with the purchase of Agency MBS as well as any non-Agency MBS are
amortized or accreted into interest income over the projected life of such securities using the effective yield method, and adjustments to premium amortization and discount accretion
are made for actual cash payments. The Company’s projections of future cash payments are based on input and analysis received from external sources and internal models and include
assumptions about the amount and timing of loan prepayment rates, fluctuations in interest rates, credit losses, and other factors. On at least a quarterly basis, the Company reviews and
makes any necessary adjustments to its cash flow projections and updates the yield recognized on these assets.

The Company does not currently hold any non-Agency MBS that were purchased at a discount with credit ratings of less than ‘AA’ or not rated by any of the nationally
recognized credit rating agencies at the time of purchase.

Determination of MBS Fair Value. The Company estimates the fair value of the majority of its MBS based upon prices obtained from pricing services and broker quotes. The
remainder of the Company’s MBS are valued by discounting the estimated future cash flows derived from cash flow models that utilize information such as the security’s coupon rate,
estimated prepayment speeds, expected weighted average life, collateral composition, estimated future interest rates, expected losses, and credit enhancements as well as certain other
relevant information. Please refer to Note 6 for further discussion of MBS fair value measurements.

Allowance for Credit Losses. On at least a quarterly basis, the Company evaluates any MBS designated as AFS with a fair value less than its amortized cost for credit losses. If
the difference between the present value of cash flows expected to be collected on the MBS is less than its amortized cost, the difference is recorded as an allowance for credit loss
through net income up to and not exceeding the amount that the amortized cost exceeds current fair value. Subsequent changes in credit loss estimates are recognized in earnings in the
period in which they occur. Because the majority of the Company’s investments are higher credit quality and most are guaranteed by a GSE, the Company is not likely to have an
allowance for credit losses related to its MBS recorded on its consolidated balance sheet.

Repurchase Agreements
 

The Company’s repurchase agreements, which are used to finance its purchases of MBS, are accounted for as secured borrowings under which the Company pledges its
securities as collateral to secure a loan, which is equal in value to a specified percentage of the estimated fair value of the pledged collateral. The Company retains beneficial ownership
of the pledged collateral, which is disclosed parenthetically on the Company’s consolidated balance sheets. At the maturity of a repurchase agreement, the Company is required to
repay the loan and concurrently receives back its pledged collateral from the lender or, with the consent of the lender, the Company may renew the agreement at the then prevailing
financing rate. A repurchase agreement lender may require the Company to pledge additional collateral in the event of a decline in the fair value of the collateral pledged. Repurchase
agreement financing is recourse to the Company and the assets pledged. Most of the Company’s repurchase agreements are based on the September 1996 version of the Bond Market
Association Master Repurchase Agreement, which generally provides that the lender, as buyer, is responsible for obtaining collateral valuations from a generally recognized source
agreed to by both the Company and the lender, or, in an instance when such source is not available, the value determination is made by the lender.
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Derivative Instruments

As of June 30, 2021, the Company’s derivative instruments include U.S. Treasury futures, options on U.S. Treasury futures, options on interest rate swaps (“swaptions”) and
TBA securities, which are forward contracts for the purchase or sale of Agency RMBS on a non-specified pool basis. Derivative instruments are reported at their fair value on the
Company’s consolidated balance sheet as derivative assets if in a gain position or as derivative liabilities if in a loss position, at the end of the period reported. All periodic interest
benefits/costs and changes in fair value of derivative instruments, including gains and losses realized upon termination, maturity, or settlement are recorded in “gain (loss) on derivative
instruments, net” on the Company’s consolidated statement of comprehensive income (loss). Cash receipts and payments related to derivative instruments are classified in the investing
activities section of the consolidated statements of cash flows in accordance with the underlying nature or purpose of the derivative transactions.

The Company currently has short positions in U.S. Treasury futures contracts, which are valued based on exchange pricing with daily margin settlements. The Company
realizes gains or losses on these contracts upon expiration at an amount equal to the difference between the current fair value of the underlying asset and the contractual price of
the futures contract. Daily margin exchanges for the Company’s U.S. Treasury futures are not considered legal settlement of the instrument.

The Company’s options on U.S. Treasury futures provide the Company the right, but not an obligation, to buy U.S. Treasury futures at a predetermined notional amount and
stated term in the future. Options on U.S. Treasury futures are valued based on exchange pricing without daily exchanges of margin amounts. The Company records the premium paid
for the option contract as a derivative asset on its consolidated balance sheet and adjusts the balance for changes in fair value through “gain (loss) on derivative instruments” until the
option is exercised or the contract expires. The Company may also purchase swaptions and defer the premium payment until the effective date. The premium payable and underlying
swaption are accounted for as a single unit of account.

A TBA security is a forward contract (“TBA contract”) for the purchase (“long position”) or sale (“short position”) of a non-specified Agency MBS at a predetermined price
with certain principal and interest terms and certain types of collateral, but the particular Agency securities to be delivered are not identified until shortly before the settlement
date. The Company accounts for long and short positions in TBAs as derivative instruments because the Company cannot assert that it is probable at inception and throughout the term
of an individual TBA transaction that its settlement will result in physical delivery of the underlying Agency RMBS or that the individual TBA transaction will not settle in the shortest
time period possible.

Please refer to Note 5 for additional information regarding the Company’s derivative instruments as well as Note 6 for information on how the fair value of these instruments
is calculated.

Share-Based Compensation

The Company’s 2020 Stock and Incentive Plan (the “2020 Plan”) reserves for issuance up to 2,300,000 common shares for eligible employees, non-employee directors,
consultants, and advisors to the Company to be granted in the form of stock options, restricted stock, restricted stock units, stock appreciation rights, performance units, and
performance cash awards (collectively, “awards”). Awards previously granted under the Company’s 2018 Stock and Incentive Plan (“2018 Plan”) or any other prior equity plan will
remain outstanding and valid in accordance with their terms, but no new awards will be granted under the 2018 Plan or any other prior equity plan.

Currently, the Company has shares of restricted stock and RSUs issued and outstanding which are treated as equity awards and recorded at their fair value using the closing
stock price on the grant date. The compensation cost is recognized over the vesting period with a corresponding credit to shareholders’ equity using the straight-line method.
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The Company also has PSUs issued and outstanding which contain either Company performance-based or market performance-based conditions. PSUs subject to Company
performance-based conditions are initially recognized as equity at their fair value which is measured using the closing stock price on the grant date multiplied by the number of units
expected to vest based on an assessment of the probability of achievement of the Company performance-based conditions as of the grant date. The grant date fair value is amortized as
compensation cost on a straight-line basis over the vesting period with adjustments to compensation cost if necessary based on any change in probability of achievement which is re-
assessed as of each reporting date and on at least a quarterly basis.

PSUs subject to market performance-based conditions are recognized as equity at their grant date fair value determined through a Monte-Carlo simulation of the Company’s
common stock total shareholder return (“TSR”) relative to the common stock TSR of the group of peer companies specified in the award agreement. Awards subject to market
performance-based conditions are not assessed for probability of achievement and are not remeasured subsequent to issuance. The grant date fair value is recognized as compensation
cost on a straight-line basis over the vesting period even if the market performance-based conditions are not achieved.

The Company does not estimate forfeitures for any of its share-based compensation awards, but adjusts for actual forfeitures in the periods in which they occur. Because
RSUs and PSUs have forfeitable dividend equivalent rights that are paid only upon settlement, any accrued dividend equivalent rights on forfeited units are reversed with a
corresponding credit to compensation cost.

Contingencies

In the normal course of business, there may be various lawsuits, claims, and other contingencies pending against the Company. On a quarterly basis, the Company evaluates
whether to establish provisions for estimated losses from those matters. The Company recognizes a liability for a contingent loss when: (a) the underlying causal event has occurred
prior to the balance sheet date; (b) it is probable that a loss has been incurred; and (c) there is a reasonable basis for estimating that loss. A liability is not recognized for a contingent
loss when it is only possible or remotely possible that a loss has been incurred, however, possible contingent losses shall be disclosed. If the contingent loss (or an additional loss in
excess of any accrual) is at least a reasonable possibility and material, then the Company discloses a reasonable estimate of the possible loss or range of loss, if such reasonable
estimate can be made. If the Company cannot make a reasonable estimate of the possible material loss, or range of loss, then that fact is disclosed.

As previously disclosed in the 2020 Form 10-K, the receiver (the “Receiver”) for one of the plaintiffs awarded damages in a judgment (the "DCI Judgment") against Dynex
Commercial, Inc. ("DCI"), a subsidiary of a former affiliate of the Company, filed a separate claim in May 2018 against the Company seeking payment of the damages awarded in
connection with the DCI Judgment, alleging that the Company breached a litigation cost sharing agreement, as amended (the "Agreement"), that was initially entered into by the
Company and DCI in December 2000. On November 21, 2019, the U.S. District Court, Northern District of Texas ("Northern District Court") granted in part and denied in part
summary judgment on the Receiver’s claim and the Company’s claim for offset and recoupment. The Northern District Court found that the Company breached the Agreement and
therefore must pay damages to the Receiver. The Northern District Court simultaneously granted the Company’s motion for summary judgment finding that DCI also breached the
Agreement and that the Company can recover amounts due to it from DCI under the Agreement. The Receiver subsequently filed a claim for damages with the Northern District Court
of approximately $12,600, while the Company filed claims for damages ranging from $13,300 to $30,600, including interest. The Receiver filed objections (the "Objections") with the
Northern District Court to, among other things, the Company recovering amounts incurred prior to entry into the Agreement and amounts incurred under the Agreement after January
31, 2006, including interest, which is the date that DCI’s corporate existence ceased under Virginia law. The Company has disputed the Receiver’s Objections, arguing, among other
things, that the Receiver's Objections are not supportable under Virginia law and has further refined its damages claim to range from $15,961 based on simple interest to $22,752 based
on a combination of simple and compound interest, which the Company believes is supportable under Virginia law. There were no material developments in this matter during the three
months ended June 30, 2021. After consultation with litigation counsel, the Company believes, based upon information currently available and its evaluation of Virginia law, that the
likelihood of loss is not probable, and given the range of potential claims for damages by the Company to offset the Receiver's claims, the amount of possible loss cannot be reasonably
estimated, and therefore, no contingent liability has been recorded.
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Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements

The Company evaluates Accounting Standards Updates (“ASU”) issued by the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) on at least a quarterly basis to evaluate
applicability and significance of any impact on its financial condition and results of operations. There were no accounting pronouncements issued during the six months ended June 30,
2021 that are expected to have a material impact on the Company’s financial condition or results of operations.

NOTE 2 – NET INCOME (LOSS) PER COMMON SHARE

Please refer to Note 1 for information regarding the Company’s treatment of its preferred stock and stock awards in the calculation of its basic and diluted net income (loss)
per common share. The following table presents the computations of basic and diluted net income (loss) per common share for the periods indicated:

Three Months Ended Six Months Ended
June 30, June 30,

2021 2020 2021 2020
Weighted average number of common shares outstanding - basic 31,973,587 23,056,812 29,395,463 23,009,948
Incremental common shares-unvested RSUs — — 55,019 —
Incremental common shares-unvested PSUs — — 110,040 —
Weighted average number of common shares outstanding - diluted 31,973,587 23,056,812 29,560,522 23,009,948

Net (loss) income to common shareholders $ (45,682) $ 191,585  $ 66,701  $ 85,351 
Net (loss) income per common share - basic $ (1.43) $ 8.31  $ 2.27  $ 3.71 

Net (loss) income per common share - diluted $ (1.43) $ 8.31  $ 2.26  $ 3.71 

    
For the three months ended June 30, 2021, 165,059 of potentially dilutive unvested RSUs and PSUs were excluded from the computation of diluted net income (loss) per

common share because to do so would have been anti-dilutive for the period. The Company did not have any potential dilutive instruments outstanding during the three or six months
ended June 30, 2020.
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NOTE 3 – MORTGAGE-BACKED SECURITIES
 

The following tables present the Company’s MBS by investment type as of the dates indicated:

June 30, 2021
Agency RMBS Agency CMBS CMBS IO Non-Agency Other Total

MBS designated as AFS:
Par value $ 1,347,318  $ 196,093  $ —  $ 1,196  $ 1,544,607 
Unamortized premium (discount) 44,344  2,725  326,572  (306) 373,335 
Amortized cost 1,391,662  198,818  326,572  890  1,917,942 
Gross unrealized gain 10,022  12,300  16,155  152  38,629 
Gross unrealized loss (8,420) (8) (786) (41) (9,255)
Fair value 1,393,264  211,110  341,941  1,001  1,947,316 

MBS measured at fair value through net income:
Par value $ 1,013,404  $ —  $ —  $ —  $ 1,013,404 
Unamortized premium 34,219  —  526  —  34,745 
Amortized cost 1,047,623  —  526  —  1,048,149 
Gross unrealized gain 451  —  16  —  467 
Gross unrealized loss (430) —  —  —  (430)
Fair value 1,047,644  —  542  —  1,048,186 

Total as of June 30, 2021 $ 2,440,908  $ 211,110  $ 342,483  $ 1,001  $ 2,995,502 

(1) The notional balance for Agency CMBS IO and non-Agency CMBS IO was $10,868,346 and $8,984,509 respectively, as of June 30, 2021.

(1)
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December 31, 2020
Agency RMBS Agency CMBS CMBS IO Non-Agency Other Total

MBS designated as AFS:
Par value $ 1,839,046  $ 235,801  $ —  $ 1,499  $ 2,076,346 
Unamortized premium (discount) 57,997  3,152  378,940  (440) 439,649 
Amortized cost 1,897,043  238,953  378,940  1,059  2,515,995 
Gross unrealized gain 49,348  19,597  12,081  267  81,293 
Gross unrealized loss —  —  (982) (51) (1,033)
Fair value 1,946,391  258,550  390,039  1,275  2,596,255 

MBS measured at fair value through net income:
Par value $ —  $ —  $ —  $ —  $ — 
Unamortized premium —  —  —  —  — 
Amortized cost —  —  —  —  — 
Gross unrealized gain —  —  —  —  — 
Gross unrealized loss —  —  —  —  — 
Fair value —  —  —  —  — 

Total as of December 31, 2020 $ 1,946,391  $ 258,550  $ 390,039  $ 1,275  $ 2,596,255 

(1) The notional balance for the Agency CMBS IO and non-Agency CMBS IO was $11,277,908 and $9,319,520, respectively, as of December 31, 2020.

The majority of the Company’s MBS are pledged as collateral for the Company’s repurchase agreements, which are disclosed in Note 4. Actual maturities of MBS are
affected by the contractual lives of the underlying mortgage collateral, periodic payments of principal, prepayments of principal, and the payment priority structure of the security;
therefore, actual maturities are generally shorter than the securities' stated contractual maturities.

The following table presents information regarding the "realized gain on sale of investments, net" on the Company’s consolidated statements of comprehensive income (loss)
for the periods indicated:

(1)
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Three Months Ended
June 30,

2021 2020
Proceeds Received Realized Gain (Loss) Proceeds Received Realized Gain

Agency RMBS-designated as AFS $ 212,580  $ (759) $ 371,106  $ 11,729 
Agency CMBS-designated as AFS 37,873  2,767  2,020,228  181,370 

$ 250,453  $ 2,008  $ 2,391,334  $ 193,099 

Six Months Ended
June 30,

2021 2020
Proceeds Received Realized Gain Proceeds Received Realized Gain

Agency RMBS-designated as AFS $ 287,409  $ 3,938  $ 2,188,456  $ 75,823 
Agency CMBS-designated as AFS 37,873  2,767  2,193,912  202,059 

$ 325,282  $ 6,705  $ 4,382,368  $ 277,882 

The following table presents certain information for the AFS securities in an unrealized loss position as of the dates indicated:
  June 30, 2021 December 31, 2020

Fair Value
Gross Unrealized

Losses # of Securities Fair Value
Gross Unrealized

Losses # of Securities
Continuous unrealized loss position for less than 12
months:        

Agency MBS $ 1,961,980  $ (9,212) 34 $ 19,266  $ (399) 19
Non-Agency MBS 4,996  (203) 5 33,417  (408) 23

Continuous unrealized loss position for 12 months
or longer:

Agency MBS $ 324  $ (121) 5 $ 749  $ (133) 2
Non-Agency MBS 3,333  (149) 7 2,156  (93) 5

The unrealized losses on the Company’s MBS were the result of declines in market prices and were not credit related; therefore the Company’s allowance for credit losses on
its MBS designated as AFS was $0 as of June 30, 2021. The principal related to Agency MBS is guaranteed by the GSEs Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac. Although the unrealized losses
are not credit related, the Company assesses its ability and intent to hold any MBS with an unrealized loss until the recovery in its value. This assessment is based on the amount of the
unrealized loss and significance of the related investment as well as the Company’s leverage and liquidity position. In addition, for its non-Agency MBS, the Company reviews the
credit ratings, the credit characteristics of the mortgage loans collateralizing these securities, and the estimated future cash flows including projected collateral losses.
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NOTE 4 – REPURCHASE AGREEMENTS

The Company’s repurchase agreements outstanding as of June 30, 2021 and December 31, 2020 are summarized in the following tables:
  June 30, 2021 December 31, 2020

Collateral Type Balance
Weighted

Average Rate
Fair Value of

Collateral Pledged Balance
Weighted

Average Rate
Fair Value of

Collateral Pledged

Agency RMBS $ 1,835,941  0.12 % $ 1,928,660  $ 1,874,176  0.23 % $ 1,973,608 
Agency CMBS 195,168  0.12 % 209,156  237,649  0.23 % 255,741 
Agency CMBS IO 190,110  0.72 % 215,503  209,393  0.90 % 243,042 
Non-Agency CMBS IO 99,824  1.00 % 119,938  115,945  1.28 % 136,684 

Total repurchase agreements $ 2,321,043  0.21 % $ 2,473,257  $ 2,437,163  0.34 % $ 2,609,075 

(1) The amounts for fair value of collateral pledged in the table above as of December 31, 2020 include securities with an amortized cost of $141,215 which were sold but not settled as of that date, and
for which the proceeds of $150,432 are recorded within “receivable for sales pending settlement” on the consolidated balance sheet. These securities collateralized $140,612 of the Company’s repurchase
agreement borrowings outstanding as of December 31, 2020.

The Company had $350,854 and $5 payable to counterparties as of June  30, 2021 and December  31, 2020, respectively, for purchases pending settlement as of those
respective dates. The Company had repurchase agreement borrowings outstanding with 23 different counterparties as of June 30, 2021, and its equity at risk did not exceed 5% with
any counterparty as of that date.

The following table provides information on the remaining term to maturity and original term to maturity for the Company’s repurchase agreements as of the dates indicated:
June 30, 2021 December 31, 2020

Remaining Term to Maturity Balance
Weighted

Average Rate
WAVG Original

Term to Maturity Balance
Weighted

Average Rate
WAVG Original

Term to Maturity
Less than 30 days $ 620,942  0.31 % 51  $ 1,416,608  0.37 % 53 
30 to 90 days 1,115,526  0.19 % 97  845,394  0.31 % 35 
91 to 180 days 530,975  0.12 % 165  175,161  0.22 % 13 
180 days to 1 year 53,600  0.15 % 364  —  — % — 

Total $ 2,321,043  0.21 % 106  $ 2,437,163  0.34 % 44 

During the three months ended June 30, 2021, the Company renewed its agreement with Wells Fargo Bank, N.A. for its committed repurchase facility, which has an aggregate
maximum borrowing capacity of $250,000 and a maturity date of June 8, 2023. As of June 30, 2021, the Company had $105,363 outstanding with this facility at a weighted average
borrowing rate of 0.97%. The remaining repurchase facilities available to the Company are uncommitted with no guarantee of renewal or terms of renewal.

The Company’s counterparties, as set forth in the master repurchase agreement with the counterparty, require the Company to comply with various customary operating and
financial covenants, including, but not limited to, minimum net worth and earnings, maximum declines in net worth in a given period, and maximum leverage requirements as well as
maintaining the Company’s REIT status. In addition, some of the agreements contain cross default features, whereby default under an agreement with one lender simultaneously causes
default under agreements with other lenders. To the extent that the Company fails to comply with the covenants contained in these financing agreements or is otherwise found to be in
default under the terms of such agreements, the counterparty has the right to accelerate amounts due under the master repurchase

(1)
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agreement. The Company believes it was in full compliance with all covenants in master repurchase agreements under which there were amounts outstanding as of June 30, 2021.

The Company's repurchase agreements are subject to underlying agreements with master netting or similar arrangements, which provide for the right of offset in the event of
default or in the event of bankruptcy of either party to the transactions. The Company reports its repurchase agreements to these arrangements on a gross basis. The following table
presents information regarding the Company's repurchase agreements as if the Company had presented them on a net basis as of June 30, 2021 and December 31, 2020:

Gross Amount of
Recognized
Liabilities

Gross Amount
Offset in the

Balance Sheet

Net Amount of
Liabilities

Presented in the
Balance Sheet

Gross Amount Not Offset in the Balance
Sheet 

Net Amount

Financial
Instruments Posted

as Collateral
Cash Posted as

Collateral
June 30, 2021

Repurchase agreements $ 2,321,043  $ —  $ 2,321,043  $ (2,321,043) $ —  $ — 

December 31, 2020
Repurchase agreements $ 2,437,163  $ —  $ 2,437,163  $ (2,437,163) $ —  $ — 

(1) Amounts disclosed for collateral received by or posted to the same counterparty include cash and the fair value of MBS up to and not exceeding the net amount of the repurchase
agreement liability presented in the balance sheet. The fair value of the total collateral received by or posted to the same counterparty may exceed the amounts presented.

Please see Note 5 for information related to the Company’s derivatives, which are also subject to underlying agreements with master netting or similar arrangements.

NOTE 5 – DERIVATIVES

Types and Uses of Derivatives Instruments

Interest Rate Derivatives. The Company is currently using short positions in U.S. Treasury futures, put options on U.S. Treasury futures, and interest rate swaptions to
mitigate the impact of changing interest rates on its book value.

TBA Transactions. The Company purchases TBA securities as a means of investing in non-specified fixed-rate Agency RMBS and may also periodically sell TBA securities
as a means of economically hedging its book value exposure to Agency RMBS. The Company holds long and short positions in TBA securities by executing a series of transactions,
commonly referred to as “dollar roll” transactions, which effectively delay the settlement of a forward purchase (or sale) of a non-specified Agency RMBS by entering into an
offsetting TBA position, net settling the paired-off positions in cash, and simultaneously entering into an identical TBA long (or short) position with a later settlement date. TBA
securities purchased (or sold) for a forward settlement date are generally priced at a discount relative to TBA securities settling in the current month. This discount, often referred to as
“drop income” represents the economic equivalent of net interest income (interest income less implied financing cost) on the underlying Agency security from trade date to settlement
date. The Company accounts for all TBAs (whether net long or net short positions, or collectively “TBA dollar roll positions”) as derivative instruments because it cannot assert that it
is probable at inception and throughout the term of an individual TBA transaction that its settlement will result in physical delivery of the underlying Agency RMBS, or that the
individual TBA transaction will not settle in the shortest period possible.

(1)
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Gain (Loss) on Derivative Instruments, Net

The table below provides detail of the Company’s “gain (loss) on derivative instruments, net” by type of derivative for the periods indicated:
Three Months Ended Six Months Ended

June 30, June 30,
Type of Derivative Instrument 2021 2020 2021 2020
Interest rate swaps $ —  $ (1,672) $ —  $ (183,852)
Interest rate swaptions (19,062) —  38,701  (573)
U.S. Treasury futures (63,184) (10,928) 32,464  (19,377)
Options on U.S. Treasury futures (11,531) (6,680) 1,086  (17,406)
TBA securities - long positions 40,837  8,688  (17,390) 27,119 
TBA securities - short positions —  2,029  —  (10,041)

(Loss) gain on derivative instruments, net $ (52,940) $ (8,563) $ 54,861  $ (204,130)

The table below summarizes information about the carrying value by type of derivative instrument on the Company’s consolidated balance sheets as of the dates indicated:
Type of Derivative Instrument Balance Sheet Location Purpose June 30, 2021 December 31, 2020
Options on U.S. Treasury futures Derivative assets Economic hedging $ 3,227  $ 1,094 
Interest rate swaptions Derivative assets Economic hedging 8,781  1,360 
TBA securities Derivative assets Investing 4,846  8,888 

Total derivatives assets $ 16,854  $ 11,342 

Interest rate swaptions Derivative liabilities Economic hedging $ —  $ (107)
U.S. Treasury futures Derivative liabilities Economic hedging (27,140) (1,527)
TBA securities Derivative liabilities Investing (185) — 

Total derivatives liabilities $ (27,325) $ (1,634)
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The following table provides details on the Company’s interest rate swaptions held as of the dates indicated:
Option Underlying Payer Swap

Average Months to Expiration Cost Fair Value Notional Amount
Average Fixed Pay

Rate
Average Term in

Years
As of June 30, 2021:

6 months or less $ 6,688  $ 8,781  $ 500,000  1.16% 10

As of December 31, 2020:
6 months or less $ 6,312  $ 1,161  $ 750,000  1.02% 10
6-9 months 6,688  92  500,000  1.16% 10

$ 13,000  $ 1,253  $ 1,250,000  1.07%

The following table provides details on the Company’s U.S. Treasury futures and options on U.S. Treasury futures held as of the dates indicated:
June 30, 2021 December 31, 2020:

Notional Amount
Long (Short) Fair Value

Average Term to
Expiration

Notional Amount
Long (Short) Fair Value

Average Term to
Expiration

Options on U.S. Treasury futures $ 850,000  $ 3,227  3 months $ 500,000  $ 1,094  1 month
U.S. Treasury futures (3,250,000) (27,140) 3 months (825,000) (1,527) 2 months

The following table summarizes information about the Company's long positions in TBA securities as of the dates indicated:
June 30, 2021 December 31, 2020

Implied market value $ 2,355,426  $ 1,572,949 
Implied cost basis 2,350,765  1,564,061 
Net carrying value $ 4,661  $ 8,888 

(1) Implied market value represents the estimated fair value of the underlying Agency MBS as of the date indicated.
(2) Implied cost basis represents the forward price to be paid for the underlying Agency MBS as of the date indicated.
(3) Net carrying value is the amount included on the consolidated balance sheets within “derivative assets (liabilities)” and represents the difference between the implied market value

and the implied cost basis of the TBA security as of the date indicated.

(1)

(2)

(3)
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Volume of Activity

The tables below summarize changes in the Company’s derivative instruments for the six months ended June 30, 2021:

Type of Derivative Instrument
Beginning

Notional Amount-Long (Short) Additions

Settlements,
Terminations,
or Pair-Offs

Ending
Notional Amount-Long

(Short)
Interest rate swaptions 1,250,000  —  (750,000) 500,000 
U.S. Treasury futures (825,000) (7,510,000) 5,085,000  (3,250,000)
Options on U.S. Treasury futures 500,000  2,350,000  (2,000,000) 850,000 
TBA securities 1,515,000  13,600,000  (12,805,000) 2,310,000 

Offsetting

The Company's derivatives are subject to underlying agreements with master netting or similar arrangements, which provide for the right of offset in the event of default or in
the event of bankruptcy of either party to the transactions. The Company reports its derivative assets and liabilities subject to these arrangements on a gross basis. Please see Note 4 for
information related to the Company’s repurchase agreements, which are also subject to underlying agreements with master netting or similar arrangements. The following tables
present information regarding those derivative assets and liabilities subject to such arrangements as if the Company had presented them on a net basis as of June  30, 2021 and
December 31, 2020:

Offsetting of Assets

Gross Amount of
Recognized Assets

Gross Amount
Offset in the

Balance Sheet

Net Amount of
Assets Presented in
the Balance Sheet

Gross Amount Not Offset in the Balance
Sheet 

Net Amount

Financial
Instruments
Received as
Collateral

Cash Received as
Collateral

June 30, 2021
Options on U.S. Treasury futures $ 3,227  $ —  $ 3,227  $ —  $ —  $ 3,227 
Interest rate swaptions 8,781  —  8,781  —  (8,781) — 
TBA securities 4,846  —  4,846  —  —  4,846 

Derivative assets $ 16,854  $ —  $ 16,854  $ —  $ (8,781) $ 8,073 
December 31, 2020
Interest rate swaptions $ 1,360  $ —  $ 1,360  $ (107) $ —  $ 1,253 
Options on U.S. Treasury futures 1,094  —  1,094  —  —  1,094 
TBA securities 8,888  —  8,888  —  (7,681) 1,207 

Derivative assets $ 11,342  $ —  $ 11,342  $ (107) $ (7,681) $ 3,554 

(1)
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(amounts in thousands except share data)

Offsetting of Liabilities

Gross Amount of
Recognized
Liabilities

Gross Amount
Offset in the

Balance Sheet

Net Amount of
Liabilities

Presented in the
Balance Sheet

Gross Amount Not Offset in the Balance
Sheet 

Net Amount

Financial
Instruments Posted

as Collateral
Cash Posted as

Collateral
June 30, 2021
U.S. Treasury futures-short positions $ (27,140) —  $ (27,140) $ —  $ 27,140  $ — 
TBA securities (185) —  (185) —  185  — 

Derivative liabilities $ (27,325) $ —  $ (27,325) $ —  $ 27,325  $ — 

December 31, 2020
U.S. Treasury futures-short positions $ (1,527) —  $ (1,527) $ —  $ 1,527  $ — 
Interest rate swaptions (107) —  (107) 107  —  — 

Derivative liabilities $ (1,634) $ —  $ (1,634) $ 107  $ 1,527  $ — 

(1) Amounts disclosed for collateral received by or posted to the same counterparty include cash and the fair value of MBS up to and not exceeding the net amount of the derivative
asset or liability presented in the balance sheet. The fair value of the total collateral received by or posted to the same counterparty may exceed the amounts presented. Please
refer to the consolidated balance sheets for the total fair value of financial instruments pledged as collateral for derivatives and repurchase agreements, which is shown
parenthetically, and the total cash pledged or received as collateral which is disclosed in “cash collateral posted to/by counterparties.”

NOTE 6 – FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
 

Fair value is defined as the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement
date. Fair value is based on the assumptions market participants would use when pricing an asset or liability and also considers all aspects of nonperformance risk, including the
entity’s own credit standing, when measuring fair value of a liability. ASC Topic 820 established a valuation hierarchy of three levels as follows:

• Level 1 – Inputs are unadjusted, quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities as of the measurement date.
• Level 2 – Inputs include quoted prices in active markets for similar assets or liabilities; quoted prices in inactive markets for identical or similar assets or liabilities; or

inputs either directly observable or indirectly observable through correlation with market data at the measurement date and for the duration of the instrument’s anticipated
life.

• Level 3 – Unobservable inputs are supported by little or no market activity. The unobservable inputs represent management’s best estimate of how market participants
would price the asset or liability at the measurement date. Consideration is given to the risk inherent in the valuation technique and the risk inherent in the inputs to the
model.

The following table presents the Company’s financial instruments that are measured at fair value on the Company’s consolidated balance sheet by their valuation hierarchy
levels as of the dates indicated:

(1)
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(amounts in thousands except share data)

June 30, 2021 December 31, 2020
  Fair Value Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Fair Value Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
Assets carried at fair value:        
MBS $ 2,995,502  $ —  $ 2,994,500  $ 1,002  $ 2,596,255  $ —  $ 2,594,980  $ 1,275 
Mortgage loans held for
investment 5,146  —  —  5,146  6,264  —  —  6,264 
Derivative assets:
Options on U.S. Treasury
futures 3,227  3,227  —  —  1,094  1,094  —  — 
Interest rate swaptions 8,781  —  8,781  —  1,360  —  1,360  — 
TBA securities-long position 4,846  —  4,846  —  8,888  —  8,888  — 

Total assets carried at fair
value $ 3,017,502  $ 3,227  $ 3,008,127  $ 6,148  $ 2,613,861  $ 1,094  $ 2,605,228  $ 7,539 

Liabilities carried at fair
value:
U.S. Treasury futures $ 27,140  $ 27,140  $ —  $ —  $ 1,527  $ 1,527  $ —  $ — 
Interest rate swaptions —  —  —  —  107  —  107  — 
TBA securities-long position 185  —  185  —  —  —  —  — 

Total liabilities carried at fair
value $ 27,325  $ 27,140  $ 185  $ —  $ 1,634  $ 1,527  $ 107  $ — 

The fair value measurements for the Company's MBS are considered Level 2 when there are substantially similar securities actively trading or for which there has been recent
trading activity in their respective markets and are based on prices received from pricing services and quotes from brokers. In valuing a security, the pricing service uses either a market
approach, which uses observable prices and other relevant information that is generated by market transactions of identical or similar securities, or an income approach, which uses
valuation techniques to convert future amounts to a single, discounted present value amount. The Company reviews the prices it receives from its pricing sources as well as the
assumptions and inputs utilized by its pricing sources for reasonableness. Examples of these observable inputs and assumptions include market interest rates, credit spreads, and
projected prepayment speeds, among other things.

The Company owns other non-Agency MBS and mortgage loans that are considered Level 3 assets because there has been no recent trading activity of similar instruments
upon which their fair value can be measured. The fair value for these Level 3 assets is measured by discounting the estimated future cash flows derived from cash flow models using
significant inputs which are determined by the Company when market observable inputs are not available. Information utilized in those pricing models include the security’s credit
rating, coupon rate, estimated prepayment speeds, expected weighted average life, collateral composition, estimated future interest rates, expected credit losses, and credit enhancement
as well as certain other relevant information. The Company used a constant prepayment rate assumption of 10%, default rate of 2%, loss severity of 20%, and a discount rate of 7.0%
in measuring the fair value of its Level 3 assets as of June  30, 2021. Significant changes in any of these inputs in isolation may result in a significantly different fair value
measurement. Level 3 assets are generally most sensitive to the default rate and severity assumptions.

The activity of the Company’s Level 3 assets during the three and six months ended June 30, 2021 is presented in the following table:
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(amounts in thousands except share data)

Three Months Ended Six Months Ended
June 30, 2021 June 30, 2021

Other Non-Agency MBS Mortgage Loans Other Non-Agency MBS Mortgage Loans
Balance as of beginning of period $ 1,143  $ 5,749  $ 1,275  $ 6,264 
Change in fair value (47) 88  (104) 68 
Principal payments (158) (683) (303) (1,171)
Accretion (amortization) 64  (8) 134  (15)
Balance as of end of period $ 1,002  $ 5,146  $ 1,002  $ 5,146 

(1) Change in fair value for mortgage loans is recorded within “unrealized gain (loss) on investments, net” in net income and change in fair value for other non-Agency MBS is
recorded as unrealized gain (loss) in “other comprehensive income”.

U.S. Treasury futures and options on U.S. Treasury futures are valued based on closing exchange prices on these contracts and are classified accordingly as Level 1
measurements. The fair value of interest rate swaptions is based on the fair value of the underlying interest rate swap and time remaining until its expiration and is carried on the
balance sheet net of any deferred premium to be paid upon expiration. The fair value of TBA securities is estimated using methods similar those used to fair value the Company’s Level
2 MBS.

NOTE 7 – SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY AND SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION

Preferred Stock. The Company’s Board of Directors has designated 6,600,000 shares of the Company’s preferred stock for issuance as Series C Preferred Stock, of which the
Company has 4,460,000 of such shares outstanding as of June 30, 2021. The Series C Preferred Stock has no stated maturity, is not subject to any sinking fund or mandatory
redemption, and will remain outstanding indefinitely unless redeemed or otherwise repurchased or converted into common stock pursuant to the terms of the Series C Preferred Stock.
Except under certain limited circumstances described in Article IIIC of the Company’s Restated Articles of Incorporation, the Company may not redeem the Series C Preferred Stock
prior to April 15, 2025. On or after that date, the Series C Preferred Stock may be redeemed at any time and from time to time at the Company's option at a cash redemption price of
$25.00 per share plus any accumulated and unpaid dividends. Because the Series C Preferred Stock is redeemable only at the option of the issuer, it is classified as equity on the
Company’s consolidated balance sheet.

The Series C Preferred stock pays a cumulative cash dividend equivalent to 6.900% of the $25.00 liquidation preference per share each year until April 15, 2025 upon which
date and thereafter, the Company will pay cumulative cash dividends at a percentage of the $25.00 liquidation value per share equal to an annual floating rate of three-month LIBOR
plus a spread of 5.461%. The Company paid its regular quarterly dividend of $0.43125 per share of Series C Preferred Stock on July 15, 2021 to shareholders of record as of July 1,
2021.

During the first quarter of 2021, the Company redeemed the remaining 2,788,330 outstanding shares of its 7.625% Series B Cumulative Redeemable Preferred Stock at an
aggregate redemption price of approximately $25.15 per share, which included accumulated and unpaid dividends declared as of the redemption date February 15, 2021. The excess of
the $25.00 liquidation price per share over the carrying value of the preferred stock redeemed resulted in a charge of $(2,987) to net income to common shareholders for the six months
ended June 30, 2021.

Common Stock. During the three months ended June 30, 2021, the Company issued 3,463,708 shares of its common stock through its ATM offering (“ATM”) program at an
aggregate value of $68,303, net of $865 in broker commissions and fees.

(1)
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(amounts in thousands except share data)

Share-Based Compensation. Total share-based compensation expense recognized by the Company for the three and six months ended June 30, 2021 was $544 and $995,
respectively, compared to $424 and $731, respectively, for the three and six months ended June 30, 2020. The following tables present a rollforward of share-based awards for the
periods indicated:

Six Months Ended
  June 30, 2021

Restricted Stock RSUs PSUs

Shares

Weighted Average
Grant Date Fair Value

Per Share Shares

Weighted Average
Grant Date Fair Value

Per Share Shares

Weighted Average
Grant Date Fair Value

Per Share
Awards outstanding, beginning of
period 281,761  $ 14.74  —  $ —  —  $ — 
Granted 40,027  19.02  55,019  19.40  110,040  19.04 
Vested (124,194) 15.28  —  —  —  — 
Awards outstanding, end of period 197,594  $ 15.27  55,019  $ 19.40  110,040  $ 19.04 

Six Months Ended
June 30, 2020

Restricted Stock RSUs PSUs

Shares

Weighted Average
Grant Date Fair Value

Per Share Shares

Weighted Average
Grant Date Fair Value

Per Share Shares

Weighted Average
Grant Date Fair Value

Per Share
Awards outstanding, beginning of
period 119,213  $ 18.56  —  $ —  —  $ — 
Granted 240,293  13.88  —  —  —  — 
Vested (65,749) 18.61  —  —  —  — 
Awards outstanding, end of period 293,757  $ 14.72  —  $ —  —  $ — 

The following table discloses the grant date fair value of the Company’s remaining unvested awards as of June 30, 2021, which will be amortized into compensation expense
over the period disclosed:

June 30, 2021

Remaining Compensation Cost
WAVG Period of Recognition

(in Years)
Restricted stock $ 2,632  1.7
RSUs 1,035  2.7
PSUs 2,028  2.5

Total $ 5,695  2.2
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ITEM 2.    MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

The following discussion should be read in conjunction with our unaudited consolidated financial statements and the accompanying notes included in Part I, Item  1
“Financial Statements” in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q and our audited consolidated financial statements and the accompanying notes included in Part II, Item 8 in our 2020
Form 10-K. References herein to “Dynex,” the “Company,” “we,” “us,” and “our” include Dynex Capital, Inc. and its consolidated subsidiaries, unless the context otherwise
requires. In addition to current and historical information, the following discussion and analysis contains forward-looking statements within the meaning of the Private Securities
Litigation Reform Act of 1995. These statements relate to our future business, financial condition or results of operations. For a description of certain factors that may have a
significant impact on our future business, financial condition or results of operations, see “Forward-Looking Statements” at the end of this discussion and analysis.

    For more information about our business including our operating policies, investment philosophy and strategy, financing and hedging strategies, and other important information,
please refer to Part I, Item 1 of our 2020 Form 10-K.

EXECUTIVE OVERVIEW

Dynex Capital, Inc. is an internally managed mortgage real estate investment trust, or mortgage REIT, which primarily invests in residential and commercial mortgage-backed
securities (“MBS”) on a leveraged basis. We finance our investments principally with borrowings under repurchase agreements. Our objective is to provide attractive risk-adjusted
returns to our shareholders over the long term that are reflective of a leveraged, high quality fixed income portfolio with a focus on capital preservation. We seek to provide returns to
our shareholders primarily through the payment of regular dividends and also potentially through capital appreciation of our investments.

Market Conditions and Recent Activity

Economic conditions during the second quarter of 2021 reversed direction from the first quarter’s recovery as the yield curve flattened and credit spreads widened for Agency
RMBS. Markets began to price the impact of potentially tighter monetary conditions after commentary made by Federal Reserve officials at the conclusion of its Federal Open Market
Committee (“FOMC”) meeting in June indicated they were discussing the possibility of tapering its purchases of assets including Agency RMBS. In addition, the concern over the
impact of variants of COVID-19 on real economic activity, along with technicals in the UST market, drove yields lower during the second quarter, and the curve has continued to
flatten further so far into the third quarter of 2021. The 2-year U.S. Treasury (“UST”) rate rose 9 basis points while the 10-year fell 27 basis points during the second quarter of 2021
and has dropped further since June 30, 2021.

The table below shows changes in market spreads in basis points for certain investment types in our MBS portfolio during the three months ended June 30, 2021:

Investment Type:
Second Quarter 2021 Change in

Spreads
As of

June 30, 2021
As of

March 31, 2021
Agency RMBS: 

2.0% coupon 14  (6) (20)
2.5% coupon 17  1  (16)
3.0% coupon 25  27  2 
3.5% coupon 32  40  8 
4.0% coupon 43  54  11 

Agency DUS (Agency CMBS) (4) 18  22 
Freddie K AAA IO (Agency CMBS IO) (30) 65  95 
AAA CMBS IO (Non-Agency CMBS IO) (25) 105  130 

(1) Option adjusted spreads are based on Company estimates using third-party models and market data.
(2) Data represents the spread to swap rate on newly issued securities and is sourced from JP Morgan.

(1)

(2)

(2)

(2)
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The charts below show the highest and lowest U.S. Treasury and swap rates during the three months ended June 30, 2021 as well as the rates as of June 30, 2021 and March
31, 2021:    

We stated our expectations last quarter for a range-bound interest rate environment with bouts of volatility and a potential for wider MBS spreads, which largely played out
during the second quarter of 2021. In response to this volatility, we continued to focus on our leverage position and management of our capital. Early in the second quarter, we reduced
our investment portfolio when spreads were tighter, reducing our leverage a full turn. Later in the second quarter, we partially re-leveraged our balance sheet, using a portion of the
$68.3 million in capital we raised through ATM issuances to re-invest in lower coupon Agency RMBS as spreads were widening. As discussed further below in “Current Outlook”, we
believe market fundamentals and technicals remain positive toward a steepening yield curve with longer-term interest rates moving higher as the economy continues recovery in the
medium term.
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Second Quarter 2021 Performance

The decline in our book value of $(1.32) per common share during the second quarter was the result of a comprehensive loss to common shareholders of $(31.4) million,
which was primarily comprised of hedge losses of $(93.8) million due to the yield curve flattening. Partially offsetting the hedge losses, the fair value of the Company's investments
including TBA securities increased $58.2 million as a result of the decline in longer-term interest rates. The majority of this increase is from our investment in TBA securities, which
are highly liquid and continue to provide substantial returns at a lower implied cost of financing. In addition to the flattening yield curve, Agency RMBS credit spreads widened versus
benchmarks. Though the widening offset a portion of the gains in fair value of MBS from declining longer-term rates, it also provided opportunities for us to purchase approximately
$1.0 billion in specified pools and increase our average TBA investments by approximately $0.5 billion in the latter half of the second quarter. In addition to benefiting from an
increase in fair value when spreads tighten, the premiums paid for securities are generally lower when spreads are wider, which results in lower premium amortization expense and
higher yields on these securities.

Net interest income of $12.1 million for the second quarter of 2021 was relatively unchanged from the first quarter of 2021, and net interest spread was flat at 1.87% versus
the prior quarter. Interest income declined by $0.5 million due primarily to a smaller average balance of MBS at lower effective yields and a decline of $0.3 million in net prepayment
penalty income from CMBS IO from the prior quarter. Though we purchased Agency RMBS of $0.8 million, net of sales, in the latter half of the second quarter, interest income for the
period includes one month or less of interest earnings as these purchases settled either in June or were pending settlement as of June 30, 2021. The decline in interest income was
mostly offset by the decline of $0.4 million in interest expense from repurchase agreement financing costs. Our overall effective yield on investments declined to 2.10%, but was offset
by a corresponding decline in the cost of financing on our repurchase agreements used to finance our investments.

Core net operating income to common shareholders, a non-GAAP measure, increased $3.9 million to $16.3 million due to higher drop income from TBA securities and lower
preferred stock dividends as a result of our redemption of the remaining shares of our Series B Preferred Stock in the first quarter of 2021. Our implied funding cost for TBA dollar roll
transactions was approximately 49 basis points lower than our repurchase agreement financing rate for Agency RMBS during the second quarter of 2021, an increase of 10 basis points
in specialness relative to the prior quarter. As a result, TBA dollar roll transactions contributed an 8 basis point increase to adjusted net interest spread, a non-GAAP measure, which
was 1.95% for the second quarter of 2021.

Current Outlook

Our outlook for market conditions and the Company has not changed from the prior quarter. We believe that the global economy is still evolving through varied consequences
of the pandemic coupled with the impact of massive fiscal and monetary stimulus. For the next few quarters, we believe rates will remain relatively range-bound near current levels.
Over the next six-to-twelve months, we believe that the 10-year UST rate will most likely move higher in the range as we anticipate a global transition to a more fully reopened
economy, a higher percentage of vaccinated populations, stable or rising inflation, and a rising supply of global sovereign bonds from central bank purchase tapering, continued deficit
spending, and fiscal stimulus. In the intermediate term, we believe tapering of asset purchases by the Federal Reserve will cause spreads to widen across all asset classes, but especially
spreads on lower quality assets. This is because asset tapering, while still growing the size of the Federal Reserve’s balance sheet, represents a reduction of monetary stimulus.

From a borrowing cost perspective, the Federal Reserve has indicated that the U.S. Federal Funds Target Rate will remain near zero until at least 2023, which means our
financing costs should remain at current low levels until then. An environment where borrowing costs are anchored and the yield curve is reasonably steep with rates range-bound
supports our ability to generate solid total economic returns to our shareholders. While there are risks that the 10-year UST rate moves outside the range or there is a sudden change in
Federal Reserve policy, we believe the probability of either occurring in the near-term is relatively low.

We have planned for other potential scenarios that may unfold, including the risk of an exogenous event, which we believe remains high. As a result, we are maintaining a
lower leveraged capital structure, a highly liquid position, and are investing in highly liquid Agency RMBS and TBAs. We believe that we are entering a period where there will be
opportunity
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to invest capital at wider spreads, and we are positioned with relatively low leverage on our capital with ample liquidity to add assets at attractive return profiles. Longer term, we
maintain our belief that the demographics behind the housing sector continue to support our investment thesis of investing in high quality, highly liquid U.S.-based housing assets, and
we maintain our focus on capital preservation while generating returns over the long term.

Non-GAAP Financial Measures

In addition to the Company's operating results presented in accordance with GAAP, the information presented within Item 2, "Management's Discussion and Analysis of
Financial Condition and Results of Operations" of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q contains the following non-GAAP financial measures: core net operating income to common
shareholders (including per common share), adjusted net interest income and the related metric adjusted net interest spread. Because these measures are used in the Company's internal
analysis of financial and operating performance, management believes that they provide greater transparency to our investors of management's view of our economic performance.
Management also believes the presentation of these measures, when analyzed in conjunction with the Company's GAAP operating results, allows investors to more effectively evaluate
and compare the performance of the Company to that of its peers, although the Company's presentation of its non-GAAP measures may not be comparable to other similarly-titled
measures of other companies. Reconciliations of core net operating income to common shareholders and adjusted net interest income to the related GAAP financial measures are
provided below and within “Results of Operations”.

Management views core net operating income to common shareholders as an estimate of the Company’s financial performance based on the effective yield of its investments,
net of financing costs and other normal recurring operating income/expense, net. In addition to the non-GAAP reconciliation set forth below, which derives core net operating income
to common shareholders from GAAP comprehensive income (loss) to common shareholders, core net operating income to common shareholders can also be determined by adjusting
net interest income to include interest rate swap periodic interest benefit/cost, drop income on TBA securities, general and administrative expenses, and preferred dividends. Drop
income generated by TBA dollar roll positions, which is included in "gain (loss) on derivatives instruments, net" on the Company's consolidated statements of comprehensive income,
is included in core net operating income and in adjusted net interest income because management views drop income as the economic equivalent of net interest income (interest
income less implied financing cost) on the underlying Agency security from trade date to settlement date. Management also includes interest rate swap periodic interest benefit/cost,
which is also included in "gain (loss) on derivatives instruments, net", in adjusted net interest income because interest rate swaps are used by the Company to economically hedge the
impact of changing interest rates on its borrowing costs from repurchase agreements, and therefore represent a cost of financing in addition to GAAP interest expense. However, these
non-GAAP measures do not provide a full perspective on our results of operations, and therefore, their usefulness is limited. For example, these non-GAAP measures do not include
the changes in fair value of investments or changes in fair value of and costs of terminating derivative instruments used by management to economically hedge the impact of changing
interest rates on the fair value of the Company’s portfolio and book value per common share. As a result, these non-GAAP measures should be considered as a supplement to, and not
as a substitute for, the Company's GAAP results as reported on its consolidated statements of comprehensive income.

Three Months Ended
Reconciliations of GAAP to Non-GAAP Financial Measures: June 30, 2021 March 31, 2021
($s in thousands except per share data)
Comprehensive (loss) income to common shareholders $ (31,412) $ 47,227 
Less:

Change in fair value of investments (17,362) 61,439 
Change in fair value of derivative instruments, net 65,117  (99,233)
Preferred stock redemption charge —  2,987 

Core net operating income to common shareholders $ 16,343  $ 12,420 
Average common shares outstanding 31,973,587  26,788,693 
Comprehensive income per common share $ (0.98) $ 1.76 

(1)

(2)
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Core net operating income per common share $ 0.51  $ 0.46 

Net interest income $ 12,118  $ 12,259 
TBA drop income 12,177  8,568 

Adjusted net interest income $ 24,295  $ 20,827 
Other operating expense, net (323) (380)
General and administrative expenses (5,706) (5,468)
Preferred stock dividends (1,923) (2,559)

Core net operating income to common shareholders $ 16,343  $ 12,420 

(1)    Amount includes realized and unrealized gains and losses recorded in net income and OCI due to changes in the fair value of the Company’s MBS and other investments.
(2) Amount includes unrealized gains and losses from changes in fair value of derivatives and realized gains and losses on terminated derivatives and excludes TBA drop income.
(3) TBA drop income is calculated by multiplying the notional amount of the TBA dollar roll positions by the difference in price between two TBA securities with the same terms but different settlement

dates. The impact of TBA drop income on adjusted net interest spread includes the implied average funding cost of TBA dollar roll transactions during the periods indicated.

FINANCIAL CONDITION

Investment Portfolio

The following chart compares the composition of our MBS portfolio including TBA securities as of the dates indicated:

(1) Includes TBA positions at their implied market value, as if settled, of $2.4 billion and $1.6 billion, respectively. TBA securities are recorded within “derivative assets (liabilities)” on our consolidated
balance sheet at their net carrying value, which represents the difference between the implied market value and the implied cost basis of the TBA security as of the date indicated.

RMBS. As of June 30, 2021, the majority of our investments in RMBS were Agency-issued pass-through securities collateralized primarily by pools of fixed-rate single-
family mortgage loans. Monthly payments of principal and interest made by the individual borrowers on the mortgage loans underlying the pools are "passed through" to the security
holders, after deducting GSE or U.S. Government agency guarantee and servicer fees. Mortgage pass-through certificates generally

(3)
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distribute cash flows from the underlying collateral on a pro-rata basis among the security holders. Security holders also receive guarantor advances of principal and interest for
delinquent loans in the mortgage pools. In addition to specified pools of Agency RMBS, we are also currently investing in TBA securities. Please refer to Notes 1 and 5 of the Notes to
the Consolidated Financial Statements for a description of these transactions and information regarding their accounting treatment.

As noted in the table below, as of June 30, 2021, we are invested in lower coupon securities to mitigate the risk of loss of premiums due to early prepayment. Our lower
coupon investments also have lower premiums relative to higher coupon assets which further protects our earnings when prepayments occur. Our investment in TBA securities has
increased relative to prior periods as implied financing rates for dollar roll transactions have been lower than the financing rates for repurchase agreement borrowings we typically use
to finance specified pools. Because TBA securities have higher relative liquidity, these transactions allow more flexibility should we decide or find it necessary to reduce leverage.

The following tables compare our fixed-rate Agency RMBS investments including TBA dollar roll positions as of the dates indicated:

June 30, 2021

Par/Notional-Long
(Short)

Amortized Cost/
Implied Cost

Basis
Fair

Value 

Weighted Average

Coupon
Loan Age

(in months)
3 Month
CPR 

Estimated
Duration

30-year fixed-rate: ($s in thousands)
2.0% $ 907,767  $ 925,875  $ 919,889  10 13.2 % 7.60
2.5% 1,244,081  1,298,263  1,295,851  9 16.0 % 6.78
4.0% 208,875  215,146  225,168  39 44.8 % 3.24
TBA 2.0% 915,000  922,078  923,683  n/a n/a 7.51
TBA 2.5% 820,000  845,214  847,390  n/a n/a 5.63

15-year fixed-rate:
TBA 1.5% 375,000  377,864  378,267  n/a n/a 5.07
TBA 2.0% 200,000  205,609  206,086  n/a n/a 4.48

Total $ 4,670,723  $ 4,790,049  $ 4,796,334  12 19.0 % 6.47 

December 31, 2020

Par/Notional-Long
(Short)

Amortized Cost/
Implied Cost

Basis
Fair

Value 

Weighted Average

Coupon
Loan Age

(in months)
3 Month
CPR 

Estimated
Duration

30-year fixed-rate: ($s in thousands)
TBA 2.0% $ 765,000  $ 789,945  $ 792,957  n/a n/a 4.89
2.0% 620,238  635,096  646,744  8 7.7 % 5.31
2.5% 938,334  973,116  995,889  10 13.5 % 3.53
4.0% 280,474  288,831  303,758  33 46.8 % 2.48

15-year fixed-rate:
TBA 1.5% 250,000  255,068  257,305  n/a n/a 4.73
TBA 2.0% 500,000  519,047  522,687  n/a n/a 3.09

Total $ 3,354,046  $ 3,461,103  $ 3,519,340  13 17.1 % 4.10 

(1) Implied cost basis of TBAs represents the forward price to be paid for the underlying Agency MBS.
(2) Fair value of TBAs is the implied market value of the underlying Agency security as of the end of the period.

 (1)(3) (2)(3) (4) (4)(5)  (6)

 (1)(3) (2)(3) (4) (4)(5)  (6)
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(3) TBAs are included on the consolidated balance sheet within “derivative assets/liabilities” at their net carrying value which is the difference between their implied market value and implied cost basis.
Please refer to Note 5 of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements for additional information.

(4) TBAs are excluded from this calculation as they do not have a defined weighted-average loan balance or age until mortgages have been assigned to the pool.
(5) Constant prepayment rate (“CPR”) represents the 3-month CPR of Agency RMBS held as of date indicated. Securities with no prepayment history are excluded from this calculation.
(6) Duration measures the sensitivity of a security's price to the change in interest rates and represents the percent change in price of a security for a 100-basis point increase in interest rates. We

calculate duration using third-party financial models and empirical data. Different models and methodologies can produce different estimates of duration for the same securities.

CMBS. Substantially all of our CMBS investments as of June 30, 2021 were fixed-rate Agency-issued securities backed by multifamily housing loans. The loans underlying
CMBS are generally fixed-rate with scheduled principal payments generally assuming a 30-year amortization period, but typically requiring balloon payments on average
approximately 10 years from origination. These loans typically have some form of prepayment protection provisions (such as prepayment lock-out) or prepayment compensation
provisions (such as yield maintenance or prepayment penalty), which provide us compensation if underlying loans prepay prior to us earning our expected return on our
investment. Yield maintenance and prepayment penalty requirements are intended to create an economic disincentive for the loans to prepay, which we believe makes the fair value of
CMBS less costly to hedge relative to RMBS.

The following table presents information about our CMBS investments by year of origination as of the dates indicated:

June 30, 2021 December 31, 2020

($s in thousands) Par Value Amortized Cost

Months to
Estimated

Maturity WAC Par Value Amortized Cost

Months to
Estimated

Maturity WAC 
Year of Origination:
Prior to 2009 $ 6,457  $ 6,273  18 5.76 % $ 9,132  $ 8,964  36 5.69 %
2009 to 2012 11,281  11,851  41 5.56 % 11,424  12,085  65 5.56 %
2013 to 2014 9,759  9,904  42 3.61 % 9,865  10,033  44 3.61 %
2015 118,870  120,126  62 2.88 % 155,760  157,137  69 2.85 %
2017 30,858  31,215  86 3.18 % 30,907  31,294  91 3.18 %
2019 19,702  19,976  146 3.13 % 19,702  19,988  151 3.12 %

$ 196,927  $ 199,345  70 3.24 % $ 236,790  $ 239,501  77 3.19 %

(1) Months to estimated maturity is an average weighted by the amortized cost of the investment.
(2) The weighted average coupon (“WAC”) is the gross interest rate of the security weighted by the outstanding principal balance.
(3) The Company has one non-Agency CMBS originally issued in 1998 with an amortized cost and fair value of less than $1.0 million as of June 30, 2021 and December 31, 2020.

CMBS IO. CMBS IO are interest-only securities issued as part of a CMBS securitization and represent the right to receive a portion of the monthly interest payments (but not
principal cash flows) on the unpaid principal balance of the underlying pool of commercial mortgage loans. We invest in both Agency-issued and non-Agency issued CMBS IO.
Agency-issued CMBS IO pools are backed by multifamily housing loans, and our non-Agency issued CMBS IO are backed by loans secured by a number of different property types
including office buildings, hospitality, and retail, among others. Since CMBS IO securities have no principal associated with them, the interest payments received are based on the
unpaid principal balance of the underlying pool of mortgage loans, which is often referred to as the notional amount. Yields on CMBS IO securities are dependent upon the
performance of the underlying loans. Similar to CMBS described above, the Company receives prepayment compensation as most loans in these securities have some form of
prepayment protection from early repayment; however, there are no prepayment protections if the loan defaults and is partially or wholly repaid earlier because of loss mitigation
actions taken by the underlying loan servicer. Because Agency CMBS IO generally contain higher credit quality loans, they have a lower risk of default than non-Agency CMBS IO.
The majority of our CMBS IO investments are investment grade-rated with the majority rated ‘AAA’ by at least one of the nationally recognized statistical rating

(1) (2) (1) (2)

(3)
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organizations.

The following tables present our CMBS IO investments by year of origination as of the dates indicated:

June 30, 2021
Agency Non-Agency

($s in thousands) Amortized Cost Fair Value Remaining WAL Amortized Cost Fair Value Remaining WAL
Year of Origination:

2010-2012 $ 6,241  $ 6,106  5  $ 1,486  $ 1,505  5 
2013 16,070  18,210  9  8,213  8,291  10 
2014 20,567  21,495  18  41,931  43,169  16 
2015 27,246  28,623  22  46,599  48,430  22 
2016 20,647  21,667  27  14,975  15,163  16 
2017 24,590  25,977  38  7,000  7,260  30 
2018 3,589  3,922  57  —  —  — 
2019 84,391  89,018  56  —  —  — 
2020 3,028  3,105  48  —  —  — 
2021 526  542  78  —  —  — 

$ 206,895  $ 218,665  37  $ 120,204  $ 123,818  20 

December 31, 2020
Agency Non-Agency

($s in thousands) Amortized Cost Fair Value
Remaining WAL

Amortized Cost Fair Value
Remaining WAL

Year of Origination:
2010-2012 $ 12,037  $ 11,932  9  $ 3,237  $ 3,263  8 
2013 22,367  24,165  13  10,875  10,912  15 
2014 24,841  25,749  22  50,777  51,175  20 
2015 31,875  33,404  26  53,176  54,020  27 
2016 23,072  24,203  31  16,705  16,906  16 
2017 26,493  27,952  42  7,733  7,808  34 
2018 3,792  3,983  62  —  —  — 
2019 88,757  91,303  60  —  —  — 
2020 3,203  3,264  53  —  —  — 

$ 236,437  $ 245,955  39  $ 142,503  $ 144,084  24 

(1) Remaining weighted average life (“WAL”) represents an estimate of the number of months of contractual cash flows remaining for the investments by year of origination.

The weighted average interest coupon rate for our CMBS IO was 0.64% as of June 30, 2021 and 0.56% as of December 31, 2020. Effective yields on CMBS IO securities are
dependent upon the performance of the underlying loans. Our return on these investments may be negatively impacted if the loans default, resulting in foreclosures, or liquidations of
the loan collateral. Non-Agency-issued securities are generally expected to have a higher risk of default than Agency CMBS IO. We are mostly invested in senior tranches of these
securities where we have evaluated the credit profile of the underlying loan pool and can monitor credit performance in order to mitigate our exposure to losses. The majority of our
non-Agency CMBS IO investments are investment grade-rated with the majority rated ‘AAA’ by at least one of the nationally recognized statistical rating organizations. All of our
non-Agency CMBS IO were originated prior to 2017, the majority of which we believe have had underlying property value appreciation.

 (1)  (1)

(1) (1)
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Since the economic impacts of COVID-19 began in 2020, servicers are reporting an increase in delinquencies on loans underlying our non-Agency CMBS IO and have taken
loss mitigation actions including loan forbearance or allowing the borrower to make loan payments using replacement reserve or similar property related funds. Most of the increases
in delinquencies thus far have been in the retail and hotel sectors and have nominally impacted cash flows and yields on the securities. Considering the characteristics of our non-
Agency CMBS IO and the actions taken by servicers so far to work with borrowers through various relief measures, we have not seen evidence of and do not currently expect a
material adverse effect on our future cash flows for non-Agency CMBS IO. However, the ultimate impact of COVID-19 on the global economy and on the loans underlying any of our
securities remains uncertain and cannot be predicted at this time.

The property type for the loans securing our non-Agency CMBS IO, which has not changed materially since December 31, 2020, are shown in the table below as of June 30,
2021:

June 30, 2021
($s in thousands) Fair Value Percentage of Portfolio
Property Type:

Retail $ 34,811  28.1 %
Office 26,907  21.7 %
Multifamily 20,834  16.8 %
Hotel 16,641  13.4 %
Mixed use 8,561  6.9 %
Other 16,064  13.1 %

Total non-Agency CMBS IO $ 123,818  100.0 %

(1) Other property types collateralizing non-Agency CMBS IO do not comprise more than 5% individually.

Repurchase Agreements 

We use leverage to enhance the returns on our invested capital by pledging our investments as collateral for borrowings primarily through the use of uncommitted repurchase
agreements with major financial institutions and broker-dealers. Repurchase agreements generally have original terms to maturity of overnight to six months, though in some instances
we may enter into longer-dated maturities depending on market conditions. We pay interest on our repurchase agreement borrowings based on short-term rate indices that historically
closely track LIBOR and are fixed for the term of the borrowing.

Please refer to Note 4 of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements contained within this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q as well as “Results of Operations” and
“Liquidity and Capital Resources” contained within this Item 2 for additional information relating to our repurchase agreement borrowings.

Derivative Assets and Liabilities

We use derivative instruments to economically hedge our exposure to adverse changes in interest rates resulting from our ownership of primarily fixed-rate investments
financed with short-term repurchase agreements. Changes in interest rates can impact net interest income, the market value of our investments, and book value per common share. We
regularly monitor and frequently adjust our hedging portfolio in response to many factors including, but not limited to, changes in our investment portfolio as well as our expectation of
future interest rates, including the absolute level of rates and the slope of the yield curve versus market expectations. As of June 30, 2021, approximately 86% of our MBS portfolio
including TBA securities were hedged using short positions in U.S. Treasury futures, put options on U.S. Treasury futures, and interest rate swaptions compared to approximately 62%
as of December 31, 2020. Please refer to Note 5 of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements for details on our interest rate derivative instruments as well as “Quantitative
and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk” in Part I, Item 3 of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q.

(1)
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RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

The discussion below includes both GAAP and non-GAAP financial measures that management utilizes in its internal analysis of financial and operating performance. Please
read the section “Non-GAAP Financial Measures” contained in “Executive Overview” of Part I, Item 2 of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for additional important information
about these financial measures.

Three Months Ended June 30, 2021 Compared to the Three Months Ended March 31, 2021

The following table summarizes the results of operations for the periods indicated:

Three Months Ended
$s in thousands June 30, 2021 March 31, 2021
Net interest income $ 12,118  $ 12,259 
Realized gain on sale of investments, net 2,008  4,697 
Unrealized gain (loss) on investments, net 1,084  (980)
(Loss) gain on derivative instruments, net (52,940) 107,801 
General and administrative expenses (5,706) (5,468)
Other operating expenses, net (323) (380)
Preferred stock dividends (1,923) (2,559)
Preferred stock redemption charges —  (2,987)

Net (loss) income to common shareholders (45,682) 112,383 
Other comprehensive income (loss) 14,270  (65,156)

Comprehensive (loss) income to common shareholders $ (31,412) $ 47,227 

Net Interest Income

Net interest income was relatively stable for the three months ended June 30, 2021 compared to the three months ended March 31, 2021, and net interest spread was flat at
1.87% versus the prior quarter. Interest income declined $(0.5) million for the second quarter of 2021 compared to the prior quarter due to a smaller average balance of assets at lower
effective yields and a decline of $0.3 million in net prepayment penalty income from CMBS IO. Though we purchased Agency RMBS of $0.8 million, net of sales, in the latter half of
the second quarter, interest income for the period includes one month or less of interest earnings as these purchases settled either in June or were pending settlement as of June 30,
2021. The decline in interest income was mostly offset by the decline of $0.4 million in interest expense from repurchase agreement financing costs.

The following table presents certain information about our interest-earning assets and interest-bearing liabilities and their performance for the periods indicated:
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Three Months Ended
June 30, 2021 March 31, 2021

($s in thousands)
Interest

Income/Expense Average Balance 
Effective Yield/

Cost of
Funds 

Interest
Income/Expense Average Balance 

Effective Yield/
Cost of

Funds 
Interest-earning assets:

Agency RMBS $ 7,373  $ 1,863,420  1.58 % $ 7,381  $ 1,821,920  1.62 %
Agency CMBS 1,959  233,815  2.97 % 1,832  238,158  2.91 %
CMBS IO 3,918  339,288  4.24 % 4,516  365,891  4.33 %
Non-Agency MBS and other investments 143  6,617  6.94 % 163  7,304  7.15 %

Total: $ 13,393  $ 2,443,140  2.10 % $ 13,892  $ 2,433,273  2.17 %

Interest-bearing liabilities: (1,275) 2,155,200  (0.23)% (1,633) 2,158,121  (0.30)%
Net interest income/net interest spread $ 12,118  1.87 % $ 12,259  1.87 %

(1) Average balance for assets is calculated as a simple average of the daily amortized cost and excludes unrealized gains and losses as well as securities pending settlement if applicable.
(2) Average balance for liabilities is calculated as a simple average of the daily borrowings outstanding during the period.
(3) Effective yield is calculated by dividing the sum of gross interest income and scheduled premium amortization/discount accretion (both of which are annualized for any reporting period less than 12

months) and prepayment compensation and premium amortization/discount accretion adjustments (collectively, "prepayment adjustments"), which are not annualized, by the average balance of asset
type outstanding during the reporting period.

(4) Cost of funds is calculated by dividing annualized interest expense by the total average balance of borrowings outstanding during the period with an assumption of 360 days in a year.
(5) Includes Agency and non-Agency issued securities.
(6) Interest-bearing liabilities consist primarily of repurchase agreement borrowings.

The following table presents the estimated impact on our net interest income due to changes in rate (effective yield/cost of funds) and changes in volume (average balance) of
our interest-earning assets and interest-bearing liabilities for the periods indicated:

Three Months Ended
June 30, 2021 Compared to March 31, 2021

Increase (Decrease) Due to Change In Total Change in
Interest

Income/Expense($s in thousands) Rate Volume
Prepayment

Adjustments 
Interest-earning assets:

Agency RMBS $ (176) $ 168  $ —  $ (8)
Agency CMBS (4) (14) 145  127 
CMBS IO (12) (278) (308) (598)
Non-Agency MBS and other investments (7) (9) (4) (20)

Change in interest income (199) (133) (167) (499)
Change in interest expense (349) (9) —  (358)

Total net change in net interest income $ 150  $ (124) $ (167) $ (141)

(1) Prepayment adjustments represent effective interest amortization adjustments related to changes in actual prepayment speeds and prepayment compensation, net of amortization adjustments for CMBS
and CMBS IO.

(2) Includes Agency and non-Agency issued securities.

(1)
(2) (3)(4)

(1)
(2) (3)(4)

(5)

 (6)

(1)

(2)
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As mentioned previously, CMBS and CMBS IO typically have some form of prepayment protection provisions (such as prepayment lock-out) or prepayment compensation
provisions (such as yield maintenance or prepayment penalty), which provide us compensation if underlying loans prepay prior to us earning our expected return on our investment.
We earned $1.2 million in gross prepayment compensation for the three months ended June 30, 2021 compared to $0.8 million for the three months ended March 31, 2021. These
amounts were offset by additional premium amortization adjustments of $(0.5) million and $0.1 million, respectively, resulting in net prepayment penalty income of $0.7 million for
the three months ended June 30, 2021 and $0.9 million for the three months ended March 31, 2021.

Adjusted Net Interest Income

Please refer to “Non-GAAP Financial Measures” at the end of the “Executive Overview” section of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for additional information about this
financial measure used by management to evaluate results of operations.

Three Months Ended
June 30, 2021 March 31, 2021

($s in thousands) Amount Rate Amount Rate
Net interest income $ 12,118  1.87 % $ 12,259  1.87 %

Add: TBA drop income 12,177  0.08 % 8,568  — %
Adjusted net interest income $ 24,295  1.95 % $ 20,827  1.87 %

(1) TBA drop income is calculated by multiplying the notional amount of the TBA dollar roll positions by the difference in price between two TBA securities with the same terms but different settlement
dates.

(2) The impact of TBA drop income on adjusted net interest spread includes the implied average funding cost of TBA dollar roll transactions during the periods indicated.

Adjusted net interest income increased for the three months ended June 30, 2021 compared to the three months ended March 31, 2021 because we increased our average
investment in TBA securities by approximately 29% during the second quarter, resulting in higher TBA drop income. The financing cost imputed in TBA dollar roll transactions
continues to be lower than the average repurchase agreement financing rate, which is commonly referred to in the industry as TBA dollar rolls “trading special” or “dollar roll
specialness.” Dollar roll specialness happens primarily as a result of supply/demand imbalances or volatility in market prepayment expectations, and in management’s view, the pace of
bank and Federal Reserve purchases is currently resulting in an implied financing costs dropping below 0%. The implied financing rate for our TBA long positions was (0.36)%
compared to our repurchase agreement financing cost for specified pools of Agency RMBS of 0.13% for the three months ended June 30, 2021, an increase of 10 basis points in dollar
roll specialness versus the prior quarter. As a result, TBA dollar roll transactions contributed 8 basis points to adjusted net interest spread of 1.95% for the second quarter of 2021.

Changes in Fair Value of Investments

Changes in the fair value of our investments result in realized and unrealized gains and losses. The fair value of our investments are impacted by a number of factors
including, among others, market volatility, changes in credit spreads, spot and forward interest rates, actual and anticipated prepayments, and supply/demand dynamics which are in
turn impacted by, among other things, interest rates, capital flows, economic conditions, and government policies and actions, such as purchases and sales by the Federal Reserve Bank
of New York.

The following table provides details on unrealized gains and losses on our investments recorded within “unrealized gain (loss) on investments, net” and “other comprehensive
income (loss)” for the periods indicated:

 (1) (2)
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Three Months Ended
($s in thousands) June 30, 2021 March 31, 2021
MBS purchased after December 31, 2020 $ 997  $ (960)
Mortgage loans held for investment 86  (35)
Other 1  15 

Unrealized gain (loss) on investments, net 1,084  (980)

Agency RMBS 12,429  (60,175)
Agency CMBS (259) (7,046)
CMBS IO 2,148  2,121 
Non-Agency other (48) (56)

Other comprehensive income (loss) 14,270  (65,156)

Total unrealized gains (losses) $ 15,354  $ (66,136)

Sales of our investments happen in the ordinary course of business as we manage our risk, capital and liquidity profiles, and as we reallocate capital to various investments.
The following table provides information related to our “realized gains (losses) on sales of investments, net” for the periods indicated:

Three Months Ended
June 30, 2021 March 31, 2021

($s in thousands)
Amortized
cost sold

Realized
Gain

Amortized
cost sold

Realized
Gain

Agency RMBS-designated as AFS $ 213,339  $ (759) $ 70,132  $ 4,697 
Agency CMBS-designated as AFS 35,106  2,767  —  — 

Total $ 248,445  $ 2,008  $ 70,132  $ 4,697 

Gain (Loss) on Derivative Instruments, Net

Changes in the fair value of derivative instruments are impacted by changing market interest rates and adjustments that we may make to our hedging positions in any given
period. Because of the changes made to our derivatives portfolio from one reporting period to the next, results of any given reporting period are generally not comparable to results of
another.

The yield curve flattened during the second quarter of 2021 as longer-term interest rates declined. However, we maintained our hedge position for a steeper yield curve given
management's macroeconomic view that market fundamentals remain positive and point toward continued economic recovery in the medium term. The following table provides
information on our financial instruments accounted for as derivative instruments for the periods indicated:
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Three Months Ended
($s in thousands) June 30, 2021 March 31, 2021
Change in fair value of interest rate hedges:

Interest rate swaptions $ (19,062) $ 57,763 
U.S. Treasury futures (63,184) 95,647 
Options on U.S. Treasury futures (11,531) 12,617 

Total (loss) gain on interest rate hedges (93,777) 166,027 

TBA dollar roll positions:
Change in fair value 28,660  (66,794)
TBA drop income 12,177  8,568 

Total TBA dollar roll gain (loss), net 40,837  (58,226)

Total (loss) gain on derivative instruments, net $ (52,940) $ 107,801 

(1) Changes in fair value for TBA dollar roll positions include unrealized gains (losses) from open TBA contracts and realized gains (losses) on paired off or terminated positions.
(2) TBA drop income represents a portion of the change in fair value and is calculated by multiplying the notional amount of the net TBA dollar roll positions by the difference in price between two TBA

securities with the same terms but different settlement dates.

The following table provides information regarding realized gains (losses) on derivative instruments for the periods indicated:

Three Months Ended
($s in thousands) June 30, 2021 March 31, 2021
Interest rate swaptions $ —  $ 31,173 
U.S. Treasury futures 36,679  21,397 
Options on U.S. Treasury futures (3,633) 1,872 
TBA long positions 16,309  (29,471)

Total realized gains (losses) on derivative instruments $ 49,355  $ 24,971 

General and Administrative Expenses

General and administrative expenses increased $0.2 million for the three months ended June 30, 2021 compared to the three months ended March 31, 2021. This increase is
attributable to a $0.1 million increase in compensation and benefits due to an increase in the accrual for annual bonuses based on company performance during the first six months of
2021 and a $0.1 million increase in other general and administrative expenses due to an increase in consulting expenses related to planning for implementation of new investment
software, partially offset by a decline in accounting and legal fee expenses.

Six Months Ended June 30, 2021 Compared to the Six Months Ended June 30, 2020

Net Interest Income

Net interest income declined $(8.3) million for the six months ended June 30, 2021 compared to the six months ended June 30, 2020 because we held a smaller average
balance of lower yielding investments during the first half of 2021 compared to the first half of 2020. Net interest spread increased 34 basis points for the six months ended June 30,
2021 compared to the six months ended June 30, 2020 as the decline in our repurchase agreement borrowing costs was higher than the decline in the effective yield earned on our
investments. The following table presents information about our interest-earning assets and interest-bearing liabilities and their performance for the periods indicated:

(1)

(2)
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Six Months Ended
June 30,

2021 2020

($s in thousands)
Interest

Income/Expense
Average Balance 

Effective Yield/
Cost of

Funds 
Interest

Income/Expense
Average Balance 

Effective Yield/
Cost of

Funds 
Interest-earning assets:

Agency RMBS $ 14,754  $ 1,842,785  1.60 % $ 28,895  $ 2,073,379  2.79 %
Agency CMBS 3,792  235,974  3.03 % 19,922  1,309,637  3.00 %
CMBS IO 8,434  352,516  4.45 % 9,968  461,988  4.03 %
Non-Agency MBS and other investments 305  6,959  7.44 % 891  9,944  7.83 %

Total: $ 27,285  $ 2,438,234  2.17 % $ 59,676  $ 3,854,948  3.02 %

Interest-bearing liabilities: (2,908) 2,156,652  (0.27)% (26,952) 3,642,871  (1.46)%
Net interest income/net interest spread $ 24,377  1.90 % $ 32,724  1.56 %

(1) Average balance for assets is calculated as a simple average of the daily amortized cost and excludes unrealized gains and losses as well as securities pending settlement if applicable.
(2) Average balance for liabilities is calculated as a simple average of the daily borrowings outstanding during the period.
(3) Effective yield is calculated by dividing the sum of gross interest income and scheduled premium amortization/discount accretion (both of which are annualized for any reporting period less than 12

months) and prepayment compensation and premium amortization/discount accretion adjustments (collectively, "prepayment adjustments"), which are not annualized, by the average balance of asset
type outstanding during the reporting period.

(4) Cost of funds is calculated by dividing annualized interest expense by the total average balance of borrowings outstanding during the period with an assumption of 360 days in a year.
(5) Includes Agency and non-Agency issued securities.
(6) Interest income for non-Agency and other investments for the six months ended June 30, 2020 includes $0.5 million of interest income from cash and cash equivalents. Average balance and effective

yield for non-Agency MBS and other investments excludes cash and cash equivalents.
(7) Interest-bearing liabilities consist primarily of repurchase agreement borrowings.

The following table presents the estimated impact on our net interest income due to changes in rate (effective yield/cost of funds) and changes in volume (average balance) of
our interest-earning assets and interest-bearing liabilities for the periods indicated:

(1)
(2) (3)(4)

(1)
(2) (3)(4)

(5)

(6)

(7)
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Six Months Ended
June 30, 2021 Compared to June 30, 2020

Increase (Decrease) Due to Change In Total Change in
Interest

Income/Expense($s in thousands) Rate Volume
Prepayment

Adjustments 
Interest-earning assets:

Agency RMBS $ (10,933) $ (3,208) $ —  $ (14,141)
Agency CMBS (166) (16,277) 313  (16,130)
CMBS IO 658  (2,045) (147) (1,534)
Non-Agency MBS and other investments (59) (501) (26) (586)

Change in interest income $ (10,500) $ (22,031) $ 140  $ (32,391)
Change in interest expense (12,959) (11,085) —  (24,044)

Total net change in net interest income $ 2,459  $ (10,946) $ 140  $ (8,347)

(1) Prepayment adjustments represent effective interest amortization adjustments related to changes in actual prepayment speeds and prepayment compensation, net of amortization adjustments for CMBS
and CMBS IO.

(2) Includes Agency and non-Agency issued securities.

Adjusted Net Interest Income

Please refer to “Non-GAAP Financial Measures” at the end of the “Executive Overview” section of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for additional information about this
financial measure used by management to evaluate results of operations.

Six Months Ended
June 30,

2021 2020
($s in thousands) Amount Rate Amount Rate
Net interest income $ 24,377  1.90 % $ 32,724  1.56 %

Add: TBA drop income 20,745  0.03 % 2,535  — %
Add: net periodic interest benefit —  — % 1,957  0.10 %

Adjusted net interest income $ 45,122  1.93 % $ 37,216  1.66 %

(1) TBA drop income is calculated by multiplying the notional amount of the TBA dollar roll positions by the difference in price between two TBA securities with the same terms but different settlement
dates.

(2) The impact of TBA drop income on adjusted net interest spread includes the implied average funding cost of TBA dollar roll transactions during the periods indicated.
(3) Amount represents net periodic interest cost/benefit of effective interest rate swaps outstanding during the period and excludes realized and unrealized gains and losses from changes in fair value of

derivatives.

The increase of $7.9 million in adjusted net interest income for the six months ended June 30, 2021 compared to the six months ended June 30, 2020 is due to our increased
investment in TBA securities at lower implied funding costs relative to the six months ended June 30, 2020, which resulted in an increase in TBA drop income of $18.2 million. This
increase in TBA drop income offset the decline of $(8.3) million in net interest income and $(2.0) million in net periodic interest benefit from interest rate swaps. As discussed
previously, we have increased our investment in TBA securities relative to prior periods due to dollar roll specialness, and also given the current market environment. TBA securities
allow us more flexibility should we decide or find it necessary to reduce leverage. The decline in net periodic interest benefit from interest rate swaps is because we are not currently
using interest rate swaps to hedge our interest rate risk.

The following table discloses net premium amortization by MBS type for the periods indicated:

(1)

(2)

 (1) (2)

 (3)
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Six Months Ended
($s in thousands) June 30, 2021 June 30, 2020
Agency RMBS $ (7,450) $ (6,540)
Agency CMBS (419) (974)
CMBS IO (52,310) (56,372)
Non-Agency MBS 134  180 

Total net premium amortization $ (60,045) $ (63,706)

Prepayment compensation from CMBS and CMBS IO was $2.0 million for the six months ended June 30, 2021 compared to $0.9 million for the six months ended March 31,
2021.

Changes in Fair Value of Investments

The following table provides details on unrealized gains or losses on our investments recorded within “unrealized gain (loss) on investments, net” and “other comprehensive
income (loss)” for the periods indicated:

Six Months Ended
($s in thousands) June 30, 2021 June 30, 2020
MBS purchased after December 31, 2020 $ 37  $ — 
Mortgage loans held for investment 50  (20)
Other 17  (20)

Unrealized gain (loss) on investments, net 104  (40)

Agency RMBS (47,746) (28,154)
Agency CMBS (7,305) (54,251)
CMBS IO 4,270  (9,495)
Non-Agency other (105) (175)

Other comprehensive loss (50,886) (92,075)

Total unrealized losses $ (50,782) $ (92,115)

The following table provides information related to our “realized gains (losses) on sales of investments, net” for the periods indicated:

Six Months Ended
June 30, 2021 June 30, 2020

($s in thousands)
Amortized
cost sold

Realized
Gain

Amortized
cost sold

Realized
Gain

Agency RMBS-designated as AFS $ 283,471  $ 3,938  $ 2,112,633  $ 75,823 
Agency CMBS-designated as AFS 35,106  2,767  1,991,853  202,059 

Total $ 318,577  $ 6,705  $ 4,104,486  $ 277,882 

Gain (Loss) on Derivative Instruments, Net

The following table provides information on our financial instruments accounted for as derivative instruments for the periods indicated:
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Six Months Ended
($s in thousands) June 30, 2021 June 30, 2020
Change in fair value of interest rate hedges:

Interest rate swaps $ —  $ (183,852)
Interest rate swaptions 38,701  (573)
U.S. Treasury futures 32,464  (19,377)
Options on U.S. Treasury futures 1,086  (17,406)

Total gain (loss) on interest rate hedges 72,251  (221,208)

TBA dollar roll positions:
Change in fair value (38,135) 14,543 
TBA drop income 20,745  2,535 

Total TBA dollar roll (loss) gain, net (17,390) 17,078 

Total gain (loss) on derivative instruments, net $ 54,861  $ (204,130)

(1) Amount for interest rate swaps for six months ended June 30, 2020 is net of periodic interest benefit of $2.0 million.
(2)    Changes in fair value for TBA dollar roll positions include unrealized gains (losses) from open TBA contracts and realized gains (losses) on paired off or terminated positions.
(3) TBA drop income represents a portion of the change in fair value and is calculated by multiplying the notional amount of the net TBA dollar roll positions by the difference in price between two TBA

securities with the same terms but different settlement dates.

The following table provides information regarding realized gains (losses) on derivative instruments for the periods indicated:

Six Months Ended
($s in thousands) June 30, 2021 June 30, 2020
Interest rate swaps $ —  $ (183,773)
Interest rate swaptions —  (1,934)
U.S. Treasury futures 58,076  (15,168)
Options on U.S. Treasury futures (1,761) (13,234)
TBA long positions (13,162) 23,196 
TBA short positions —  (11,016)

Total realized gains (losses) on derivative instruments $ 43,153  $ (201,929)

General and Administrative Expenses

General and administrative expenses increased $1.7 million for the six months ended June 30, 2021 compared to the six months ended June 30, 2020 due primarily to higher
bonus accruals based on the Company’s year-to-date performance and consulting fees related to planning for implementation of new investment software.

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

 Our primary sources of liquidity include borrowings under repurchase arrangements and monthly principal and interest payments we receive on our investments. Additional
sources may also include proceeds from the sale of investments, equity offerings, and payments received from counterparties for derivative instruments. We use our liquidity to
purchase investments and to pay our operating expenses and dividends on our common and preferred stock. We also use our liquidity

(1)

(2)

(3)
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to meet margin requirements for our repurchase agreements and derivative transactions, including TBA contracts, under the terms of the related agreements. We may also periodically
use liquidity to repurchase shares of the Company’s stock.

Our liquidity fluctuates based on our investment activities, our financing and capital raising activities, and changes in the fair value of our investments and derivative
instruments. Our most liquid assets include unrestricted cash and cash equivalents and unencumbered Agency RMBS, CMBS, and CMBS IO which were $517.9 million as of June 30,
2021 compared to $415.3 million as of December 31, 2020.

We analyze our liquidity under various scenarios based on changes in the fair value of our investments and derivative instruments due to market factors such as changes in the
absolute level of interest rates and the shape of the yield curve, credit spreads, lender haircuts, and prepayment speeds. In performing these analyses, we will also consider the current
state of the fixed income markets and the repurchase agreement markets in order to determine if market forces such as supply-demand imbalances or structural changes to these
markets could change the liquidity of MBS or the availability of financing. The objective of our analyses is to assess the adequacy of our liquidity to withstand potential adverse
events, such as the current COVID-19 pandemic. We may change our leverage targets based on market conditions and our perceptions of the liquidity of our investments. Our leverage,
which we calculate using total liabilities plus the cost basis of TBA long positions, was 6.7x shareholders’ equity as of June 30, 2021 compared to 6.3x as of December 31, 2020. The
increase in leverage during the first six months of 2021 resulted from a 50% increase in the cost basis of our investment in TBA securities as of June 30, 2021 compared to December
31, 2020. This increase was partially offset by a 19% increase in our equity, which increased primarily as a result of capital raises during the first half of 2021. We include our TBA
long positions in evaluating the Company’s leverage because it is possible under certain market conditions that it may be uneconomical for us to roll a TBA long position into future
months, which may result in us having to take physical delivery of the underlying securities and use cash or other financing sources to fund our total purchase commitment.
Management expects leverage to increase modestly over the next 6 months given current expectations of market conditions. In general, our leverage will increase if we are able to
purchase investments with higher expected returns than currently exist today.

Our repurchase agreement borrowings are principally uncommitted with terms renewable at the discretion of our lenders and have short-term maturities. As such, we attempt
to maintain unused capacity under our existing repurchase agreement credit lines with multiple counterparties, which helps protect us in the event of a counterparty's failure to renew
existing repurchase agreements. As part of our continuous evaluation of counterparty risk, we maintain our highest counterparty exposures with broker dealer subsidiaries of regulated
financial institutions or primary dealers whom we believe are better capitalized and more durable counterparties.

The following table presents information regarding the balances of our repurchase agreement borrowings as of and for the periods indicated:

Repurchase Agreements

($s in thousands)
Balance Outstanding As of

Quarter End
Average Balance Outstanding

For the Quarter Ended

Maximum Balance
Outstanding During the

Quarter Ended
June 30, 2021 $ 2,321,043  $ 2,155,200  $ 2,415,037 
March 31, 2021 2,032,089  2,158,121  2,437,163 
December 31, 2020 2,437,163  2,500,639  2,594,683 
September 30, 2020 2,594,683  2,984,946  3,314,991 
June 30, 2020 3,314,991  2,580,296  4,408,106 
March 31, 2020 4,408,106  4,701,010  4,917,731 
December 31, 2019 4,752,348  4,806,826  4,891,341 

For our repurchase agreement borrowings, we are required to post and maintain margin to the lender (i.e., collateral in excess of the repurchase agreement financing) in order
to support the amount of the financing. This excess collateral is often referred to as a “haircut” and is intended to provide the lender some protection against fluctuations in fair value of
the collateral and/or the failure by us to repay the borrowing at maturity. Lenders have the right to change haircut requirements at maturity of the repurchase agreement (if the term is
renewed) and may change their haircuts based on market conditions and
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the perceived riskiness of the collateral pledged. If the fair value of the collateral falls below the haircut required by the lender, the lender has the right to demand additional margin, or
collateral, to increase the haircut back to the initial amount. These demands are typically referred to as “margin calls”, and if we fail to meet any margin call, our lenders have the right
to terminate the repurchase agreement and sell any collateral pledged. Declines in the fair value of investments occur for any number of reasons including but not limited to changes in
interest rates, changes in ratings on an investment, changes in actual or perceived liquidity of the investment, or changes in overall market risk perceptions. Additionally, Fannie Mae
and Freddie Mac announce principal payments on Agency MBS in advance of their actual remittance of principal payments, and repurchase agreement lenders generally make margin
calls for an amount equal to the product of their advance rate on the repurchase agreement and the announced principal payments on the Agency RMBS. A margin call made by a
lender reduces our liquidity until we receive the principal payments from Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac. The weighted average haircut for our borrowings collateralized with Agency
RMBS and Agency CMBS typically averages less than 5% while CMBS IO averages between 13-16%.

The collateral we post in excess of our repurchase agreement borrowing with any counterparty is also typically referred to by us as “equity at risk”, which represents the
potential loss to the Company if the counterparty is unable or unwilling to return collateral securing the repurchase agreement borrowing at its maturity. The counterparties with whom
we have the greatest amounts of equity at risk may vary significantly during any given period due to the short-term and generally uncommitted nature of the repurchase agreement
borrowings. As of June 30, 2021, the Company had repurchase agreement amounts outstanding with 23 of its 37 available repurchase agreement counterparties and did not have more
than 5% of equity at risk with any counterparty or group of related counterparties.

We have various financial and operating covenants in certain of our repurchase agreements including, among other things, requirements that we maintain minimum
shareholders' equity (usually a set minimum, or a percentage of the highest amount of shareholders' equity since the date of the agreement), limits on maximum decline in shareholders'
equity (expressed as a percentage decline in any given period), limits on maximum leverage (as a multiple of shareholders' equity), and requirements to maintain our status as a REIT
under the Internal Revenue Code of 1986 and the corresponding provisions of state law and to maintain our listing on the New York Stock Exchange. Violations of one or more of
these covenants could result in the lender declaring an event of default which would result in the termination of the repurchase agreement and immediate acceleration of amounts due
thereunder. In addition, some of the agreements contain cross default features, whereby default with one lender simultaneously causes default under agreements with other
lenders. Violations could also restrict us from paying dividends or engaging in other transactions that are necessary for us to maintain our REIT status.

We monitor and evaluate on an ongoing basis the impact these customary financial covenants may have on our operating and financing flexibility. Currently, we do not
believe we are subject to any covenants that materially restrict our financing flexibility. We were in full compliance with our debt covenants as of June 30, 2021, and we are not aware
of any circumstances which could potentially result in our non-compliance in the foreseeable future.

Derivative Instruments

We use certain types of financial instruments that are accounted for as derivative instruments, including interest rate swaps, futures, options, and long and short positions in
TBA securities. Certain of these derivative instruments may require us to post initial margin at inception and daily variation margin based on subsequent changes in their fair value.
The collateral posted as margin by us is typically in the form of cash or Agency MBS. Counterparties may have to post variation margin to us. Generally, as interest rates decline, we
will be required to post collateral with counterparties on our interest rate derivatives and vice versa as interest rates increase. As of June 30, 2021, we had received cash collateral of
$9.3 million from our counterparties under these agreements.

Our TBA contracts are subject to master securities forward transaction agreements published by the Securities Industry and Financial Markets Association as well as
supplemental terms and conditions with each counterparty. Under the terms of these agreements, we may be required to pledge collateral to, or have the right to receive collateral from,
our counterparties when initiated or in the event the fair value of our TBA contracts declines. As of June 30, 2021, we had cash of $85.3 million posted as collateral under these
agreements. Declines in the fair value of TBA contracts are generally related to such factors as rising interest rates, increases in expected prepayment speeds, or widening spreads. Our
TBA contracts generally provide that valuations for our TBA contracts and any pledged collateral are to be obtained from a generally recognized source agreed to by both
parties. However, in certain circumstances, our counterparties have the sole discretion to determine the value of the TBA contract and any pledged collateral. In such instances, our
counterparties are required to act
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in good faith in making determinations of value. In the event of a margin call, we must generally provide additional collateral on the same business day.

Dividends

As a REIT, we are required to distribute to our shareholders amounts equal to at least 90% of our REIT taxable income for each taxable year after certain deductions. We
generally fund our dividend distributions through our cash flows from operations. If we make dividend distributions in excess of our operating cash flows during the period, whether
for purposes of meeting our REIT distribution requirements or other strategic reasons, those distributions are generally funded either through our existing cash balances or through the
return of principal from our investments (either through repayment or sale). Please refer to "Federal Income Tax Considerations" within Part I, Item 1, "Business" as well as Part I,
Item 1A, “Risk Factors” of our 2020 Form 10-K for additional important information regarding dividends declared on our taxable income.

Contractual Obligations and Other Matters

As of June 30, 2021, we do not have any material contractual obligations other than the short-term repurchase agreement amounts discussed above, nor do we believe that any
off-balance sheet arrangements exist that are reasonably likely to have a material effect on our current or future financial condition, results of operations, or liquidity other than as
discussed above. In addition, we do not have any material commitments for capital expenditures and have not obtained any commitments for funds to fulfill any capital obligations.

RECENT ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS

There were no accounting pronouncements issued during the six months ended June  30, 2021 that are expected to have a material impact on the Company’s financial
condition or results of operations. Please refer to Note 1 of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements contained within Part I, Item 1 of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q
for additional information.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES

The discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations are based in large part upon our consolidated financial statements, which have been prepared
in accordance with GAAP. The preparation of our consolidated financial statements requires management to make estimates, judgments and assumptions that affect the reported
amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities. We base these estimates and judgments on historical experience and assumptions
believed to be reasonable under current facts and circumstances. Actual results, however, may differ from the estimated amounts we have recorded.

Critical accounting estimates are defined as those that require management's most difficult, subjective or complex judgments, and which may result in materially different
results under different assumptions and conditions. Our critical accounting estimates are discussed in Part II, Item 7, “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition
and Results of Operations” of our 2020 Form 10-K under “Critical Accounting Estimates.” There have been no significant changes in our critical accounting estimates during the three
months ended June 30, 2021.

FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

Certain written statements in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q that are not historical facts constitute “forward-looking statements” within the meaning of Section 27A of
the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”). Statements in this report addressing expectations,
assumptions, beliefs, projections, future plans and strategies, future events, developments that we expect or anticipate will occur in the future, and future operating results, capital
management, and dividend policy are forward-looking statements. Forward-looking statements are based upon management’s beliefs, assumptions, and expectations as of the date
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of this report regarding future events and operating performance, taking into account all information currently available to us, and are applicable only as of the date of this
report. Forward-looking statements generally can be identified by use of words such as “believe”, “expect”, “anticipate”, “estimate”, “plan”, “may”, “will”, “intend”, “should”, “could”
or similar expressions. We caution readers not to place undue reliance on our forward-looking statements, which are not historical facts and may be based on projections, assumptions,
expectations, and anticipated events that do not materialize. Except as required by law, we are not obligated to, and do not intend to, update or revise any forward-looking statement
whether as a result of new information, future events, or otherwise.

Forward-looking statements in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q may include, but are not limited to statements about:
• Our business and investment strategy including our ability to generate acceptable risk-adjusted returns and our target investment allocations, and our views on the future

performance of MBS and other investments;
• Our views on the macroeconomic environment, monetary and fiscal policy, and conditions in the investment, credit, and derivatives markets;
• Our views on the effect of actual or proposed actions of the Federal Reserve, the FOMC, or other central banks with respect to monetary policy (including the targeted Federal

Funds Rate), and the potential impact of these actions on interest rates, inflation or unemployment;
• The effect of regulatory initiatives of the Federal Reserve (including the FOMC), the FHFA, other financial regulators, and other central banks;
• Our financing strategy including our target leverage ratios, our use of TBA dollar roll transactions, and anticipated trends in financing costs including TBA dollar roll

transaction costs, and our hedging strategy including changes to the derivative instruments to which we are a party, and changes to government regulation of hedging
instruments and our use of these instruments;

• Our investment portfolio composition and target investments;
• Our investment portfolio performance, including the fair value, yields, and forecasted prepayment speeds of our investments;
• The impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on the economy, as well as certain actions taken by federal, state and local governments in response to the pandemic, and on

delinquencies in loans underlying our investments;
• Our liquidity and ability to access financing, and the anticipated availability and cost of financing;
• Our capital stock activity including the impact of stock issuances and repurchases;
• The amount, timing, and funding of future dividends;
• Our use of our tax NOL carryforward and other tax loss carryforwards;;
• The status of pending litigation;
• The competitive environment in the future, including competition for investments and the availability of financing;
• Estimates of future interest expenses, including related to the Company’s repurchase agreements and derivative instruments;
• The status and effect of legislative reforms and regulatory rule-making or review processes, and the status of reform efforts and other business developments in the repurchase

agreement financing market;
• Market, industry and economic trends, and how these trends and related economic data may impact the behavior of market participants and financial regulators;
• The financial position and credit worthiness of the depository institutions in which the Company’s MBS and cash deposits are held;
• The impact of applicable tax and accounting requirements on the us including our tax treatment of derivative instruments such as TBAs, interest rate swaps, options and

futures;
• Our future compliance with covenants in our master repurchase agreements, ISDA agreements, and debt covenants in our other contractual agreements;
• Market interest rates and market spreads; and
• Possible future effects of the COVID-19 pandemic.

Forward-looking statements are inherently subject to risks, uncertainties and other factors that could cause our actual results to differ materially from historical results or from
any results expressed or implied by such forward-looking statements. Not all of these risks and other factors are known to us. New risks and uncertainties arise over time, and it is not
possible to predict those events or how they may affect us. The projections, assumptions, expectations or beliefs upon which the forward-looking statements are based can also change
as a result of these risks or other factors. If such a risk or other factor materializes in future periods, our business, financial condition, liquidity and results of operations may vary
materially from those expressed or implied in our forward-looking statements.
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While it is not possible to identify all factors that may cause actual results to differ from historical results or from any results expressed or implied by forward-looking
statements, or that may cause our projections, assumptions, expectations or beliefs to change, some of those factors include the following:

• the risks and uncertainties referenced in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, especially those incorporated by reference into Part II, Item 1A, “Risk Factors,” and in
particular, adverse effects of the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic and any governmental or societal responses thereto, including the efficacy, distribution, availability and
adoption rates of vaccines for COVID-19 and variants thereof;

• our ability to find suitable reinvestment opportunities;
• changes in domestic economic conditions;
• changes in interest rates and interest rate spreads, including the repricing of interest-earning assets and interest-bearing liabilities;
• our investment portfolio performance particularly as it relates to cash flow, prepayment rates and credit performance;
• the impact on markets and asset prices from changes in the Federal Reserve’s policies regarding the purchases of Agency RMBS, Agency CMBS, and U.S. Treasuries;
• actual or anticipated changes in Federal Reserve monetary policy or the monetary policy of other central banks;
• adverse reactions in U.S. financial markets related to actions of foreign central banks or the economic performance of foreign economies including in particular China, Japan,

the European Union, and the United Kingdom;
• uncertainty concerning the long-term fiscal health and stability of the United States;
• the cost and availability of financing, including the future availability of financing due to changes to regulation of, and capital requirements imposed upon, financial

institutions;
• the cost and availability of new equity capital;
• changes in our use of leverage;
• changes to our investment strategy, operating policies, dividend policy or asset allocations;
• the quality of performance of third-party servicer providers of our loans and loans underlying our securities;
• the level of defaults by borrowers on loans underlying MBS that we have purchased, or on loans which we have securitized;
• changes in our industry;
• increased competition;
• changes in government regulations affecting our business;
• changes or volatility in the repurchase agreement financing markets and other credit markets;
• changes to the market for interest rate swaps and other derivative instruments, including changes to margin requirements on derivative instruments;
• uncertainty regarding continued government support of the U.S. financial system and U.S. housing and real estate markets, or to reform the U.S. housing finance system

including the resolution of the conservatorship of Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac;
• the composition of the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System;
• systems failures or cybersecurity incidents; and
• exposure to current and future claims and litigation.

ITEM 3.    QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

Market risk is the exposure to losses resulting from changes in market factors. Our business strategy exposes us to a variety of market risks, including interest rate, spread,
prepayment, credit, liquidity, and reinvestment risks. These risks can and do cause fluctuations in our liquidity, comprehensive income and book value as discussed below.
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Interest Rate Risk

Investing in interest-rate sensitive investments such as MBS and TBA securities subjects us to interest rate risk. Interest rate risk results from investing in securities that have a
fixed coupon or when the coupon may not immediately adjust for changes in interest rates. Interest rate risk also results from the mismatch between the duration of our assets versus
the duration of our liabilities and hedges. The amount of the impact will depend on the composition of our portfolio, our hedging strategy, the effectiveness of our hedging instruments
as well as the magnitude and the duration of the increase in interest rates.

We attempt to manage our exposure to changes in interest rates by entering into interest rate hedging instruments to mitigate the impact of changing interest rates on the
market value of our assets. In prior periods, we have also used interest rate hedges to mitigate the impact of changing interest rates on our interest expense from repurchase agreements
used to finance our investments. Given current FOMC monetary policy, management anticipates funding costs to remain low and stable in the near-term, and as such, we are not
currently hedging our repurchase agreement financing costs.

We manage interest rate risk within tolerances set by our Board of Directors.  Our hedging techniques are highly complex and are partly based on assumed levels of
prepayments of our assets. If prepayments are slower or faster than assumed, the maturity of our investments will also differ from our expectations, which could reduce the
effectiveness of our hedging strategies and may cause losses on such transactions and adversely affect our cash flow. Estimates of prepayment speeds can vary significantly by investor
for the same security, and therefore estimates of security and portfolio duration can vary significantly.

Changes in types of our investments, the returns earned on these investments, future interest rates, credit spreads, the shape of the yield curve, the availability of financing,
and/or the mix of our investments and financings including derivative instruments may cause actual results to differ significantly from the modeled results shown in the tables
below. There can be no assurance that assumed events used to model the results shown below will occur, or that other events will not occur, that will affect the outcomes; therefore, the
modeled results shown in the tables below and all related disclosures constitute forward-looking statements.

The table below shows the projected sensitivity of our net interest income as of the dates indicated assuming an instantaneous parallel shift in interest rates and no changes in
the composition of our investment portfolio:

Projected Change in Net Interest Income Due To
Decrease in Interest Rates of Increase in Interest Rates of

50 Basis Points 25 Basis Points 25 Basis Points 50 Basis Points
June 30, 2021 1.9 % (7.3)% (15.6)%
December 31, 2020 0.4 % (5.9)% (12.9)%

(1) Because the Company does not assume financing rates will be less than 0%, a parallel downward shift in interest rates of 50 basis points is not presented.

The projected sensitivity to changes in interest rates on our net interest income shown in the table above as of June 30, 2021 has increased compared to December 31, 2020
because the higher interest rates as of June 30, 2021 result in the projected prepayment speed for our Agency RMBS not slowing as much as it did as of December 31, 2020, which
decreased the benefit of lower amortization expense compared to December 31, 2020.

The table below shows the projected sensitivity of the market value of our financial instruments and the percentage change in shareholders’ equity assuming an instantaneous
parallel shift in market interest rates as of the dates indicated:

(1)

(1)
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June 30, 2021
Decrease in Interest Rates of Increase in Interest Rates of

100 Basis Points 50 Basis Points 50 Basis Points 100 Basis Points
Type of
Instrument 

% of Market
Value

% of Common
Equity

% of Market
Value

% of Common
Equity

% of Market
Value

% of Common
Equity

% of Market
Value

% of Common
Equity

RMBS 3.7 % 17.1 % 2.4 % 11.1 % (3.0)% (13.7)% (6.1)% (28.4)%
CMBS 0.3 % 1.5 % 0.2 % 0.8 % (0.2)% (0.8)% (0.3)% (1.6)%
CMBS IO 0.2 % 0.9 % 0.1 % 0.6 % (0.1)% (0.6)% (0.3)% (1.2)%
TBAs 2.8 % 13.0 % 2.0 % 9.2 % (2.7)% (12.4)% (5.6)% (25.9)%
Interest rate hedges (9.9)% (46.0)% (5.2)% (24.1)% 5.8 % 27.0 % 11.9 % 55.3 %

Total (2.9)% (13.5)% (0.5)% (2.4)% (0.2)% (0.5)% (0.4)% (1.8)%

December 31, 2020
Decrease in Interest Rates by Increase in Interest Rates by

100 Basis Points 50 Basis Points 50 Basis Points 100 Basis Points
Type of
Instrument 

% of Market
Value

% of Common
Equity

% of Market
Value

% of Common
Equity

% of Market
Value

% of Common
Equity

% of Market
Value

% of Common
Equity

RMBS 1.1 % 6.5 % 0.9 % 5.5 % (1.7)% (10.1)% (3.9)% (22.5)%
CMBS 0.3 % 1.9 % 0.2 % 1.4 % (0.3)% (1.5)% (0.5)% (3.0)%
CMBS IO 0.2 % 0.9 % 0.1 % 0.8 % (0.2)% (1.1)% (0.4)% (2.1)%
TBAs 0.9 % 5.2 % 0.8 % 4.6 % (1.5)% (8.9)% (3.4)% (19.6)%
Interest rate hedges (3.4)% (19.6)% (1.9)% (11.0)% 3.4 % 19.9 % 7.5 % 43.4 %

Total (0.9)% (5.1)% 0.1 % 1.3 % (0.3)% (1.7)% (0.7)% (3.8)%

(1) Changes in market value of our financings are excluded because they are not carried at fair value on our balance sheet. The projections for market value do not assume any
change in credit spreads.

The projected sensitivity of the market value of our portfolio to a downward parallel shift in interest rates increased as of June 30, 2021 compared to December 31, 2020
because we held a higher notional balance of hedges as of June 30, 2021 to help cushion a loss in fair value of our assets in a steepening yield curve environment. Please refer to
“Executive Overview” in Item 2, “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” for information on management’s economic outlook.

Management also considers changes in the shape of the interest rate curves in assessing and managing portfolio interest rate risk. Often interest rates do not move in a parallel
fashion from quarter to quarter (as can be seen by the graphs for U.S, Treasury and swap rates in Item 2. “Executive Overview”). The table below shows the percentage change in
projected market value of our financial instruments for instantaneous changes in the shape of the U.S. Treasury (“UST”) curve (with similar changes to the interest rate swap curves) as
of the dates indicated:

(1)

(1)
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June 30, 2021 December 31, 2020
Basis Point Change in Percentage Change in Percentage Change in

2-year UST 10-year UST
Market Value of
Investments 

Common
Equity

Market Value of
Investments 

Common
Equity

+25 +50 (0.3)% (1.6)% (0.1)% (0.4)%
+50 +25 0.1 % 0.3 % (0.5)% (2.7)%
+50 +100 (1.0)% (4.5)% (0.2)% (1.2)%

0 -25 0.1 % 0.4 % 0.1 % 0.8 %
-10 -50 (0.1)% (0.2)% 0.3 % 1.9 %
-25 -75 (0.8)% (3.6)% 0.2 % 1.1 %

(1) Includes changes in market value of our investments and derivative instruments, including TBA securities, but excludes changes in market value of our financings which are not
carried at fair value on our balance sheet due to their short-term maturities. The projections for market value do not assume any change in credit spreads.

Spread Risk

Spread risk is the risk of loss from an increase in the market spread between the yield on an investment versus its benchmark index. Changes in market spreads represent the
market's valuation of the perceived riskiness of an asset relative to risk-free rates, and widening spreads reduce the market value of our investments as market participants require
additional yield to hold riskier assets. Market spreads could change based on macroeconomic or systemic factors as well as the factors specific to a particular security such as
prepayment performance or credit performance. Other factors that could impact credit spreads include technical issues such as supply and demand for a particular type of security or
FOMC monetary policy. Likewise, most of our investments are fixed-rate or reset in rate over a period of time, and as interest rates rise, we would expect the market value of these
investments to decrease. We do not hedge spread risk given the complexity of hedging credit spreads and in our opinion, the lack of liquid instruments available to use as hedges.

Fluctuations in spreads typically vary based on the type of investment. Sensitivity to changes in market spreads is derived from models that are dependent on various
assumptions, and actual changes in market value in response to changes in market spreads could differ materially from the projected sensitivity if actual conditions differ from these
assumptions.

The Company's exposure to changes to market spreads did not materially shift as of June 30, 2021 versus December 31, 2020. The table below shows the projected sensitivity
of the market value of our investments given the indicated change in market spreads as of the dates indicated:

June 30, 2021 December 31, 2020
Percentage Change in Percentage Change in

Basis Point Change in Market Spreads
Market Value of
Investments 

Common
Equity

Market Value of
Investments 

Common
Equity

+20/+50 (2.3)% (10.9)% (1.6)% (9.5)%
+10 (1.1)% (5.2)% (0.8)% (4.4)%
-10 1.1 % 5.2 % 0.8 % 4.4 %
-20/-50 2.3 % 10.9 % 1.6 % 9.5 %

(1) Includes changes in market value of our MBS investments, including TBA securities.
(2) Assumes a 20-basis point shift in Agency and non-Agency RMBS and CMBS and a 50-basis point shift in Agency

and non-Agency CMBS IO.

(1) (1)

(1) (1)

(2)

 (2)
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Prepayment Risk

Prepayment risk is the risk of an early, unscheduled return of principal on an investment. We are subject to prepayment risk from premiums paid on investments, which are
amortized as a reduction in interest income using the effective yield method under GAAP. Our comprehensive income and book value per common share may also be negatively
impacted by prepayments if the fair value of the investment materially exceeds the par balance of the underlying security. Principal prepayments on our investments are influenced by
changes in market interest rates and a variety of economic, geographic, government policy and other factors beyond our control, including GSE policy with respect to loan forbearance
and delinquent loan buy-outs.

Loans underlying our CMBS and CMBS IO securities typically have some form of prepayment protection provisions (such as prepayment lock-outs) or prepayment
compensation provisions (such as yield maintenance or prepayment penalties). Because CMBS IO consist of rights to interest on the underlying commercial mortgage loan pools and
do not have rights to principal payments on the underlying loans, prepayment risk on these securities is particularly acute without these prepayment protection provisions. There are no
prepayment protections if the loan defaults and is partially or wholly repaid earlier as a result of loss mitigation actions taken by the underlying loan servicer. Loans in non-Agency
CMBS IO securities which are collateralized by income producing properties such as retail shopping centers, hotels, multifamily apartments and office buildings are at a higher risk of
default as a result of the economic impact of the COVID-19 pandemic. Over the last several years, we have not experienced material defaults on CMBS IO loans in our portfolio;
however, the ultimate impact on the economy and commercial real estate performance and market values from the COVID-19 pandemic, and correspondingly loan defaults, is
currently unknown. Please refer to Item 2, “Financial Condition-CMBS IO” for additional information on the composition of the Company’s investment in CMBS IO.

We seek to manage our prepayment risk on our MBS by diversifying our investments, seeking investments which we believe will have superior prepayment performance, and
investing in securities which have some sort of prepayment prohibition or yield maintenance (as is the case with CMBS and CMBS IO). With respect to RMBS, we have invested
substantially in lower coupon securities with approximately 85% of our capital in securities with a coupon of 2.5% or lower as of June 30, 2021. We also tend to favor securities in
which we believe the underlying borrowers have some disincentive to refinance as a result of the size of each loan’s principal balance, credit characteristics of the borrower, or
geographic location of the property, among other factors, which we estimate represents approximately 90% of our Agency RMBS investment as of June 30, 2021.

Credit Risk

Credit risk is the risk that we will not receive all contractual amounts due on investments that we own due to default by the borrower or due to a deficiency in proceeds from
the liquidation of the collateral securing the obligation. Credit losses on loans could result in lower or negative yields on our investments.

Agency RMBS and Agency CMBS have credit risk to the extent that Fannie Mae or Freddie Mac fails to remit payments on the MBS for which they have issued a guaranty of
payment. Given the improved financial performance and conservatorship of these entities and the continued support of the U.S. government, we believe this risk is low.

Agency and non-Agency CMBS IO represent the right to excess interest and not principal on the underlying loans. These securities are exposed to the loss of investment basis
in the event a loan collateralizing the security liquidates without paying yield maintenance or prepayment penalty. This will typically occur when the underlying loan is in default and
proceeds from the disposition of the loan collateral are insufficient to pay the prepayment consideration. To mitigate credit risk of investing in CMBS IO, we invest in primarily AAA-
rated securities in senior tranches, which means we receive the highest payment priority and are the last to absorb losses in the event of a shortfall in cash flows.  

Liquidity Risk

We have liquidity risk principally from the use of recourse repurchase agreements to finance our ownership of securities. Our repurchase agreements are renewable at the
discretion of our lenders and do not contain guaranteed roll-over terms. If we fail to repay the lender at maturity, the lender has the right to immediately sell the collateral and pursue us
for any shortfall if the sales proceeds are inadequate to cover the repurchase agreement financing. In addition, declines in the
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market value of our investments pledged as collateral for repurchase agreement borrowings may result in counterparties initiating margin calls for additional collateral.

Our use of TBA long positions as a means of investing in and financing Agency RMBS also exposes us to liquidity risk in the event that we are unable to roll or terminate our
TBA contracts prior to their settlement date. If we are unable to roll or terminate our TBA long positions, we could be required to take physical delivery of the underlying securities and
settle our obligations for cash, which could negatively impact our liquidity position or force us to sell assets under adverse conditions if financing is not available to us on acceptable
terms.

For further information, including how we attempt to mitigate liquidity risk and monitor our liquidity position and in particular, during the current economic crisis, please
refer to “Liquidity and Capital Resources” in Item 2 of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q.

Reinvestment Risk

We are subject to reinvestment risk as a result of the prepayment, repayment and sales of our investments. In order to maintain our investment portfolio size and our earnings,
we need to reinvest capital received from these events into new interest-earning assets or TBA securities. Market yields on new investments are substantially lower than the
investments we sold in March. As such, we expect new assets that we add at lower yields than the investments sold will lower our interest income in the near future. In addition, based
on market conditions, our leverage, and our liquidity profile, we may decide to not reinvest the cash flows we receive from our investment portfolio even when attractive reinvestment
opportunities are available, or we may decide to reinvest in assets with lower yield but greater liquidity. If we retain capital or pay dividends to return capital to shareholders rather than
reinvest capital, or if we invest capital in lower yielding assets for liquidity reasons, the size of our investment portfolio and the amount of income generated by our investment
portfolio will likely decline.

ITEM 4.    CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Our management evaluated, with the participation of our principal executive officer and principal financial officer, the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures,
as defined in Exchange Act Rule 13a-15(e), as of the end of the period covered by this report. Based on that evaluation, our principal executive officer and principal financial officer
concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures were effective as of June 30, 2021 to ensure that information required to be disclosed in the reports that we file or submit under
the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and reported, within the time periods specified in the SEC’s rules and forms, and that such information is accumulated and
communicated to our management, including our principal executive officer and principal financial officer, as appropriate, to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure.

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting

There were no changes in our internal control over financial reporting during the three months ended June  30, 2021 that materially affected, or are reasonably likely to
materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.
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PART II.    OTHER INFORMATION

ITEM 1.    LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

With respect to the claim of $11.3 million against the Company discussed in the Company’s 2020 Form 10-K (the "Receiver Litigation”) which alleges that the Company
breached a litigation cost sharing agreement, there were no material developments during the three months ended June 30, 2021.

The Company records a contingent liability when, in the opinion of management, the likelihood of loss is probable and the amount of the loss can be reasonably estimated.
After consultation with litigation counsel, the Company believes, based upon information currently available and its evaluation of applicable state law that the likelihood of loss in
connection with the Receiver Litigation is not probable, and given the range of potential claims for damages by the Company to offset the Receiver's claims, the amount of possible
loss in the Receiver Litigation cannot be reasonably estimated and, therefore, no contingent liability has been recorded for either matter.

The Company believes that the Receiver Litigation will be resolved without a material adverse effect on the Company’s consolidated financial statements as a whole. The
outcome, however, of any legal proceeding, including this matter, cannot be predicted with certainty. As such, no assurances can be given that the Company will be successful in its
defense of this action on the merits or otherwise. If the Company is not successful in its defense efforts, the resolution of this matter could have a material adverse effect on the
Company’s consolidated financial statements in a future reporting period.

Other than as described above, to the Company’s knowledge, there are no pending or threatened legal proceedings, the resolution of which, in management’s opinion,
individually or in the aggregate, could have a material adverse effect on the Company’s results of operations or financial condition.

ITEM 1A.    RISK FACTORS

There have been no material changes from the risk factors discussed in Part I, Item 1A, “Risk Factors” of our 2020 Form 10-K. Risks and uncertainties identified in our
forward-looking statements contained in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q together with those previously disclosed in the 2020 Form 10-K or those that are presently unforeseen
could result in significant adverse effects on our financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.  See “Forward-Looking Statements” contained in Part I, Item 2,
“Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q as well as Part I, Item 1A, “Risk Factors” in our
2020 Form 10-K.

ITEM 2.    UNREGISTERED SALES OF EQUITY SECURITIES AND USE OF PROCEEDS

Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities

        The Company’s Board of Directors has authorized the repurchase of up to $40 million of the Company’s outstanding shares of common stock and up to $40 million of the
Company’s Series C Preferred Stock through March 31, 2022. Subject to applicable securities laws and the terms of the Series C Preferred Stock, which are contained in our Restated
Articles of Incorporation, future repurchases of common stock will be made at times and in amounts as the Company deems appropriate, provided that the repurchase price per share is
less than the Company's estimate of the current net book value of a share of common stock. Repurchases may be suspended or discontinued at any time. The following table
summarizes repurchases of our common stock that occurred during the three months ended June 30, 2021:
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Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities

Total Number of Shares Average Price Paid per Share

Total Number of Shares
Purchased as Part of Publicly

Announced Plans or Programs

Maximum Number (or
Approximate Dollar Value) of

Shares that May Yet Be
Purchased Under the Plans or

Programs
($s in thousands)

April 1 - 30, 2021 —  $ —  —  $ 39,834 
May 1 - 31, 2021 22,016  —  —  39,834 
June 1 - 30, 2021 —  —  —  39,834 

22,016  $ —  — 

(1) These shares were withheld from certain employees to satisfy tax withholding obligations arising upon the vesting of restricted shares. Accordingly, these shares are not included in
the calculation of approximate dollar value of shares that may yet be purchased under the $40 million repurchase plan authorized by the Company's Board of Directors.

ITEM 3.    DEFAULTS UPON SENIOR SECURITIES

None.

ITEM 4.    MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES
        

None.

ITEM 5.    OTHER INFORMATION

None.

 (1)
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ITEM 6.    EXHIBITS
Exhibit No. Description

3.1 Restated Articles of Incorporation, effective May 14, 2021 (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to Dynex's Current Report on Form 8-K filed May
18, 2021).

3.2 Amended and Restated Bylaws, effective as of May 11, 2021 (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 3.2 to Dynex’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed May
12, 2021).

4.1 Specimen of Common Stock Certificate (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to Dynex's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended
September 30, 2019).

4.3 Specimen of 6.900% Series C Fixed-to-Floating Rate Cumulative Redeemable Preferred Stock Certificate (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 4.4 to
Dynex's Registration Statement on Form 8-A12B filed February 18, 2020).

10.23.7 Amendment No. 7 to Master Repurchase and Securities Contract dated as of June 8, 2021 between Issued Holdings Capital Corporation, Dynex Capital, Inc. (as
guarantor) and Wells Fargo Bank, N.A. (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.23.7 to Dynex’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed June 9, 2021).

10.40 Dynex Capital, Inc. Annual Cash Incentive Plan, amended and restated effective as of January 1, 2021 (filed herewith).
10.41.1 Form of Restricted Stock Agreement for Non-Employee Directors (approved May 11, 2021) under the Dynex Capital, Inc. 2020 Stock and Incentive Plan (filed

herewith).
10.41.2 Form of Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement for Executive Officers (for awards on or after May 26, 2021) under the Dynex Capital, Inc. 2020 Stock and

Incentive Plan (filed herewith).
10.41.3 Form of Performance Unit Award Agreement for Executive Officers (for awards on or after May 26, 2021) under the Dynex Capital, Inc. 2020 Stock and

Incentive Plan (filed herewith).
31.1 Certification of principal executive officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (filed herewith).
31.2 Certification of principal financial officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (filed herewith).
32.1 Certification of principal executive officer and principal financial officer pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (filed herewith).
101 The following materials from Dynex Capital, Inc.'s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the three months ended June 30, 2021, formatted in iXBRL (Inline

Extensible Business Reporting Language), filed herewith: (i) Consolidated Balance Sheets, (ii) Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income (Loss), (iii)
Consolidated Statements of Shareholders’ Equity, (iv) Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows, and (v) Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

104 The cover page from Dynex Capital, Inc.'s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the three months ended June 30, 2021, formatted in iXBRL (Inline Extensible
Business Reporting Language) (included with Exhibit 101).

55

https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/826675/000082667521000041/exhibit31restatedarticleso.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/826675/000082667521000038/ex-32amendedandrestatedbyl.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/826675/000082667521000038/ex-32amendedandrestatedbyl.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/826675/000082667519000053/exhibit41.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/826675/000110465920022487/tm209286d1_ex4-4.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/826675/000110465920022487/tm209286d1_ex4-4.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/826675/000082667521000044/exh10237amendmentno7todyne.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/826675/000082667521000044/exh10237amendmentno7todyne.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/826675/000082667521000044/exh10237amendmentno7todyne.htm
https://content.equisolve.net/dynexcapital/sec/0000826675-21-000073/for_pdf/exh1040annualcashincentive.htm
https://content.equisolve.net/dynexcapital/sec/0000826675-21-000073/for_pdf/exh1040annualcashincentive.htm
https://content.equisolve.net/dynexcapital/sec/0000826675-21-000073/for_pdf/exh1040annualcashincentive.htm
https://content.equisolve.net/dynexcapital/sec/0000826675-21-000073/for_pdf/exh1040annualcashincentive.htm
https://content.equisolve.net/dynexcapital/sec/0000826675-21-000073/for_pdf/exh1040annualcashincentive.htm
https://content.equisolve.net/dynexcapital/sec/0000826675-21-000073/for_pdf/ex10411.htm
https://content.equisolve.net/dynexcapital/sec/0000826675-21-000073/for_pdf/ex10411.htm
https://content.equisolve.net/dynexcapital/sec/0000826675-21-000073/for_pdf/ex10411.htm
https://content.equisolve.net/dynexcapital/sec/0000826675-21-000073/for_pdf/exh10412rsuagreement2020pl.htm
https://content.equisolve.net/dynexcapital/sec/0000826675-21-000073/for_pdf/exh10412rsuagreement2020pl.htm
https://content.equisolve.net/dynexcapital/sec/0000826675-21-000073/for_pdf/exh10412rsuagreement2020pl.htm
https://content.equisolve.net/dynexcapital/sec/0000826675-21-000073/for_pdf/exh10412rsuagreement2020pl.htm
https://content.equisolve.net/dynexcapital/sec/0000826675-21-000073/for_pdf/exh10413psuagreement2020pl.htm
https://content.equisolve.net/dynexcapital/sec/0000826675-21-000073/for_pdf/exh10413psuagreement2020pl.htm
https://content.equisolve.net/dynexcapital/sec/0000826675-21-000073/for_pdf/exh10413psuagreement2020pl.htm
https://content.equisolve.net/dynexcapital/sec/0000826675-21-000073/for_pdf/exh10413psuagreement2020pl.htm
https://content.equisolve.net/dynexcapital/sec/0000826675-21-000073/for_pdf/a2q21ex-311ceocertification.htm
https://content.equisolve.net/dynexcapital/sec/0000826675-21-000073/for_pdf/a2q21ex-312cfocertification.htm
https://content.equisolve.net/dynexcapital/sec/0000826675-21-000073/for_pdf/a2q21ex-321soxcertification.htm


SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the
undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

DYNEX CAPITAL, INC.

Date: August 2, 2021 /s/ Byron L. Boston
Byron L. Boston
Chief Executive Officer, Co-Chief Investment Officer,
and Director
(Principal Executive Officer)

Date: August 2, 2021 /s/ Stephen J. Benedetti
Stephen J. Benedetti
Executive Vice President, Chief Financial Officer and Chief Operating Office
(Principal Financial Officer)
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Exhibit 10.40

DYNEX CAPITAL, INC.
ANNUAL CASH INCENTIVE PLAN

(amended and restated effective as of January 1, 2021)

    1.    Purpose. The purpose of the Dynex Capital, Inc. Annual Cash Incentive Plan (the “Plan”) is to attract, retain and motivate key employees
by providing annual incentive awards to designated employees of Dynex Capital, Inc. (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries. The Plan is designed
to align key employee interests with the interests of the Company’s shareholders and to create value by providing appropriate annual incentives to
key employees to achieve corporate and individual performance goals, while appropriately balancing risk with reward.

2.       Annual Plan. The Plan is an annual plan and shall remain in effect until terminated by the independent directors of the Board of
Directors (the “Independent Directors”). A new plan year shall commence on each January 1 and shall end each December 31. A new incentive
opportunity, with a performance period that is the same as the plan year (January 1 through December 31), will be granted under the Plan each
plan year only to individuals who are eligible Participants for such plan year (as determined pursuant to Section 4).

3.       Administration. The Plan shall be administered by the Compensation Committee (the “Committee”) of the Board of Directors (the
“Board”) of the Company. The Committee will have the power and authority to interpret the Plan, establish (except to the extent fixed by the Plan)
the corporate/individual objectives, and respective weightings of each, and the minimum, target and maximum targets and applicable weightings
of the other performance goals, determine the achievement of performance goals and assess individual performance, determine individual bonus
amounts, determine rules for the operation and administration of the Plan and make all other necessary or advisable determinations with respect to
the Plan. Subject to the provisions of Section 11, any interpretation or determination by the Committee under the Plan shall be binding on all
parties.

4.    Participation. Only those individuals who are serving as executive officers as of the first quarter Board meeting each year are eligible
to participate in the Plan for that plan year (the “Participants”). In the case of a promotion, an individual must have been promoted to “executive
officer” by such first quarter Board meeting in order to participate in the Plan for that plan year.

5.        Bonus Opportunity. Each plan year, the Participant will be granted an incentive opportunity equal to the following percentages of
his/her base salary as of January 1 of that plan year:

Executive Target Incentive Opportunity Maximum Incentive Opportunity
CEO 200% 400%
President 175% 350%
EVP 150% 300%
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6.        Performance Goals. Bonuses under the Plan will be earned by the Participants based on the achievement of performance goals
established by the Committee for the applicable performance period. Except to the extent fixed by the Plan, no later than February 28 each plan
year (except for the 2020 plan year), the Committee will establish performance goals, targets and weightings for the Participants for the
performance period beginning in that plan year. The incentive opportunity will consist of the following performance goals for the performance
period, weighted as follows:

Metric Weighting (of incentive opportunity)
Return on Equity (ROE) 0% - 40%
Book value per common share 0% - 40%
Corporate/individual objectives 0% - 45%

100%

(a)        “Return on Equity” shall be computed as the Company’s core net operating income per basic common share (as defined by the
Company for the fourth quarter earnings release for the performance period), divided by the Company’s book value per common share at
December 31 of the year before the performance period. The Committee will establish the weighting of this goal, as well as minimum, target and
maximum targets for this goal for each plan year.

(b)     “Book value per common share” shall be computed in accordance with GAAP. The Committee will establish the weighting of this
goal, as well as minimum, target and maximum targets for this goal, expressed as a percentage of the prior year end book value per common share
and/or in actual dollar amounts, for each plan year. If the prior year end book value per common share amount is restated after the Committee
establishes the targets for the plan year, then the Committee shall approve a change to the current year targets to reflect the restated amount.

(c)    Corporate/individual objectives. The Committee will establish corporate and individual goals and their respective weightings for each
Participant for each plan year. The corporate and individual goals for each Participant will account for up to 45% of each Participant’s incentive
opportunity for the plan year but may be different for each Participant. The corporate and individual goals may consist of quantitative or
qualitative Company or individual goals, including but not limited to the following: annual and/or longer-term performance versus a benchmark
and/or a select group of peers; general and administrative expense efficiency ratio; attainment of Company strategic objectives; and attainment of
personal objectives. For each corporate and individual goal, the Committee will also establish the criteria for determining minimum, target and
maximum performance with respect to such goal.

7.     Determination of Performance. Following the end of the performance period, and no later than its first quarter Committee meeting
held on or before March 10, the Committee will
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determine and certify the level of performance achieved with respect to each of the performance goals for the performance period just ended.

(a)       Management will calculate the Company’s performance against the previously-established quantitative objectives and targets and
present preliminary calculations of the same to the Committee for its review.

(b)     Performance with respect to the ROE and Book value per common share goals will be calculated as follows:

    (i)    If performance is equal to or below the minimum target for the goal, the performance level achieved is 0%.

    (ii)     If performance is equal to the target for the goal, the performance level achieved is 100%.

    (iii)     If performance is equal to or above the maximum target for the goal, the performance level achieved is 200%.

        (iv)        If performance is between the minimum target and target or between the target and maximum target, the performance level
achieved will be determined by applying linear interpolation to the performance interval.

(c)        Performance (which can range from 0% - 200%) with respect to the corporate/individual objectives will be calculated by the
Committee in its good faith discretion in accordance with the weightings and criteria previously established.

(d)       The Committee certification of performance will occur no later than March 10 immediately following the end of the performance
period but not before the results for the Company have been finalized for the prior year.

8.     Determination of Bonus Amounts Payable Each Year. Following the end of the performance period, and no later than its first quarter
Committee meeting held on or before March 10, the Committee will determine the bonus amount for each Participant based on the Committee’s
certification of the performance level achieved during the performance period. The bonus amount will be based on the performance level achieved
for the relevant performance goal (from 0% - 200%) for the performance period, multiplied by the relevant weighting (of incentive opportunity)
for such goal established for the performance period, multiplied by the target incentive opportunity percentage for the Participant in Section 5,
multiplied by the Participant’s applicable base salary amount.

Example: Bonus Amount = ([performance level % achieved for ROE] x [weighting] x [target incentive opportunity %] x [applicable base
salary]) + ([performance level % achieved for Book value per share] x [weighting] x [target incentive opportunity %] x [applicable base
salary]) + ([performance level % achieved for each corp/indiv.
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objective] x [weighting for each corp/indiv. objective] x [target incentive opportunity %] x [applicable base salary]).

9.         Payment of the Bonus Amount. All bonus amounts earned under the Plan will be paid in cash. The bonus amount for each
performance period ending on December 31 of any plan year shall be paid to the Participant (each, a “Payment Date”) during the period that
begins on January 1 and ends on March 15 of the calendar year immediately following the end of the performance period (the “Designated
Payment Period”) on such date that is determined by the Committee at the same time the Committee determines the bonus amounts for the
performance period. All bonus amounts paid under this Plan shall be subject to all applicable federal, state or local taxes required by law to be
withheld.

10.        Termination of Employment. Subject to Section 15 to the extent applicable, the following provisions shall apply in the event the
Participant’s employment terminates prior to a Payment Date under the Plan:

(a)     Except as otherwise provided in Section 10(b), the bonus amounts under the Plan shall be paid upon a termination of a Participant's
employment as follows:

(i)     In the event of termination of the Participant’s employment (A) by the Company other than for Cause or (B) by the Participant
voluntarily or (C) due to the Participant's death, after the end of the performance period but prior to the Payment Date for such
performance period, any bonus amounts for any such completed performance periods will be paid to the Participant in a lump sum cash
payment on the earlier of: (1) 60 days following the termination of Participant's employment or (2) the Payment Date.

(ii)     In the event of termination of the Participant’s employment (A) by the Company for any reason other than for Cause or (B)
due to the Participant's death, before the end of the performance period (but only if the termination occurs no earlier than the last day of the
first quarter of the performance period), a pro-rata bonus (based on the period of the performance period during which the Participant was
employed) will be paid to the Participant in a lump sum cash payment for the performance period based upon: (x) with respect to the ROE
and Book value per common share goals, actual performance through the calendar quarter ending on or immediately prior to the date of the
Participant's termination and (y) with respect to the corporate/individual objectives, , the Participant’s maximum incentive opportunity for
such corporate/individual objectives under the Plan for the performance period. The pro-rata bonus will be paid in a lump sum cash
payment on the earlier of: (1) 60 days following the termination of Participant's employment or (2) the Payment Date.

(iii) In the event of termination of the Participant's employment (A) by the Company before the last day of the first quarter of the
performance period or (B) a voluntary termination by the Participant at any time during a performance period, no bonus amounts will be
paid to the Participant for such performance period.
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(iv)    In the event of termination of the Participant's employment for Cause, all rights under the Plan shall be immediately forfeited
and no bonus amounts will be paid to the Participant following such termination.

(b)         If the Participant has an employment agreement, or if the Participant does not have an employment agreement, a severance
agreement (either, an “Employment Agreement”) in place at time of termination of employment, then the Participant's right to receive bonus
amounts under the Plan (if any) shall be governed by the Employment Agreement and, in the event of a conflict between the Plan and the
Participant’s Employment Agreement, the Participant’s Employment Agreement shall control; provided, however, that the time and form of
payment of any bonus amount payable under the Plan shall not be changed by the Employment Agreement to the extent such change would either
violate Code Section 409A (as defined in Section 15) or cause an otherwise exempt payment to be subject to Code Section 409A.

(c)    Cause. For purposes of the Plan, if not defined in the Participant’s Employment Agreement, “Cause” shall mean any of the following:

(i)    the willful and continued failure of the Participant to substantially perform the Participant’s duties with the Company (other
than any such failure resulting from incapacity due to physical or mental illness), if, within 30 days of receiving a written demand for
substantial performance from the Board or the CEO that specifically identifies the manner in which the Participant has not substantially
performed his duties, the Participant shall have failed to cure such non-performance or to take measures to cure the non-performance;

(ii)    the willful engaging by the Participant in gross misconduct that is materially and demonstrably injurious to the Company or
any subsidiary;

(iii)        the willful disclosure to an external party by the Participant without authorization of any confidential information of the
Company or any subsidiary; or

(iv)    the arrest of the Participant of a felony.

For purposes of this definition, no act or failure to act, on the part of the Participant, shall be considered “willful” unless it is done, or omitted to
be done, by the Participant in bad faith or without reasonable belief that the Participant’s action or omission was in the best interests of the
Company. Any act, or failure to act, based upon authority given pursuant to a resolution duly adopted by the Board or a committee thereof, or
based upon the advice of counsel for the Company shall be conclusively presumed to be done, or omitted to be done, by the Participant in good
faith and in the best interests of the Company. The termination of employment of the Participant shall not be deemed to be for Cause unless and
until there shall have been delivered to the Participant a copy of a resolution duly adopted by the affirmative vote of not less than three-quarters
(3/4) of the Board at a meeting of the Board called and held for such purpose (after reasonable notice is provided to the Participant and the
Participant is given an opportunity, together with counsel, to be heard before the Board), finding that, in the good faith opinion of the
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Board, the Participant is guilty of conduct described in subparagraph (i), (ii) or (iii) above, and specifying the particulars thereof in detail.

11.       Review Procedure. Any Participant with an issue regarding bonus amounts or the administration of the Plan may file a claim in
writing to the Committee within 90 days of the date on which the Participant first knows (or should have known) of the facts on which the claim is
based. The Committee shall consider the claim and notify the Participant in writing of the determination and resolution of the issue. The
determination of the Committee as to any complaint or dispute will be final and binding.

12.       Deferral. Bonus amounts under the Plan may be deferred by the Participant in accordance with any deferred compensation plan
adopted by the Company that is available to executive officers, except to the extent such deferral would violate Code Section 409A.

13.    Nonassignability. Bonus amounts may not be transferred, alienated or assigned. To the extent any bonus amounts are payable under
the terms of the Plan following a Participant’s death, such bonus amounts will be paid to the Participant’s estate.

14.    Nonexclusive Plan. The adoption of the Plan shall not be construed as creating any limitations on the power of the Company or any
subsidiary to adopt such other incentive arrangements as it may deem desirable, and such arrangements may be either generally applicable or
applicable only in specific cases.

15.      Code Section 409A Compliance.

(a)       The Plan is intended to comply with Section 409A of the Code and applicable guidance issued thereunder (“Code Section 409A”)
or comply with an exemption from the application of Code Section 409A and, accordingly, all provisions of the Plan and any award agreements
under which any amounts are paid under the Plan (for purposes of this Section 15, the Plan and any applicable award agreement are collectively
referred to as the “Plan”) shall be construed in a manner consistent with the requirements for avoiding taxes or penalties under Code Section
409A. Any right or benefit which is provided pursuant to or in connection with the Plan which is considered to be nonqualified deferred
compensation subject to Code Section 409A is hereinafter referred to as a “409A Benefit”.

(b)       A 409A Benefit shall be provided and paid in a manner, and at such time and in such form, as to comply with Code Section 409A.
Notwithstanding any other provision of the Plan, a 409A Benefit shall be paid at the earliest to occur of the following (but in all events subject to
any forfeiture provisions if such 409A Benefit is not vested at the time of the payment event): (i) a fixed payment date as set forth in Section 9 ,
separation from service of the Participant as defined under Code Section 409A (see Section 15(c) below), death of the Participant, disability of the
Participant as defined under Code Section 409A, or a change with respect to the Participant in the ownership or effective control of the Company
or in the ownership of a substantial portion of its assets of the Company as defined under Code Section 409A or, in the discretion of the
Committee or its delegate. Neither a Participant nor the
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Company shall take any action to accelerate or delay a 409A Benefit in any matter that would not be in compliance with Code Section 409A.

(c)       A termination of employment shall not be deemed to have occurred for purposes of any provision of the Plan providing for the form
or timing of payment of any 409A Benefit and that are paid upon or following a termination of employment unless such termination is also a
“separation from service” (within the meaning of Code Section 409A) and, for purposes of any such provision of the Plan under which (and to the
extent) a 409A Benefit is paid, references to a “termination” or “termination of employment” or “resign” or “resignation” or like references shall
mean separation from service.  If the Participant is deemed on the date of separation from service with the Company and any subsidiary to be a
“specified employee”, within the meaning of that term under Code Section 409A(a)(2)(B) and using the identification methodology selected by
the Company from time to time, or if none, the default methodology, then with regard to any 409A Benefit that is required to be delayed in
compliance with Code Section 409A(a)(2)(B), payment of any such amounts shall not be made or provided prior to the earlier of (i) the expiration
of the six-month period measured from the date of Participant’s separation from service or (ii) the date of the Participant’s death. 

(d)               For purposes of determining the application of Code Section 409A and any exemptions from Code Section 409A, each bonus
amount determined for each performance period shall be treated as a separate payment and, to the extent paid in installments, each installment
shall be considered a separate payment.

(e)       When, if ever, a payment under the Plan specifies a payment period with reference to a number of days (e.g., “payment shall be
made within 10 days following the date of termination”), the actual date of payment within the specified period shall be within the sole discretion
of the Company or Committee. For any bonus amount exempt from the requirements of Code Section 409A, payment shall in all events be made
by the 15  day of the third month following the end of the first calendar year during which the bonus amount is no longer subject to a substantial
risk of forfeiture, subject to the provisions of Treas. Reg. §1.409A-1(b)(4)(ii) (regarding certain allowed delayed payments). For the avoidance of
any doubt, any cash bonus amount payable for any performance period is intended to be exempt from Code Section 409A and shall be
administered consistent with that intention.

(f)       Notwithstanding any of the provisions of the Plan, the Company shall not be liable to the Participant if any payment which is to be
provided pursuant to the Plan and which is considered deferred compensation subject to Code Section 409A otherwise fails to comply with, or be
exempt from, the requirements of Code Section 409A.

16.    Amendment and Termination. The Plan may only be amended or terminated by approval of the Independent Directors, based on the
recommendation of the Committee. The Committee shall review the Plan periodically and recommend any amendments thereto which it deems
appropriate or desirable, for approval by the Independent Directors. Upon recommendation of the Committee, the Independent Directors may
amend or terminate this Plan at any time. Any amendment or termination of the Plan shall be implemented in a manner which complies with any
applicable provisions under Code Section 409A (as defined in Section 15).

th
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17.        Effectiveness of the Plan. The Plan shall first be effective on January 1, 2020 and shall continue indefinitely, subject to the
Independent Directors’ right to terminate the Plan.

18.     Plan Not a Contract. The Plan shall not be deemed to constitute a contract between the Company and any employee, and nothing
contained in the Plan shall confer upon an employee any right to continued employment, nor interfere with the right of the Company or any
subsidiary to terminate a Participant’s employment with the Company or subsidiary.

19.    Clawback. Any bonus amount that a Participant receives under the Plan is subject to repayment to (i.e., clawback by) the Company or
a related entity as determined in good faith by the Independent Directors or the Board in the event repayment is required by the terms of the
Company’s recoupment, clawback or similar policy as may be in effect from time to time or by applicable federal or state law or regulation or
stock exchange requirement, but in no event with a look-back period of more than three (3) years, unless in the opinion of counsel satisfactory to
Participant required by applicable federal or state law or regulation or stock exchange requirement. Any recovery of any bonus amount subject to
the requirements of Code Section 409A (as defined in Section 15) shall be implemented in a manner which complies with Code Section 409A.

20.    Governing Law. The Plan shall be construed and interpreted under the laws of the Commonwealth of Virginia.

Approved by the Independent Directors of the Board of Directors on May 26, 2021.
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Exhibit 10.41.1

DYNEX CAPITAL, INC.
2020 STOCK AND INCENTIVE PLAN

FORM OF
RESTRICTED STOCK AGREEMENT
FOR NON-EMPLOYEE DIRECTORS

    THIS AGREEMENT, dated this <<grant date>> is entered into by and between DYNEX CAPITAL, INC. (the “Company”), and <<name>>
(“Participant”). Capitalized terms used in this Agreement shall have the meanings assigned to such terms in the Dynex Capital, Inc. 2020 Stock
and Incentive Plan (the “Plan”), unless this Agreement provides, or the context requires, otherwise.

    WHEREAS, pursuant to the Plan, the Committee wishes to promote the identification of Participant’s personal interests with the long-term
financial success of the Company and with growth in shareholder value, consistent with the Company’s risk management practices, by the award
of restricted shares of the Company’s Common stock, par value $0.01 per share (“Common Stock”) to Participant; and

    WHEREAS, Participant desires to accept said award in accordance with the terms and provisions of the Plan and this Agreement.

    NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the premises and of the mutual covenants and agreements hereinafter set forth, the Company and
Participant agree as follows:

1.     Award of Restricted Stock.

    Subject to the terms and conditions of the Plan and to the terms and conditions set forth herein, the Company hereby awards to Participant
effective as of the date of this Agreement (“Date of Award”), <<number of shares>> shares of Common Stock (“Restricted Stock”).

2.    Vesting of Restricted Stock.

    (a)    Except as otherwise provided in this Agreement, the Restricted Stock is nontransferable and is subject to a substantial risk of forfeiture.

    (b)    Subject to subsections (c), (d), and (e) of this Section 2, the Restricted Stock shall become fully transferable and nonforfeitable (“Vested”)
on the earlier of: <<insert vesting schedule>>, provided Participant’s service as a member of the Board of Directors of the Company or a
Subsidiary continues through such date.

    (c)    The Restricted Stock, to the extent not already fully Vested, shall immediately be fully Vested upon a Change of Control of the Company
as that term is defined in the Plan if such
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Change of Control occurs while Participant is a member of the Board of Directors of the Company or a Subsidiary.

    (d)    The Restricted Stock, to the extent not already fully Vested, shall immediately be fully Vested upon Participant’s termination of his or her
membership on the Board of Directors of the Company and its Subsidiaries because of his or her disability, as determined by the Company in its
sole discretion, or upon the death of Participant, in each case only if such disability or death occurs while Participant is a member of the Board of
Directors of the Company or a Subsidiary. In the event of Participant’s death, Participant’s designated beneficiary or, if none, the executor or
administrator of Participant’s estate shall have the right to direct delivery of the Restricted Stock in accordance with Section 3 below.

    (e)    To the extent the Restricted Stock is not already fully Vested pursuant to subsections (b), (c), or (d) of this Section 2 on or prior to such
date, the Restricted Stock shall be fully forfeited and Participant shall have no further rights hereunder on the date Participant ceases to be a
member of the Board of Directors of the Company and its Subsidiaries. Notwithstanding the immediately preceding sentence, the Committee may,
in its sole discretion, waive the forfeiture of any or all of the unvested Restricted Stock and provide for such vesting as it deems appropriate,
provided the Committee takes such action prior to the date Participant ceases to be a member of the Board of Directors of the Company and its
Subsidiaries.

3.     Custody of Certificates.

    If the Restricted Stock is issued in certificated form, custody of the certificate(s) evidencing the Restricted Stock shall be retained by the
Company so long as the Restricted Stock is not Vested. The Company reserves the right to place a legend on each certificate noting the restrictions
on the transferability of the shares evidenced by the certificate. Upon vesting, Participant will have the right, but not the obligation, to direct the
Company to deliver the Vested shares in certificated form to Participant, or in book-entry form to a registered broker-dealer of his or her choice.
Notices directing such delivery should be delivered to Dynex Capital, Inc., at its Corporate headquarters, Attention: Chief Financial Officer.

4.    Shareholders Rights.

    Beginning on the Date of Award, Participant will have all the rights of a shareholder of the Company with respect to the Restricted Stock,
including the right to receive currently all dividends and other distributions paid on the Restricted Stock and to exercise full voting rights with
respect to the Restricted Stock; provided, however, that until the Restricted Stock becomes Vested (i) Participant may not sell, transfer, pledge,
assign or otherwise alienate or hypothecate the Restricted Stock, (ii) the Company shall retain custody of any certificates evidencing the shares of
Restricted Stock as provided in Section 3, (iii) if any dividends or distributions paid on the Restricted Stock are paid in shares of Common Stock,
such shares of Common Stock shall be subject to the same restrictions on transferability as the shares of Restricted Stock with respect to which
they were paid, and (iv) the stock power set forth in Section 5 shall apply.
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5.    Stock Power.

    By execution of this Agreement, Participant hereby appoints the Secretary of the Company, with full power of substitution, as Participant’s
attorney in fact with power and authority in the name and on behalf of Participant to take any action and execute all documents and instruments,
including without limitation stock powers, which may be necessary to cancel any shares of Restricted Stock that do not become Vested.

6.    Certain Tax Matters.

    Participant shall provide the Company with a copy of any election made pursuant to Section 83(b) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as
amended (the “Code”), and similar provision of state law (collectively, an “83(b) Election”). If Participant decides to make an 83(b) Election, he
or she must do so within a limited period of time. (For federal tax purposes, currently, an 83(b) Election must be filed within 30 days of the Date
of Award of the Restricted Stock.) Participant should contact his or her tax advisor to determine if an 83(b) Election is appropriate.

    Participant acknowledges by signing this Agreement that he or she is solely responsible for determining whether or not to make an 83(b)
Election and for the payment of any taxes which may be due to any federal, state or local income tax authority, or employment tax authority, and
the Company is under no obligation to ensure any such taxes are paid by Participant.

7.    Nontransferability.

    Unless Vested, the Restricted Stock shall be nontransferable except by will or the laws of descent and distribution; provided, however, that the
Committee may permit, in its sole discretion, transfers of shares of Restricted Stock that are not Vested pursuant to a domestic relations order.

8.    No Rights to Continued Service.

    Nothing in this Agreement or in the Plan shall confer any right to continued affiliation with the Company or its Subsidiaries (including service
on the Board of Directors of the Company or any Subsidiary) nor shall it interfere with any right of the Company or any Subsidiary to terminate
Participant’s service or other affiliation with the Company at any time.

9.    Resolution of Disputes.

    Any dispute or disagreement which shall arise under, or as a result of, or pursuant to, this Agreement shall be determined by the Board of
Directors (without participation by Participant) in its absolute discretion, and any determination by the Board of Directors pursuant to this
Agreement and any interpretation by the Board of Directors of the terms of this Agreement shall be final, binding and conclusive on all persons
affected thereby.
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10.    Amendments.

    The Committee shall have the right, in its absolute discretion but subject to the terms and provisions and within the limitations of the Plan, to
amend or modify this Agreement in any manner, and any amendment or modification of this Agreement by the Committee shall, upon adoption
thereof by the Committee, become and be binding and conclusive on all persons affected thereby without prior written notice to Participant.
Written notice of any amendment or modification of this Agreement by the Committee will be provided to Participant as promptly as practical
after the adoption thereof. Notwithstanding the foregoing provisions of this Section 10, but subject to the provisions of Articles XIII and XIV of
the Plan, no amendment or modification of this Agreement shall be made that would adversely affect the rights or obligations of Participant
without Participant’s consent.

11.    Construction.

    This Agreement has been entered into in accordance with the terms of the Plan, and wherever a conflict may arise between the terms of this
Agreement and the terms of the Plan, the terms of the Plan shall control.

12.    Governing Law.

    This Agreement shall be governed by and construed and enforced in accordance with the laws of the Commonwealth of Virginia.

13.    Plan and Prospectus.

    A copy of the Plan, as well as a prospectus for the Plan, has been provided to Participant, and Participant acknowledges receipt thereof.

14.    Electronic Delivery and Signatures.

    Participant hereby consents and agrees to electronic delivery of share(s) of Stock, Plan documents, proxy materials, annual reports and other
related documents. If the Company establishes procedures for an electronic signature system for delivery and acceptance of this Agreement, other
Plan documents or other related documents, Participant hereby consents to such procedures and agrees that his or her electronic signature is the
same as, and shall have the same force and effect as, his or her manual signature. Participant consents and agrees that any such procedures and
delivery may be effected by a third party engaged by the Company to provide administrative services related to the Plan.

    IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Company has caused this Agreement to be executed, via manual or electronic signature, by its duly authorized
officer, and Participant has executed this Agreement, via manual or electronic signature, all on the day and year first above written.
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DYNEX CAPITAL, INC.

By:

PARTICIPANT
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        Exhibit 10.41.2

DYNEX CAPITAL, INC.

2020 STOCK AND INCENTIVE PLAN

FORM OF
RESTRICTED STOCK UNIT AWARD

This Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement (this “Agreement”) is made as of <<date>> (the “Grant Date”), by Dynex Capital, Inc., a
Virginia corporation (the “Company”), to <<name>>, a Key Employee of the Company (the “Participant”).

RECITALS

WHEREAS, the Dynex Capital, Inc. 2020 Stock and Incentive Plan (the “Plan”) permits the grant of Restricted Stock Units in accordance
with the terms and provisions of the Plan;

WHEREAS, the Company desires to grant Restricted Stock Units to the Participant, and the Participant desires to accept such Restricted
Stock Units, on the terms and conditions set forth herein and in the Plan; and

WHEREAS, the applicable provisions of the Plan are incorporated into this Agreement by reference, including the definitions of terms
contained in the Plan (unless such terms are otherwise defined herein).

NOW, THEREFORE, the parties hereto, intending to be legally bound hereby, agree as follows:

1. Award of Restricted Stock Units.

The Company hereby awards to the Participant <<number>> Restricted Stock Units (hereinafter, the “Restricted Stock Units”), subject to
the vesting and other conditions of this Agreement.

2. Vesting.

(a) General Vesting Terms.

(i) Provided the Participant remains employed by the Company or a Subsidiary through the applicable vesting date set forth in
this Section 2 (the “Vesting Date”) and meets all applicable requirements set forth in this Agreement, the Restricted Stock Units awarded pursuant
to this Agreement shall vest as follows, except as set forth in Sections 2(b) and 2(c) below (the period over which the Restricted Stock Units vest
is referred to as the “Period of Restriction”):
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Vesting Date Vested Restricted Stock Units
<<date>> <<percent>>% of the awarded Restricted Stock Units
<<date>> <<percent>>% of the awarded Restricted Stock Units
<<date>> <<percent>>% of the awarded Restricted Stock Units

(ii) The vesting of the Restricted Stock Units is cumulative, but shall not exceed 100% of the Restricted Stock Units. If the
foregoing schedule would produce fractional units, the number of Restricted Stock Units vesting shall be rounded up to the nearest whole unit, but
not in excess of 100% of the Restricted Stock Units.

(b) Involuntary Termination.

(i) If the Participant terminates employment during the Period of Restriction because of an Involuntary Termination, whether
before, on the date of, or after a Change of Control, the Participant’s unvested Restricted Stock Units will automatically vest in full on the date of
such termination of employment.

(ii) For purposes of this Agreement, the term “Involuntary Termination” shall mean the Participant’s termination of
employment from the Company and its Subsidiaries on account of a termination by the Company or a Subsidiary without Cause, other than on
account of death or Disability, or the Participant’s termination of employment from the Company and its Subsidiaries on account of a termination
by the Participant for Good Reason, in either case; provided the Participant signs and does not revoke a release and waiver of claims in favor of
the Company and its Affiliates in a form provided by the Company (a “Release”).

(c) Death or Disability. In the event of the Participant’s death or termination of employment on account of a Disability while
employed by the Company or a Subsidiary during the Period of Restriction, the Participant’s unvested Restricted Stock Units will automatically
vest in full on the date of the Participant’s death or termination of employment on account of Disability; provided that in the event the termination
of employment is on account of Disability, the Participant signs and does not revoke a Release. For purposes of this Agreement, the term
“Disability” shall have the meaning ascribed to such term in the Participant’s employment agreement with the Company.

(d) Retirement. In the event of the Participant’s Retirement from the Company and its Subsidiaries during the Period of Restriction,
the Participant’s unvested Restricted Stock Units will automatically vest in full on the date of the Participant’s Retirement; provided that the
Participant signs and does not revoke a Release. For purposes of this Agreement, the term “Retirement” shall mean termination of employment
other than for Cause after attaining age 65 with 10 years of service with the Company.
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(e) Other Termination. Except as provided in Sections 2(b), 2(c) and 2(d), in the event of a termination of employment, the
Participant will forfeit all Restricted Stock Units that do not vest either on or before the termination date. No Restricted Stock Units will vest after
the Participant’s employment with the Company or a Subsidiary has terminated for any reason. For clarification purposes, in the event the
Participant’s employment is terminated by the Company or a Subsidiary for Cause, the outstanding Restricted Stock Units (whether vested or
unvested) held by such Participant shall immediately terminate and be of no further force or effect.

3. Restricted Stock Units Account.

The Company shall establish a bookkeeping account on its records for the Participant and shall credit the Participant’s Restricted Stock
Units to the bookkeeping account.

4. Dividend Equivalents.

    Dividend equivalents shall accrue with respect to the Participant’s Restricted Stock Units and shall be payable subject to the same vesting terms
and other conditions as the Restricted Stock Units to which they relate. Dividend equivalents shall be credited on the Restricted Stock Units when
dividends are declared on shares of Stock from the Grant Date until the payment date for the vested Restricted Stock Units. The Company will
keep records of dividend equivalents in a non-interest-bearing bookkeeping account for the Participant. No interest will be credited to any such
account. Vested dividend equivalents shall be paid in cash at the same time and subject to the same terms as the underlying vested Restricted Stock
Units. If and to the extent that the underlying Restricted Stock Units are forfeited, all related dividend equivalents shall also be forfeited.

5. Conversion of Restricted Stock Units.

(a) Except as otherwise provided in this Section 5, if the Restricted Stock Units vest in accordance with Section 2(a), the Participant
shall be entitled to receive payment of the vested Restricted Stock Units within 60 days after the applicable Vesting Date.

(b) If the Restricted Stock Units vest in accordance with Section 2(b) (Involuntary Termination), Section 2(c) (death or Disability), or
Section 2(d) (Retirement), the Participant shall receive payment of the vested Restricted Stock Units within 60 days after the date of the
Participant’s termination of employment on account of Involuntary Termination, death, Disability, or Retirement, as applicable, subject to the six
month delay under Section 409A of the Internal Revenue Code, if applicable, as described in Section 16 below.

(c) On the applicable payment date, each vested Restricted Stock Unit credited to the Participant’s account shall be settled in whole
shares of Stock of the Company equal to the number of vested Restricted Stock Units, subject to (i) the limitation of subsection (d) below, (ii)
compliance with the six-month delay described in Section 16 below, if applicable, and (iii) the payment of any federal, state and local withholding
taxes as described in Section 12 below. The obligation of the Company to distribute shares of Stock shall be subject to the rights of the Company
as set forth in the Plan and to all applicable laws, rules, regulations, and such approvals
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by governmental agencies as may be deemed appropriate by the Committee, including as set forth in Section 14 below.

(d) For the avoidance of doubt, the Participant will forfeit all Restricted Stock Units if the Participant’s employment is terminated for
Cause prior to the payment date under this Section 5.

6. Certain Corporate Changes.

In the event of a stock dividend, stock split or combination of shares, spin-off, recapitalization or merger in which the Company is the
surviving corporation, or other change in the Company’s capital stock (including, but not limited to, the creation or issuance to shareholders
generally of rights, options or warrants for the purchase of common stock or preferred stock of the Company), the Committee shall adjust, as
provided in the Plan, the number and class of shares or securities of the Company underlying the Restricted Stock Units held by the Participant,
the maximum number of shares of Stock for which the Restricted Stock Units may vest, in each case, as appropriate to reflect the effect of such
event or change in the Company’s capital structure in such a way as to preserve the value of the Restricted Stock Units. Any adjustment that
occurs under the terms of this Section 6 or the Plan will not change the timing or form of payment with respect to any Restricted Stock Units
except in accordance with Code Section 409A.

7. No Stockholder Rights.

The Participant has no voting rights and no other ownership rights and privileges of a stockholder with respect to the shares of Stock
subject to the Restricted Stock Units, except as otherwise provided in Section 4.

8. Retention Rights.

Neither the award of Restricted Stock Units, nor any other action taken with respect to the Restricted Stock Units, shall confer upon the
Participant any right to continue in the employ or service of the Company or a Subsidiary or shall interfere in any way with the right of the
Company or a Subsidiary to terminate Participant’s employment or service at any time.

9. Amendment, Modification or Substitution.

This award may be amended, modified or substituted by the Committee, in whole or in part, in accordance with Section 15.1 of the Plan.

10. Notice.

Any notice to the Company provided for in this Agreement shall be addressed to it in care of the Chief Financial Officer of the Company,
or in his or her absence, the Secretary of the Company, 4991 Lake Brook Drive, Suite 100, Glen Allen, VA 23060, and any notice to the Participant
shall be addressed to such Participant at the current address shown on the payroll system of the Company or a Subsidiary thereof, or to such other
address as the Participant may
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designate to the Company in writing. Any notice provided for hereunder shall be delivered by hand, sent by telecopy or electronic mail, or
enclosed in a properly sealed envelope addressed as stated above, registered and deposited, postage and registry fee prepaid in the United States
mail, or other mail delivery service. Notice to the Company shall be deemed effective upon receipt. By receipt of this Agreement, the Participant
hereby consents to the delivery of information (including without limitation, information required to be delivered to the Participant pursuant to the
applicable securities laws) regarding the Company, the Plan, and the Restricted Stock Units via the Company’s electronic mail system or other
electronic delivery system.

11. Incorporation of Plan by Reference.

This Agreement is made pursuant to the terms of the Plan, the terms of which are incorporated herein by reference, and shall in all respects
be interpreted in accordance therewith. The decisions of the Committee shall be conclusive upon any question arising hereunder. The Participant’s
receipt of the Restricted Stock Units awarded under this Agreement constitutes the Participant’s acknowledgment that all decisions and
determinations of the Committee with respect to the Plan, this Agreement, and/or the Restricted Stock Units shall be final and binding on the
Participant, his or her beneficiaries, and any other person having or claiming an interest in such Restricted Stock Units. The settlement of any
award with respect to Restricted Stock Units is subject to the provisions of the Plan and to interpretations, regulations, and determinations
concerning the Plan as established from time to time by the Committee in accordance with the provisions of the Plan.

12. Income Taxes; Withholding Taxes.

The Participant agrees, as a condition of receiving the Restricted Stock Units, to pay to the Company or a Subsidiary, as applicable, or
make arrangement satisfactory to the Company regarding the payment of, all applicable federal, state and local taxes (including the Participant’s
FICA obligation) required by law to be withheld with respect to the Restricted Stock Units. The Participant is solely responsible for the
satisfaction of all taxes and penalties that may arise in connection with the Restricted Stock Units pursuant to this Agreement. At the time of
taxation, the Company shall have the right to deduct from amounts payable with respect to the Restricted Stock Units, including by withholding
shares of Stock, an amount equal to the federal (including FICA), state and local income and payroll taxes and other amounts as may be required
by law to be withheld with respect to the Restricted Stock Units. Without limiting the foregoing, upon payment of the Restricted Stock Units, the
Company shall withhold shares subject to the vested Restricted Stock Units to cover any of the applicable withholding for related FICA tax and
income tax liabilities at the minimum applicable tax rate.

13. Governing Law.

The validity, construction, interpretation, and effect of this instrument shall exclusively be governed by, and determined in accordance
with, the applicable laws of the Commonwealth of Virginia, excluding any conflicts or choice of law rule or principle.

14. Award Subject to Applicable Laws and Company Policies.
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    This Agreement shall be subject to any required approvals by any governmental or regulatory agencies. This award of Restricted Stock Units
shall be subject to repayment to (i.e., clawback by) the Company or a related entity as determined in good faith by the Committee or the Board in
the event repayment is required by the terms of the Company’s recoupment, clawback or similar policy as may be in effect from time to time or by
applicable federal or state law or regulation or applicable listing standard of any national securities exchange or system on which the Stock is then
listed or reported, but in no event with a look-back period of more than three years, unless in the opinion of counsel satisfactory to the Participant
required by applicable federal or state law or regulation or applicable listing standard.

15. Assignment.

This Agreement shall bind and inure to the benefit of the successors and assignees of the Company. The Participant may not sell, assign,
transfer, pledge, or otherwise dispose of the Restricted Stock Units, except in the event of the Participant’s death.

16. Code Section 409A.

This award of Restricted Stock Units is intended to be exempt from or comply with the applicable requirements of Code Section 409A and
shall be administered in accordance with Code Section 409A. Notwithstanding anything in this Agreement to the contrary, if the Restricted Stock
Units constitute “deferred compensation” under Code Section 409A and the Restricted Stock Units become vested and settled upon the
Participant’s termination of employment, payment with respect to the Restricted Stock Units shall be delayed for a period of six months after the
Participant’s termination of employment if the Participant is a “specified employee” as defined under Code Section 409A (as determined by the
Committee) and if required pursuant to Code Section 409A. If payment is delayed, the shares of Stock of the Company and accrued cash dividend
equivalents shall be distributed within 30 days after the date that is the six-month anniversary of the Participant’s termination of employment. If
the Participant dies during the six-month delay, the shares of Stock and accrued cash dividend equivalents shall be distributed in accordance with
the Participant’s will or under the applicable laws of descent and distribution. Notwithstanding any provision to the contrary herein, payments
made with respect to this award of Restricted Stock Units may only be made in a manner and upon an event permitted by Code Section 409A, and
all payments to be made upon a termination of employment hereunder may only be made upon a “separation from service” as defined under Code
Section 409A, and if required pursuant to Code Section 409A. To the extent that any provision of this Agreement would cause a conflict with the
requirements of Code Section 409A, or would cause the administration of the Restricted Stock Units to fail to satisfy the requirements of Code
Section 409A, such provision shall be deemed null and void to the extent permitted by applicable law. In no event shall the Participant, directly or
indirectly, designate the calendar year of payment. If the Restricted Stock Units constitute “deferred compensation” under Code Section 409A and
payment is subject to the execution of a Release, and if such payment could be made in more than one taxable year, payment shall be made in the
later taxable year, if required by Code Section 409A.
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[Signature Page Follows]

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Company has caused its duly authorized officer to execute and attest this instrument, and the Participant
has placed his or her signature hereon, effective as of the Grant Date set forth above.

DYNEX CAPITAL INC.

By:

Name:    
Title:

By signing below, the Participant (a) acknowledges receipt of the Plan incorporated herein, (b) acknowledges that he or she has read this
Agreement and understands the terms and conditions set forth herein, (c) accepts the award of the Restricted Stock Units described in this
Agreement, (d) agrees to be bound by the terms of the Plan and this Agreement, and (e) agrees that all decisions and determinations of the
Committee with respect to the Restricted Stock Units shall be final and binding.

                        Participant

                        _______________________________________

                        Name:

                        Date:
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        Exhibit 10.41.3

DYNEX CAPITAL, INC.
2021 STOCK AND INCENTIVE PLAN

FORM OF
PERFORMANCE UNIT AWARD

This Performance Unit Award Agreement (this “Agreement”) is made as of <<date>> (the “Grant Date”), by Dynex Capital, Inc., a
Virginia corporation (the “Company”), to <<name>>, a Key Employee of the Company (the “Participant”).

RECITALS

WHEREAS, the Dynex Capital, Inc. 2020 Stock and Incentive Plan (the “Plan”) permits the grant of Performance Units that vest based
on attainment of Performance Goals (“Performance Units”) in accordance with the terms and provisions of the Plan;

WHEREAS, the Company desires to grant Performance Units to the Participant, and the Participant desires to accept such Performance
Units, on the terms and conditions set forth herein and in the Plan;

WHEREAS, the Performance Units granted pursuant to this Agreement shall vest based on the attainment of Performance Goals related to
Total Shareholder Return (“TSR”) and Total Economic Return (“TER”) and continued employment; and

WHEREAS, the applicable provisions of the Plan are incorporated into this Agreement by reference, including the definitions of terms
contained in the Plan (unless such terms are otherwise defined herein).

NOW, THEREFORE, the parties hereto, intending to be legally bound hereby, agree as follows:

1. Award of Performance Units. The Company hereby awards to the Participant, <<number>> Performance Units (hereinafter, the “Target
Award”), subject to the vesting and other conditions of this Agreement. Payment of the Performance Units will be based on performance against
the metrics forth in Schedule A (the “Performance Goals”) and, except as otherwise provided herein, continued employment.

2. Vesting.

(a) General Vesting Terms. The Participant shall vest in a number of Performance Units with respect to the Target Award based on the
attainment of the Performance Goals as of the end of the Performance Period (as defined below), provided that, except as set forth in Sections
2(b), 2(c) and 2(d), the Participant remains employed by the Company or a Subsidiary through <<date>> (the “Vesting Date”). The performance
period is the period beginning on <<date>> and ending on <<date>>, unless earlier terminated in accordance with Sections 2(b),



2(c) or 2(d) below (the “Performance Period”). Except as specifically provided below in this Section 2, no Performance Units will vest for any
reason prior to the Vesting Date, and in the event of a termination of the Participant’s employment prior to the Vesting Date, the Participant will
forfeit to the Company all Performance Units that have not yet vested as of the termination date.

(b) Involuntary Termination.

(i) Except as provided in Section 2(d) below, if the Participant incurs an Involuntary Termination prior to the Vesting Date,
then on the date of such Involuntary Termination, the Participant will vest in a number of Performance Units based on attainment of the
Performance Goals through the date of the Involuntary Termination as described in Schedule A. For purposes of calculating performance pursuant
to this Section 2(b), the last day of the Performance Period shall be the date of the Involuntary Termination.

(ii) For purposes of this Agreement, the term “Involuntary Termination” shall mean the Participant’s termination of
employment from the Company and its Subsidiaries on account of a termination by the Company or a Subsidiary without Cause, other than on
account of death or Disability, or the Participant’s termination of employment from the Company and its Subsidiaries on account of a termination
by the Participant for Good Reason, in either case, provided the Participant signs and does not revoke a release and waiver of claims in favor of
the Company and its Affiliates in a form provided by the Company (a “Release”).

(c) Retirement, Death or Disability.

(i) Except as provided in Section 2(d) below, if the Participant incurs a termination of employment on account of Retirement,
death or Disability prior to the Vesting Date, then on the date of such termination of employment, the Participant will vest in a number of
Performance Units based on the attainment of the Performance Goals through the date of such termination of employment as described in
Schedule A, provided that in the event the termination of employment is on account of Retirement or Disability, the Participant signs and does not
revoke a Release. For purposes of calculating performance pursuant to this Section 2(c), the last day of the Performance Period shall be the date of
the termination of employment.

(ii) For purposes of this Agreement, the term “Disability” shall have the meaning ascribed to such term in the Participant’s
employment agreement with the Company.

(iii) For purposes of this Agreement, the term “Retirement” shall mean termination of employment other than for Cause after
attaining age 65 with 10 years of service with the Company.

(d) Change of Control.

(i) If a Change of Control occurs on or before <<date>>, the number of Performance Units that may vest shall be determined
as of the date of the Change of Control based on performance through the date of the Change of Control, and such Performance Units



shall vest if the Participant remains employed through the Vesting Date. For purposes of calculating performance pursuant to this Section 2(d) as
of the date of the Change of Control, the last day of the Performance Period shall be the date immediately prior to the Change of Control.

(ii)  If the Participant’s employment terminates on account of Involuntary Termination within six months prior to a Change of
Control or on account of Involuntary Termination, Retirement, death or Disability upon or within 18 months following a Change of Control, the
Participant will immediately vest in the Performance Units calculated as described in subsection (i) above.

(e) Cause. Notwithstanding anything in this Agreement to the contrary, in the event the Participant’s employment is terminated by the
Company or a Subsidiary for Cause, all outstanding Performance Units (whether vested or unvested) held by the Participant shall immediately
terminate and be of no further force or effect.

(f) Other Termination. Except as provided in Sections 2(b), 2(c) and 2(d), in the event of a termination of employment prior to the
Vesting Date, the Participant will forfeit all unvested Performance Units. No Performance Units will vest after the Participant’s employment with
the Company or a Subsidiary has terminated for any reason.

3. Performance Units Account.

The Company shall establish a bookkeeping account on its records for the Participant and shall credit the Participant’s Performance Units
to the bookkeeping account.

4. Dividend Equivalents.

    Dividend equivalents shall accrue with respect to the Participant’s Performance Units and shall be payable subject to the same vesting terms and
other conditions as the Performance Units to which they relate. Dividend equivalents shall be credited on the Performance Units when dividends
are declared on shares of Stock from the Grant Date until the payment date for the vested Performance Units. The Company will keep records of
dividend equivalents in a non-interest-bearing bookkeeping account for the Participant. No interest will be credited to any such account. Vested
dividend equivalents shall be paid in cash at the same time and subject to the same terms as the underlying vested Performance Units. If and to the
extent that the underlying Performance Units are forfeited, all related dividend equivalents shall also be forfeited.

5. Conversion of Performance Units.

(a) Except as otherwise provided in this Section 5, if the Performance Units vest in accordance with this Agreement, the Participant
shall be entitled to receive payment of the vested Performance Units within 60 days after the Vesting Date.

(b) If the Performance Units vest in accordance with Sections 2(b), 2(c), or 2(d)(ii) (i.e. Involuntary Termination, Retirement,
Disability or death), the vested Performance Units shall be paid within 60 days after the date of the Participant’s termination of employment,

 



subject to the six-month delay described in Section 16 below, if applicable, or, if later, upon the Change of Control, consistent with Section 409A.

(c) On the applicable payment date, each vested Performance Unit credited to the Participant’s account shall be settled in whole shares
of Stock of the Company equal to the number of vested Performance Units, subject to (i) the limitation of subsection (d) below, (ii) compliance
with the six-month delay described in Section 16 below, if applicable, and (iii) the payment of any federal, state and local withholding taxes as
described in Section 12 below. The obligation of the Company to distribute shares of Stock shall be subject to the rights of the Company as set
forth in the Plan and to all applicable laws, rules, regulations, and such approvals by governmental agencies as may be deemed appropriate by the
Committee, including as set forth in Section 14 below.

(d) For the avoidance of doubt, the Participant will forfeit all Performance Units if the Participant’s employment is terminated for
Cause prior to the payment date under this Section 5.

6. Certain Corporate Changes.

In the event of a stock dividend, stock split or combination of shares, spin-off, recapitalization or merger in which the Company is the
surviving corporation, or other change in the Company’s capital stock (including, but not limited to, the creation or issuance to shareholders
generally of rights, options or warrants for the purchase of common stock or preferred stock of the Company), the Committee shall adjust, as
provided in the Plan, the number and class of shares or securities of the Company underlying the Performance Units held by the Participant, the
maximum, target and threshold number of shares of Stock for which the Performance Units may vest, the Performance Goals, and the share price
or class of Stock for purposes of the Performance Goals, in each case, as appropriate to reflect the effect of such event or change in the Company’s
capital structure in such a way as to preserve the value of the Performance Units. Any adjustment that occurs under the terms of this Section 6 or
the Plan will not change the timing or form of payment with respect to any Performance Units except in accordance with Code Section 409A.

7. No Stockholder Rights.

The Participant has no voting rights and no other ownership rights and privileges of a stockholder with respect to the shares of Stock
subject to the Performance Units, except as otherwise provided in Section 4.  

8. Retention Rights.

Neither the award of Performance Units, nor any other action taken with respect to the Performance Units, shall confer upon the
Participant any right to continue in the employ or service of the Company or a Subsidiary or shall interfere in any way with the right of the
Company or a Subsidiary to terminate Participant’s employment or service at any time.



9. Amendment; Modification or Substitution.

This award may be amended, modified or substituted by the Committee, in whole or in part, in accordance with Section 15.1 of the Plan.

10. Notice.

Any notice to the Company provided for in this Agreement shall be addressed to it in care of the Chief Financial Officer of the Company,
4991 Lake Brook Drive, Suite 100, Glen Allen, VA 23060, and any notice to the Participant shall be addressed to such Participant at the current
address shown on the payroll system of the Company or a Subsidiary thereof, or to such other address as the Participant may designate to the
Company in writing. Any notice provided for hereunder shall be delivered by hand, sent by telecopy or electronic mail, or enclosed in a properly
sealed envelope addressed as stated above, registered and deposited, postage and registry fee prepaid in the United States mail, or other mail
delivery service. Notice to the Company shall be deemed effective upon receipt. By receipt of this Agreement, the Participant hereby consents to
the delivery of information (including without limitation, information required to be delivered to the Participant pursuant to the applicable
securities laws) regarding the Company, the Plan, and the Performance Units via the Company’s electronic mail system or other electronic
delivery system.

11. Incorporation of Plan by Reference.

This Agreement is made pursuant to the terms of the Plan, the terms of which are incorporated herein by reference, and shall in all respects
be interpreted in accordance therewith. The decisions of the Committee shall be conclusive upon any question arising hereunder. The Participant’s
receipt of the Performance Units awarded under this Agreement constitutes the Participant’s acknowledgment that all decisions and determinations
of the Committee with respect to the Plan, this Agreement, and/or the Performance Units shall be final and binding on the Participant, his or her
beneficiaries, and any other person having or claiming an interest in such Performance Units. The settlement of any award with respect to
Performance Units is subject to the provisions of the Plan and to interpretations, regulations, and determinations concerning the Plan as
established from time to time by the Committee in accordance with the provisions of the Plan.

12. Income Taxes; Withholding Taxes.

The Participant agrees, as a condition of receiving the Performance Units, to pay to the Company or a Subsidiary, as applicable, or make
arrangement satisfactory to the Company regarding the payment of, all applicable federal, state and local taxes (including the Participant’s FICA
obligation) required by law to be withheld with respect to the Performance Units. The Participant is solely responsible for the satisfaction of all
taxes and penalties that may arise in connection with the Performance Units pursuant to this Agreement. At the time of taxation, the Company
shall have the right to deduct from amounts payable with respect to the Performance Units, including by withholding shares of Stock, an amount
equal to the federal (including FICA), state and local income and payroll taxes and other amounts as may be required by law to



be withheld with respect to the Performance Units. Without limiting the foregoing, upon payment of the Performance Units, the Company shall
withhold shares subject to the vested Performance Units to cover any of the applicable withholding for related FICA tax and income tax liabilities.

13. Governing Law.

The validity, construction, interpretation, and effect of this instrument shall exclusively be governed by, and determined in accordance
with, the applicable laws of the Commonwealth of Virginia, excluding any conflicts or choice of law rule or principle.

14. Award Subject to Applicable Laws and Company Policies.

This Agreement shall be subject to any required approvals by any governmental or regulatory agencies. This award of Performance Units
shall be subject to repayment to (i.e., clawback by) the Company or a related entity as determined in good faith by the Committee or the Board in
the event repayment is required by the terms of the Company’s recoupment, clawback or similar policy as may be in effect from time to time or by
applicable federal or state law or regulation or applicable listing standard of any national securities exchange or system on which the Stock is then
listed or reported, but in no event with a look-back period of more than three years, unless in the opinion of counsel satisfactory to the Participant
required by applicable federal or state law or regulation or applicable listing standard.

15. Assignment.

This Agreement shall bind and inure to the benefit of the successors and assignees of the Company. The Participant may not sell, assign,
transfer, pledge, or otherwise dispose of the Performance Units, except in the event of the Participant’s death.

16. Code Section 409A.

This award of Performance Units is intended to be exempt from or comply with the applicable requirements of Code Section 409A and
shall be administered in accordance with Code Section 409A. Notwithstanding anything in this Agreement to the contrary, if the Performance
Units constitute “deferred compensation” under Code Section 409A and the Performance Units become vested and settled upon the Participant’s
termination of employment, payment with respect to the Performance Units shall be delayed for a period of six months after the Participant’s
termination of employment if the Participant is a “specified employee” as defined under Code Section 409A (as determined by the Committee)
and if required pursuant to Code Section 409A. If payment is delayed, the shares of Stock of the Company and accrued cash dividend equivalents
shall be distributed within 30 days after the date that is the six-month anniversary of the Participant’s termination of employment. If the Participant
dies during the six-month delay, the shares of Stock and accrued cash dividend equivalents shall be distributed in accordance with the Participant’s
will or under the applicable laws of descent and distribution. Notwithstanding any provision to the contrary herein, payments made with respect to
this award of Performance Units may only be made in a manner and upon an event permitted by Code



Section 409A, and all payments to be made upon a termination of employment hereunder may only be made upon a “separation from service” as
defined under Code Section 409A, if required pursuant to Code Section 409A. To the extent that any provision of this Agreement would cause a
conflict with the requirements of Code Section 409A, or would cause the administration of the Performance Units to fail to satisfy the
requirements of Code Section 409A, such provision shall be deemed null and void to the extent permitted by applicable law. In no event shall the
Participant, directly or indirectly, designate the calendar year of payment. If the Performance Units constitute “deferred compensation” under
Code Section 409A and payment is subject to the execution of a Release, and if such payment could be made in more than one taxable year,
payment shall be made in the later taxable year, if required by Code Section 409A.

[Signature Page Follows]



IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Company has caused its duly authorized officer to execute and attest this instrument, and the Participant
has placed his or her signature hereon, effective as of the Grant Date set forth above.

DYNEX CAPITAL, INC.

By:
Name:
Title:

By signing below, the Participant (a) acknowledges receipt of the Plan incorporated herein, (b) acknowledges that he or she has read this
Agreement and understands the terms and conditions set forth herein, (c) accepts the award of the Performance Units described in this Agreement,
(d) agrees to be bound by the terms of the Plan and this Agreement, and (e) agrees that all decisions and determinations of the Committee with
respect to the Performance Units shall be final and binding.

                        Participant

                        _______________________________________
                        Name:
                        Date:



Schedule A

The Performance Units will vest based on the attainment of TSR and TER Performance Goals, as described in this Schedule A.

Relative Performance Goals

1. Relative Performance Goals.

(a) Vesting. Vesting of an aggregate <<percent>>% of the Performance Units will be based on attainment of the following
performance results:

(i)  <<percent>>% of the Target Award of Performance Units will vest based on the Company’s relative TSR for the
Performance Period (“Relative TSR”) as compared to the Peer Group (as defined in Section 2(e) below) (“Relative TSR Tranche”), and

(ii)  <<percent>>% of the Target Award of Performance Units will vest based on the Company’s relative TER as compared to
the TER for the Peer Group for the Performance Period (“Relative TER”) (“Relative TER Tranche”).

(b) Relative TSR. At the end of the Performance Period, the TSR for the Company, and for each company in the Peer Group, shall be
calculated by dividing the Closing Average Share Value (as defined below) by the Opening Average Share Value (as defined below).

(i) The term “Closing Average Share Value” means the average value of the common stock, based on Accumulated Shares (as
defined below), for the 20 trading days ending on the last trading day of the Performance Period (i.e., the 20 trading days ending on and including
the last day of the Performance Period), which shall be calculated as follows: (i) determine the closing price of the common stock on each trading
date during the 20-day period, (ii) multiply each closing price by the Accumulated Shares as of that trading date, and (iii) average the amounts so
determined for the 20-day period.

(ii) The term “Opening Average Share Value” means the average value of the common stock, based on Accumulated Shares,
for the 20 trading days ending on the day immediately preceding the first day of the Performance Period (i.e., the 20 trading days ending on and
including <<date>>), which shall be calculated as follows: (i) determine the closing price of the common stock on each trading day during the 20-
day period, (ii) multiply each closing price by the Accumulated Shares as of that trading date, and (iii) average the amounts so determined for the
20-day period. The Company’s Opening Average Share Value is $<<price>>.

(iii) The term “Accumulated Shares” means, for a given trading day, the sum of (i) one share and (ii) a cumulative number of
shares of the company’s common stock deemed purchased with dividends declared on a company’s common stock during the period described
below, assuming same-day reinvestment of the dividends in the common stock of a company at the closing price on the ex-dividend date. The
calculations under this Schedule A shall include

    



ex-dividend dates during the period beginning <<date>> and ending on the applicable trading day.

(iv)  If the TSR calculation is made as of the date of a Change of Control pursuant to Section 2(d) of the Agreement, the price
per share of Stock for purposes of the Change of Control, as determined by the Committee, shall be used instead of the 20-day average for
purposes of calculating the Closing Average Share Value for the Company’s TSR.

(c) Relative TER. At the end of the Performance Period, the TER for the Company, and for each company in the Peer Group, is
calculated as (A) (i) the company’s Book Value per share of stock at the end of the Performance Period, plus (ii) the cumulative dividends declared
by the company during the Performance Period, divided by (B) the Book Value per share of stock on the day immediately preceding the first day
of the Performance Period (<<date>>). If the Performance Period ends on the Participant’s termination of employment or a Change of Control
occurring prior to the Vesting Date, as described in Section 2 of the Agreement, then TER performance will be determined as of the end of the
calendar quarter ending on or immediately preceding such termination of employment or Change of Control, as applicable.

(d) “Book Value” per share of Stock is defined as the total common stockholders' equity, divided by the number of common shares of
the company as of the applicable date  and shall be derived from the company’s financial statements, prepared in accordance with GAAP. For
avoidance of doubt, Book Value per common share will be calculated using the liquidation preference of any preferred stock outstanding as of the
date of the computation. The Book Value per share of Stock on <<date>> was $<<price>>.

2. Relative TSR and TER Vesting Percentage.

(a) Subject to Section 3 below, the number of Performance Units that will vest for the Performance Period with respect to the Relative
TSR Tranche shall be determined by multiplying <<percent>>% of the Target Award by the Relative TSR Vesting Percentage, as determined under
this Section 2.

(b) Subject to Section 3 below, the number of Performance Units that will vest for the Performance Period with respect to the Relative
TER Tranche shall be determined by multiplying <<percent>>% of the Target Award by the Relative TER Vesting Percentage, as determined
under this Section 2.

(c) The Relative TSR Vesting Percentage and the Relative TER Vesting Percentage will be determined based on the Company’s TSR
and TER for the Performance Period as compared to the TSR and TER of the companies in the Peer Group for the Performance Period, as follows:

,



Performance Level* Relative TSR Relative TSR Vesting Percentage

Maximum <<rank>> Percentile or above <<percent>>%
Target <<rank>> Percentile <<percent>>%

Threshold <<rank>> Percentile <<percent>>%
Below Threshold Below <<rank>> Percentile <<percent>>%

Performance Level* Relative TER Relative TER Vesting Percentage

Maximum <<rank>> Percentile or above <<percent>>%
Target <<rank>> Percentile <<percent>>%

Threshold <<rank>> Percentile <<percent>>%
Below Threshold Below <<rank>> Percentile <<percent>>%

* If the Company’s TSR rank or TER rank, as applicable, falls between the threshold and maximum measuring points, the Company’s TSR or the
TER rank, as applicable, will be rounded to the nearest whole percentage point.

(d) The companies in the Peer Group will be determined on the first day of the Performance Period for purposes of the Relative TSR
and Relative TER calculations and will be changed only in accordance with Section 2(e) below. No company shall be added to the Peer Group
during the Performance Period for purposes of the Relative TSR or Relative TER calculation.

(e) The term “Peer Group” means the companies listed on Exhibit A and will be subject to change as follows:

(i) In the event of a merger, acquisition or business combination transaction of a company in the Peer Group in which the
company in the Peer Group is the surviving entity and remains publicly traded, the surviving entity shall remain a company in the Peer Group.
Any entity involved in the transaction that is not the surviving company shall no longer be a company in the Peer Group.

(ii) In the event of a merger, acquisition or business combination transaction of a company in the Peer Group, a “going private”
transaction or other event involving a company in the Peer Group or the liquidation of a company in the Peer Group, in each case where the
company in the Peer Group is not the surviving entity or is no longer publicly traded, the company shall no longer be a company in the Peer
Group.



(iii) Notwithstanding the foregoing, in the event of a bankruptcy of a company in the Peer Group where the company in the Peer
Group is not publicly traded at the end of the Performance Period, such company shall remain a company in the Peer Group but shall be deemed to
have a TSR of negative 100% (-100%).

3. Vesting Cap Based on Company Absolute TSR and Company Absolute TER Performance.

(a)  After the Relative TSR Vesting Percentage and the Relative TER Vesting Percentage are determined, as described in Section 2
above, the Company Absolute TSR and the Company Absolute TER, respectively, for the Performance Period will be evaluated to determine the
actual number of Performance Units that vest based on Relative TSR and Relative TER performance (the “Final Payout Percentage”).

(b) If the Company Absolute TSR Performance is negative, the Final Payout Percentage with respect to the Relative TSR Tranche will
not exceed <<percent>>% of the Target Award, even if the Relative TSR Vesting Percentage determined under Section 2 above is greater than
target. If the Company Absolute TSR is zero or positive, the Final Payout Percentage for the Relative TSR Tranche will be the Relative TSR
Vesting Percentage determined under Section 2 above.

(c) If the Company Absolute TER Performance is negative, the Final Payout Percentage with respect to the Relative TER Tranche will
not exceed <<percent>>% of the Target Award, even if the Relative TER Vesting Percentage determined under Section 2 above is greater than
target. If the Company Absolute TER is zero or positive, the Final Payout Percentage for the Relative TSR Tranche will be the Relative TER
Vesting Percentage determined under Section 2 above.

Absolute Performance Goals

4. Vesting of <<percent>>% of the Target Award of Performance Units will be based on the Company’s Absolute TER Performance over the
Performance Period, as compared to the following reference points:

Performance Level* TER Performance TER Performance as a Percentage
Increase

Absolute TER Vesting
Percentage

Maximum $<<price>> <<percent>>% <<percent>>%
Target $<<price>> <<percent>>% <<percent>>%

Threshold $<<price>> <<percent>>% <<percent>>%
Below Threshold <<percent>>% <<percent>>%

* If the Company’s TER performance falls between the threshold and maximum measuring points, the Company’s Absolute TER Performance
will be rounded to the nearest whole percentage point.



(a) “Absolute TER Performance” is calculated by (A) (i) the Company’s Book Value per share of Stock at the end of the
Performance Period, plus (ii) the cumulative dividends declared by the Company during the Performance Period, divided by (B) the Book Value
per share of Stock on the day immediately preceding the first day of the Performance Period (i.e., <<date>>) (which is $<<price>>). If the
Performance Period ends on the Participant’s termination of employment or a Change of Control occurring prior to the Vesting Date, as described
in Section 2 of the Agreement, then TER performance will be determined as of the end of the calendar quarter ending on or immediately preceding
such termination of employment or Change of Control, as applicable, and the Committee shall prorate the absolute TER performance goal through
the date as of which TER performance is determined, as the Committee deems appropriate.

(b) “Book Value” per share of Stock is defined as the total common stockholders' equity, divided by the number of common shares of
the Company as of the applicable date and shall be derived from the Company’s financial statements, prepared in accordance with GAAP. For
avoidance of doubt, Book Value per common share will be calculated using the liquidation preference of any preferred stock outstanding as of the
date of the computation. The Book Value per share of Stock on <<date>> was $<<price>>.

General Vesting Terms

1. The actual number of Performance Units that vest will be based on the actual performance level achieved with respect to each Performance
Goal. If the actual performance level achieved for any Performance Goal does not meet threshold performance for the applicable Performance
Goal, then no Performance Units will be earned and vested for that Performance Goal pursuant to this Award. Threshold level performance may be
achieved for one Performance Goal and not another based on the Company’s actual performance during the Performance Period. The actual
number of Performance Units that vest will be determined by the Committee based on the actual performance level achieved with respect to each
Performance Goal during the Performance Period, factoring in the weighting for each Performance Goal. The maximum number of Performance
Units that may become earned and vested pursuant to this Award is capped at <<percent>>% of the Target Award.

2. Provided that threshold level performance is achieved, if actual performance is between threshold and maximum performance, the number
of Performance Units that will vest with respect to the Performance Goal, if any, will be interpolated on a straight line basis for pro-rata
achievement for performance between threshold and maximum.

3. Any fractional Performance Unit resulting from the vesting of the Performance Units in accordance with this Agreement shall be rounded
down to the nearest whole number. Any portion of the Performance Units that does not vest as of the end of the Performance Period shall be
forfeited as of the end of the Performance Period.
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Exhibit 31.1

CERTIFICATIONS

I, Byron L. Boston, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Dynex Capital, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light
of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition,
results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant's other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-
15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material
information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in
which this report is being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide
reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the
disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's most recent fiscal quarter (the
registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant's internal
control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant's other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant's auditors and
the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely
affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's internal control over financial
reporting.

Date:   August 2, 2021  
  /s/ Byron L. Boston
  Byron L. Boston
  Principal Executive Officer



Exhibit 31.2

CERTIFICATIONS

I, Stephen J. Benedetti, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Dynex Capital, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light
of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition,
results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant's other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-
15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material
information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in
which this report is being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide
reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the
disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's most recent fiscal quarter (the
registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant's internal
control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant's other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant's auditors and
the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely
affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's internal control over financial
reporting.

Date:   August 2, 2021  
  /s/ Stephen J. Benedetti
  Stephen J. Benedetti
  Principal Financial Officer



Exhibit 32.1

CERTIFICATION OF PRINCIPAL EXECUTIVE OFFICER AND PRINCIPAL FINANCIAL OFFICER
PURSUANT TO SECTION 906

In connection with the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Dynex Capital, Inc. (the “Company”) for the three months ended June 30, 2021, as filed with the Securities and
Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), the undersigned, as the Principal Executive Officer of the Company and the Principal Financial Officer of the
Company, respectively, certify, pursuant to and for purposes of 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that to their
knowledge:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

Date:   August 2, 2021 /s/ Byron L. Boston
  Byron L. Boston
  Principal Executive Officer
   
   

Date:   August 2, 2021 /s/ Stephen J. Benedetti
  Stephen J. Benedetti
  Principal Financial Officer


